
1 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 
**6:30 P.M. WORK SESSION 

7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

5:30 P.M. – EXECUTIVE SESSION: pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
121.22 (G) (3) pending or imminent court action, Section 121.22 (G) (1) 
personnel, Section 121.22 (G) (5) matters required to be kept confidential by 
State statute, Section 121.22 (G) (2) acquisition of property for public purpose 
and 121.22(G) (8) consideration of confidential information related to a request 
for economic development assistance. 

 
6:30 P.M. – WORK SESSION and PRESENTATION 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. PRESENTATION by Marianne Gabel with Citizens’ Climate Lobby – 

Delaware, OH Chapter 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING May 14, 2018 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. INVOCATION – Chaplain Dan Mauer, Delaware Police Chaplain 
 
3.     PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the regular meeting of Council 

held on April 23, 2018, as recorded and transcribed. 
  
5. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Airport Commission 
meeting held on July 20, 2017, as recorded and transcribed.  

B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Shade Tree Commission 
meeting held on February 27, 2018, as recorded and transcribed. 

C. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Finance Committee 



2 
 

meeting held on February 28, 2018, as recorded and transcribed.  
D. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Civil Service 

Commission meeting held on April 4, 2018, as recorded and 
transcribed.   

E. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Planning Commission 
meeting held on April 4, 2018, as recorded and transcribed.  

F. Resolution No. 18-25, a resolution appointing members to various 
Boards, Commissions, and/or Committees, and specifying the 
term of the appointments.  

G. Resolution No. 18-26, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
file an application with the Ohio Development Services Agency, 
Office of Community Development, for the Biennial Program Year 
2018 CDBG Community Development Allocation Program and 
supplemented by local CDBG ED-RLF Program Income.   

H. Resolution No. 18-27, a resolution designating the Planning 
Director as the Municipal Representative to the Delaware County 
Land Reutilization Corporation Board of Directors.  

I. Establish June 25, 2018 at 7:30 p.m. as a date and time for a 
public hearing and third reading of Resolution No. 18-29, a 
resolution authorizing the City Manager to enter into a Joint 
Economic Development District (JEDD) contract with Berkshire 
Township. 

J. Establish June 11, 2018 at 7:20 p.m. as a date and time for a 
public hearing and second reading for Ordinance No. 18-43, an 
ordinance for AEP for approval of a Conditional Use Permit request 
for a new service center building on approximately 50 acres located 
on the south side of Slack Road and just west of the railroad tracks 
on property zoned A-1 (Agricultural District). 

K. Establish May 21, 2018 at 7:00 p.m. as a date and time for a 
public hearing and fifth reading for Ordinance No. 18-21 
(REVISED), an ordinance for Medrock, LLC for approval of a 
(REVISED) Zoning Text Amendment to the existing Willowbrook 
Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text (Planned Unit Development) 
to allow a modification to the maximum dwelling units and density 
to Multi-Family Areas 3 and 4 to allow additional dwelling units in 
Area 3 and removing units in Area 4 thereby decreasing the overall 
units currently allowed in total located on the east side of Houk 
Road on approximately 38 acres on property zoned R-6 Multi-
Family Residential District with a PUD (Planned Unit Development) 
Overlay.  

 
6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
  
7. COMMITTEE REPORTS  



3 
 

 
8. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Proclamation and Recognition of National Police Week and Peace 
Officers’ Memorial Day – May 13-19, 2018 

B. Proclamation and Recognition of Emergency Medical Services Week 
– May 20-26, 2018 

 
9. CONSIDERATION OF NEW LIQUOR PERMIT 

A. Ohio Wesleyan University DBA Selby Stadium, 45 S. Henry Street, 
Delaware, Ohio 43015.  Permit Class:  D1 

 
10. SECOND READING of Ordinance No. 18-37, an ordinance accepting the 

annexation of 89.618 ± acres of land more or less, description and map 
are attached hereto as exhibits “A” and “B” for the annexation known as 
the Wilgus Annexation by Andrew P. Wecker, agent for the petitioners. 

 
11. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 18-28, a resolution indicating what 

services the City of Delaware will provide to 2.091 ± acres of land, more 
or less, description and map are attached hereto as Exhibits “A” and “B” 
for the annexation known as the Joshua Morgan Annexation by Andrew 
P. Wecker, agent for the petitioners.  

 
12. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 18-29, a resolution authorizing the 

City Manager to enter into a Joint Economic Development District 
(JEDD) contract with Berkshire Township.  

 
13. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-38, an ordinance approving a 

Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant Agreement with Guild 
Associates for electrical upgrades to a building at 105 Innovation Ct. and 
declaring an emergency.  

 
14. CONSIDERATION OF Ordinance No. 18-39, an ordinance amending the 

2018 Appropriations Ordinance to provide funding for a Performance 
Based Economic Incentive Grant to Guild Associates, Inc. to assist in 
upgrading electrical infrastructure that will allow the company to occupy 
a portion of the Symmetry II building at 105 Innovation Court and 
declaring an emergency.  

 
15. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-40, an ordinance approving a 

Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and School Compensation 
Agreement with American Electric Power, Olentangy Local Schools, 
Delaware Area Career Center and the City of Delaware for investment in 
real property improvements on a new build on Slack Road, and declaring 
an emergency.  



4 
 

 
16. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-41, an ordinance approving a 

Community Reinvestment Area Agreement and School Compensation 
Agreement with Engineered Materials Systems, Delaware City Schools 
and Delaware Area Career Center for investment in real property 
improvements on their building and parcel at 101 Innovation Court and 
declaring an emergency.   

 
17. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-42, an ordinance supplementing 

the 2018 Appropriations Ordinance to reallocate appropriations from the 
Municipal Court Administration Budget to a New Mission Court Budget 
within the Municipal Court Fund, and declaring an emergency.  

 
18. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-43, an ordinance for AEP for 

approval of a Conditional Use Permit request for a new service center 
building on approximately 50 acres located on the south side of Slack 
Road and just west of the railroad tracks on property zoned A-1 
(Agricultural District). 

 
19. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-44, an ordinance for AEP for 

approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for a 
new service center building on approximately 50 acres located on the 
south side of Slack Road and just west of the railroad tracks on property 
zoned A-1 (Agricultural District).  

 
20. FOURTH READING of Ordinance No. 18-21 (REVISED) , an ordinance for 

Medrock, LLC for approval of a (REVISED) Zoning Text Amendment to 
the existing Willowbrook Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text (Planned 
Unit Development) to allow a modification to the maximum dwelling 
units and density to Multi-Family Areas 3 and 4 to allow additional 
dwelling units in Area 3 and removing units in Area 4 thereby decreasing 
the overall units currently allowed in total located on the east side of 
Houk Road on approximately 38 acres on property zoned R-6 Multi-
Family Residential District with a PUD (Planned Unit Development) 
Overlay.  

 
21. FOURTH READING of Ordinance No. 18 – 22 (REVISED), an ordinance 

for Medrock, LLC for approval of a (REVISED) Combined Preliminary and 
Final Development Plan to Multi-Family Area 3 (Flats on Houk) of the 
existing Willowbrook Farm Tract for a 180 unit apartment complex on 
approximately 15.506 acres located on the Northeast corner of Houk 
Road and DiGenova Way on property zoned R-6 PUD (Multi-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Unit Development Overlay).  

 



5 
 

22. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
23. COUNCIL COMMENTS  
 
24. ADJOURNMENT 



 

CITY OF DELAWARE RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, The Delaware City Council recognizes that the health and well-being of the citizens 
of Delaware are dependent upon the quality of our air, water and natural resources; and 

WHEREAS, much of the State of Ohio’s economy, including agriculture, industry, commerce, 
fishing, forests and tourism are dependent upon a stable climate; and  

WHEREAS, the scientists at Ohio Wesleyan University as well as The Ohio State University and 
its Byrd Polar and Climate Research Center agree with the consensus of climate researchers 
worldwide that the climate is rapidly changing, and that the changes are associated with 
increased concentrations in the atmosphere of carbon dioxide (CO2) and other greenhouse gas 
pollutants derived principally from burning fossil fuels such as coal, oil and natural gas; and  

WHEREAS, further reductions of CO2 emissions are warranted in order to stay below the 2o C 
temperature rise that is acknowledged in global climate agreements to be a threshold 
dangerous to the habitability of the earth, and putting a price on carbon fuels (a “carbon fee”) 
is widely accepted by economists as being the most effective means to achieve this goal; and  

WHEREAS, former Representative Pat Tiberi (OH-12) was a member of the bipartisan “Climate 
Solutions Caucus” in the U.S. House of Representatives which now has 70 members, (35 
Republicans, 35 Democrats), working on solutions to climate change, and  

WHEREAS, a Carbon Fee and Dividend system with a fee on carbon being levied at the 
extraction point of fossil fuels, or the port of entry into the U.S., with all monies returned to 
households as a “dividend”, would leverage market forces to encourage investments in energy 
efficiency and alternate sources of energy by both industry and consumers; 

WHEREAS, such a Carbon fee and Dividend would be market-based, transparent, non-
regulatory, predictable for business and fair to consumers, 

THEREFORE: 

Be it resolved by the Delaware City Council that the City of Delaware, Ohio, supports the 
implementation of a revenue-neutral carbon fee and dividend system, with all monies from 
carbon fees being returned to households as a carbon dividend.  

Be it further resolved by the Delaware City Council that the City of Delaware strongly 
encourages the U.S. Congress to enact a revenue-neutral carbon fee and dividend system with 
the speed appropriate to the gravity and urgency of the situation, and in recognition of the 
benefits realized in transitioning to clean energy.  

Be it further resolved by the Delaware City Council that the City of Delaware shall work toward 
policies and technological innovation that will reduce the City’s carbon emissions. 

 



Thank you for welcoming us!

http://www.delawareohio.net/
http://www.delawareohio.net/




3



United States, Canada, Australia, India, Germany,
Sweden, Panama, etc.

1 International

We build relationships with everyone, even those
who oppose us.

Nonpartisan

Volunteer driven organization with 501c(3) and
501c(4) status.

Nonprofit

We are for a solution: Carbon Fee and Dividend.
Solution focus

We treat everyone, even those who oppose us, with
respect, appreciation and gratitude.

Respect, appreciation and gratitude

2
3

4
5

About Us



Mission

To create the political will 
for climate solutions by 
enabling individual 
breakthroughs in personal 
and political power.



The Earth is warming because of carbon emissions 



A climate scientist who is 
convinced based on the 
evidence.

A climate scientist who is not 
convinced. 

Based on the evidence, 97% of climate 
scientists are convinced

Climate scientist agree



TEXAS
Heat, drought, increased fires, hurricanes, sea-level 
rise, floods,  and lost labor productivity 

CALIFORNIA
Severe drought, reduced snowpack and water issues

MONTANA
Reduced snowpack, glacier retreat, forest fires, and 
pine beetle infestation. 

FLORIDA
Sea-level rise, localized flooding, hurricanes, 
and extreme heat 

TEXAS MONTANA FLORIDA CALIFORNIA

Risks differ throughout  the U.S.

United States Risks



Health: air quality, vectors, diseases

Increases in agricultural pests, 
plant diseases, lowered yields

Local impacts of climate change OHIO

State impacts

More frequent storms, flooding



How do we solve the problem?

Price carbon to reflect its true external costs



What is CCL’s solution?



The best first step

Place a fee on fossil fuels at the source (mine, 
well or port). 

Return all of the revenue to households equally.

A border adjustment on goods imported 
from or exported to countries without 
an equivalent price on carbon. 

2

1

3

Carbon Fee and Dividend



What will Carbon Fee and Dividend do?



Incomes

Emissions

Economy (jobs and GDP)

Health

National and regional study from REMI

Under Carbon Fee and Dividend 

Carbon Fee and Dividend



31%

50%

*Below 1990 levels

Within 10 years*

Within 20 years*

Under Carbon Fee and Dividend 

Emissions reductions



2.1M New Jobs 10 years

2.8M New Jobs 20 years

Under Carbon Fee and Dividend 

Jobs created



$70 - $85B/year Average

$1.375 T  20 years

Under Carbon Fee and Dividend 

GDP Growth



227,000 lives Over 20 years

Under Carbon Fee and Dividend 

Lives Saved



$288/month* 10 years

$396/month* 20 years

*For a family of four

Under Carbon Fee and Dividend 

Household Dividend



20Advantages of Carbon Fee and Dividend

• Creates powerful market-based incentive for clean energy development

• Technology-neutral: the market picks the winners

• Transparent and predictable for business

• Does not grow the government

• Dividends will largely offset higher prices for families during transition to 
cleaner energy 

• Reduces carbon emissions dramatically



You can help create the 
political will for change by 
approving this resolution



Vision

A livable world















































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM F DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-25 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  --- 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION APPOINTING MEMBERS TO VARIOUS BOARDS, 
COMMISSIONS, AND/OR COMMITTEES, AND SPECIFYING THE TERM OF THE 
APPOINTMENTS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
  
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Carolyn Kay Riggle, Mayor 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-25 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING MEMBERS TO VARIOUS 
BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND/OR COMMITTEES, AND 
SPECIFYING THE TERM OF THE APPOINTMENTS. 

 
WHEREAS, Members are to be appointed to serve on various Committees, 

Commissions and Boards by the Mayor of the City of Delaware and confirmed by 
Council; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor has appointed and Council has confirmed the 
following appointments. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware that: 
 

SECTION 1.  The following appointments are hereby made: 
 
1. Shade Tree Commission – Stan Eddy-New Appointment (filling 

unexpired City term expiring June 30, 2020) 
 

SECTION 2.  This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its passage. 
 
 
PASSED:                                    , 2018  YEAS        NAYS ____ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________________ ____________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM G DATE:  05/14/2018    
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO:  18-26 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning & Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO FILE AN 
APPLICATION WITH THE OHIO DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGENCY, OFFICE 
OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, FOR THE BIENNIAL PROGRAM YEAR 2018 
CDBG COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ALLOCATION PROGRAM AND 
SUPPLEMENTED BY LOCAL CDBG ED-RLF PROGRAM INCOME. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Ohio Development Services Agency (ODSA) allocated $150,000 to the City 
of Delaware for the biennial PY2018 Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) Allocation Program. The City is eligible to file an application for funding 
with ODSA, which is due June 15, 2018.  
 
The City is required to hold two public meetings as part of the grant application 
process. The first meeting was held on April 9, 2018 and the second meeting 
was held on April 30, 2018. This resolution allows the City Manager to file an 
application with the State for the PY18 CDBG Community Development 
Allocation Program for the following activities, with the City of Delaware 
leveraging a portion of activity costs with an allocation of ED-RLF funds as 
required by the State of Ohio:   
 
Activity 1: Street Improvements in LMI Areas          $120,000 
Activity 2: Fair Housing and Administration              $30,000_  
TOTAL                                                                $150,000 



Engineering and Public Works have identified and prioritized eligible needed 
street improvements within qualifying grant program areas. Eligible 
communities for CDBG Community Development funds are required by the 
State to use 2010 Census poverty levels. The final number of streets identified 
for improvements slightly exceeds the estimated amount of funding available to 
help ensure that, once bidding is conducted, that there are a sufficient number 
of streets to fully utilize grant dollars available. Street locations may be 
modified even after application to the State should other priorities be identified 
after the initial filing of the required application. Staff from multiple 
departments work together to continually develop and update a 5-year capital 
improvement list of streets qualifying for grant funding, which is also required 
by the State, to facilitate longer range capital improvement programming.   
 
The streets selected for improvement using the PY18 CDBG funds are 
Pumphrey Terrace, English Terrace, and Birch Bend as the Primary Project, 
with Wade Street as an Alternate/Supplemental Project. The proposed projects 
continue street repaving efforts concentrated in and positively impacting lower 
income neighborhoods.  
   
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The State of Ohio requires each community applying for funds through this 
program to authorize the City Manager to execute all required documents 
needed to submit the grant application via a Resolution. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The CDBG Community Development Grant is an outright grant to eligible 
communities. The State expects that any project cost exceeding the grant 
funding amount is to be funded by local CDBG ED-RLF Program Income or 
local city public improvement funds. Construction occur in the Summer of 
2019 according to the grant timetable, and appropriations will be put in place 
for ED-RLF program income and/or city public improvement funds to 
accommodate the projects as needed.  
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning & Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval of the resolution. The Grant Application timetable 
necessitates passage to accommodate the State's CDBG grant application 
timeline and procedures. 



ATTACHMENT(S) 
Proposed Street Improvement Maps:  
Pumphrey Terrace, English Terrace, and Birch Bend 
Wade Street 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-26 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO FILE AN APPLICATION WITH THE 
OHIO DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGENCY, 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, FOR 
THE BIENNIAL PROGRAM YEAR 2018 CDBG 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ALLOCATION 
PROGRAM AND SUPPLEMENTED BY LOCAL 
CDBG ED-RLF PROGRAM INCOME. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Ohio Development Services Agency (ODSA) 
allocated $150,000 to the City of Delaware for the biennial Program Year 
(PY) 2018 Ohio Small Cities Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) Community Development Allocation Program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the CDBG Community Development Allocation 
Program provides communities with a flexible housing and community 
development resource that can be used to address locally identified 
needs that are eligible CDBG activities and qualify under the national 
objective of low-and-moderate income benefit or the elimination of slum 
and blight conditions; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware held the required public meeting 
for general CDBG Program funding on April 9, 2018, and held the 
required program specific public meeting for CDBG Community 
Development Allocation Program funding on April 30, 2018. The 
meetings indicated a significant need and interest in utilizing CDBG 
funds, supplemented by local CDBG ED-RLF program income as 
required by ODSA, to assist the community with necessary and useful 
activities which are responsive to the State and national program 
objectives and qualification criteria. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City 
of Delaware, Delaware County, State of Ohio as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the City Manager is hereby authorized to file an 
application for the biennial PY2018 Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) Community Development Allocation Program, 
supplemented by local CDBG ED-RLF program income as required by 
ODSA as needed, and as follows: 
 
 Activity 1: Street Improvements in LMI Areas          $120,000 
 Activity 2: Fair Housing and Administration  $30,000 
       TOTAL:  $150,000 



SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after passage. 
 
 
PASSED:                                    , 2018  YEAS        NAYS ____ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST:________________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



BELLE AVE

S 
SA

ND
US

KY
 S

T

CO
LU

MB
US

 P
IK

E

MA
GN

OL
IA

 D
R

ST
RA

TF
OR

D 
RDWOODROW AVE

BELLEVIEW CT

OLENTANGY AVE

S 
HE

NR
Y 

ST

POPLAR BND

MIDDLE AVE

PICKAWAY ST

CU
TT

ER
 A

VE

CO
LU

MB
US

 P
IK

E

CDBG Program - Street Improvements Location Map
Pumphrey Terrace, English Terrace, Birch Bend 

CT105.30 BG2 - 66.17% LMI I

BIRCH BND

ENGLISH TER

PUMPHREY TER



E WILLIAM ST

FAIR AVE

E CENTRAL AVE

RHEEM ST

OAK ST

E WINTER ST

CH
ES

HI
RE

 S
T

RENNER ST

PO
TT

ER
 S

T

KU
RR

LE
Y 

ST

EA
ST

 P
OI

NT
 X

IN
G

AN
N 

ST

EA
ST

 S
T

MO
OR

E 
ST

PA
RK

ER
 S

T

RI
CH

AR
DS

ON
 S

T

W
AD

E 
ST

FLINTWOOD DR

CH
AN

NI
NG

 S
T

DE
ER

FI
EL

D 
PL

HA
MM

ON
D 

ST

CALM ST

FO
LE

Y 
ST

BANK ST

PO
TT

ER
 ST

CH
AN

NI
NG

 S
T

CDBG Program - Street Improvements Location Map
Wade Street - CT102, BG2 - 58.66% LMI I

Wa
de

 St



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM H DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-27 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  --- 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE PLANNING DIRECTOR AS THE MUNICIPAL 
REPRESENTATIVE TO THE DELAWARE COUNTY LAND REUTILIZATION 
CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
A Land Reutilization Corporation is a type of community improvement 
corporation created for the following purposes under ORC 1724.01: 

(a) Facilitating the reclamation, rehabilitation, and reutilization of vacant, 
abandoned, tax-foreclosed, or other real property within the county. 

(b) Efficiently holding and managing vacant, abandoned, or tax-foreclosed real 
property pending its reclamation, rehabilitation, and reutilization;  

(c) Assisting governmental entities and other nonprofit or for-profit persons to 
assemble, clear, and clear the title of property described in this division in a 
coordinated manner; or  

(d) Promoting economic and housing development in the county or region. 

The County Commissioners established the Delaware County Land Reutilization 
Corporation at the request of the county treasurer office.  This action is reflected  
in Resolution No. 17-1364 (December 28, 2017).  As a result, the County 



Treasurer, Jon Peterson, has requested that the City select a representative to 
the board of directors.    

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Legislation is needed to designate the City’s representative on board of directors.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
None 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-27 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
DESIGNATE THE PLANNING DIRECTOR AS THE 
MUNICIPAL REPRESENTATIVE TO THE DELAWARE 
COUNTY LAND REUTILIZATION CORPORATION BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS.   

 
WHEREAS, under the ORC Section 1724.03 the Board of Directors of a 

County Land Reutilization Corporation includes one representative of the largest 
municipal corporation in the county; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware is the largest municipal corporation based 
on population in Delaware County. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware that: 
 

SECTION 1.  The Planning Director is hereby designated a representative as 
the municipal corporation representative to the Delaware County Land 
Reutilization Corporation Board of Directors.  

 
SECTION 2.  This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its passage. 

 
 
PASSED:                                    , 2018  YEAS        NAYS ____ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________________ ____________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 











  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  10    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-37    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 89.618± ACRES OF LAND 
MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE WILGUS 
ANNEXATION BY ANDREW P. WECKER,  AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The property proposed to be annexed has long been contemplated to be part of 
the City of Delaware.  The land owners and their agents have been moving 
forward with the Ohio Revised Code (ORC) dictated annexation process.  This 
process involves several steps and actions by the County and City in order for 
an annexation to ultimately be accepted by the City.  The City took the first city 
step in the process which required determination of services the City could 
provide – the Resolution of Services passed January 22, 2018 via Resolution 
18-08.  The legislation before City Council currently is the final acceptance of 
annexation which would bring the property into the City jurisdiction.  City 
Council must decide to accept, accept with conditions, or deny the annexation.  
If no action is taken by the ORC dictated time frame ending on June 11, 2018 
ORC dictates that the annexation will be denied.  The applicant wishes to begin 
the rezoning process prior to final action by City Council and thus multiple 
readings of this legislation are anticipated with passage anticipated prior to the 
ORC required date of June 11, 2018.   
 



The property is approximately 89.6 acres in size, is composed of two pre-
existing lots of record, and is located south of the Delaware Municipal Airport 
and west of the Innovation Court Development along future Sawmill Parkway. 
Attached is a memo documenting the responses from various Departments in 
the city with respect to the Resolution of Services as well as potential items and 
issues to consider during the deliberations for this final acceptance of the 
annexation. 
 
In accordance with this memo, Staff recommends several conditions of 
annexation approval which are contained within the proposed ordinance.  
These conditions are for the purpose of clearly articulating some of the physical 
and infrastructure constraints that exist for the property today, while allowing 
for the possibility of a future development agreement. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The Ohio Revised Code provides the process that annexations must follow 
throughout Ohio.  This legislation is the final City step in the process to 
formally accept the annexation of the property.  The City has until June 11, 
2018 to pass this acceptance of annexation Ordinance or it is considered by 
ORC to be failed.  The applicant wishes to begin the rezoning process prior to 
final action by City Council and thus multiple readings of this legislation are 
anticipated with passage anticipated prior to the ORC required date of June 11, 
2018. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval on Third Reading  
  
ATTACHMENT(S) 
County Resolution 18-115 
Petition 
Map 
City Resolution 18-08 with attachments 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-37 
 

AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 
89.618± ACRES OF LAND MORE OR LESS, 
DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN 
AS THE WILGUS ANNEXATION BY ANDREW P. 
WECKER,  AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed annexation applied for in the petition to the 

Delaware County Commissioners has been approved, by them for annexation to 
the City of Delaware on February 5, 2018 (See attached)  The territory to be 
annexed is described in the attached Exhibits “A” and “B”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the certified transcript of the proceedings for annexation, with 
an accurate map of the territory, together with the petition of annexation and 
other papers relating to the proceedings of the County Commissioners, are on file 
with the Clerk of Council, and have been for more than sixty days. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Council hereby accepts the annexation of 89.618 acres of 
land, description and plat of which are hereby attached as Exhibits “A” and “B” on 
the annexation known as the Wilgus Annexation by Andrew P. Wecker, agent for 
the petitioners with the following conditions that: 

1. The Applicant will support the City should the City seek to annex City 
property adjacent to the Wilgus Annexation that includes approximately 
9.906 acres on parcel #419-220-02-007-001. 

2. Access to the Wilgus Annexation property shall be from Sawmill Parkway 
and at locations and access points as required by the City. 

3. Access to the property shall require the extension of Sawmill Parkway by 
the applicant or developer of the property in the absence of a 
development agreement and dedication at no cost to the City of required 
right-of-way by the Wilgus Annexation property as may be required by 
the City. 

4. Airport Road is anticipated to be abandoned and shall not be relied upon 
by the Wilgus Annexation property as public access as required by the 
City. 

5. The Wilgus Annexation property is anticipated to require significant 
storm sewer, sanitary sewer, and water line improvements a portion of 
which may be outside of the City jurisdiction.  The Applicant shall be 
required in the absence of a development agreement to obtain and pay 



for any and all necessary easements, permits, and construction activities 
that may be required in this regard. 

6. Notwithstanding the above conditions, the City and 
applicant/owner/developer now or in the future may separately agree to 
enter into a specific development agreement stipulating any 
infrastructure development items or incentives for such that may be 
approved by both parties. 

 
SECTION 2.  That the Clerk of Council is directed to make five copies of this 

ordinance, to each of which shall be attached a copy of the map accompanying the 
petition for annexation, a copy of the transcript of proceedings of the Board of 
County Commissioners relating thereto, and a certificate as to the correctness 
thereof. The Clerk shall then forthwith deliver one copy to the Secretary of State, 
and shall file notice of annexation with the Board of Elections, the County Auditor, 
the County Recorder, and the County Engineer within thirty days after it becomes 
effective, and the Clerk shall do all other things required by law. 

 
SECTION 3.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 

VOTE ON RULES SUSPENSION:   YEAS____ NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 















































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  11    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-28 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION INDICATING WHAT SERVICES THE CITY OF DELAWARE 
WILL PROVIDE TO 2.091± ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION 
AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE 
ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE JOSHUA MORGAN ANNEXATION BY ANDREW 
P. WECKER, AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Staff has discussed this small annexation over a period of months with the 
applicant.  The land owners and their agents are now moving forward with the 
Ohio Revised Code dictated annexation process.  This process involves several 
steps and actions by the County and City in order for an annexation to 
ultimately be accepted by the City.  This is the first City step in the process 
which requires the City to express its ability and intention to provide services 
to the property.  This does not mean that the City will be paying for or 
constructing any ultimately required services or infrastructure, but rather 
simply that we have the ability to serve it.  City Council will have the 
opportunity during the next and final city step in the process to accept, accept 
with conditions, or reject the final annexation. 
The property is approximately 2.091 acres in size, is composed of three pre-
existing lots of record, a single family home, and is located along SR 521 (east 
side).  The anticipated future use is for up to 3 total single family homes – one 
per lot.  The Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use map indicates this property 
for low density single family uses as anticipated. 



There may be some potential conditions recommended as the final stage of the 
annexation process unfolds, however, at this time there is no objection from 
Staff as to the Resolution of Services. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The Ohio Revised Code provides the process that annexations must follow 
throughout Ohio.  This is the first city step in that process requiring passage of 
a resolution indicating what services the city will provide to the subject site.  
Based on the timelines established in the Ohio Revised Code, this resolution 
must be passed at this meeting, after which it will be sent to the County for the 
next step in the annexation process.  While this resolution moves the 
annexation forward, this is not the final legislation Council will consider in 
order to accept the annexation.  60 days after the County approves the 
annexation, it will be presented at the first regular session of Council, and 
must be approved or rejected within 120 days from the date of the annexation 
being placed on the agenda.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval    
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Memo 
Petition for Annexation 
Map 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-28 
 

A RESOLUTION INDICATING WHAT SERVICES THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE WILL PROVIDE TO 2.091± ACRES 
OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND MAP 
ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” 
FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE JOSHUA 
MORGAN ANNEXATION BY ANDREW P. WECKER, 
AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Andrew P. Wecker, agent for the petitioners, has filed with the 

Delaware County Commissioners for annexation of 2.091 acres of land, more or 
less, the description and map are attached hereto as Exhibits A and B; and 
 

WHEREAS, Andrew P. Wecker, as agent for the petitioners on April 27, 2018 
delivered to the Clerk of the Delaware City Council the notice of his filing of the 
annexation petition with the Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County 
and its clerk on April 25, 2018; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ohio Revised Code requires that within 20 days following 
the date the petition is filed, the City Council shall, by resolution, adopt a 
statement as to what services, if any, the City will provide and an approximate 
date by which it will provide them to the territory proposed for annexation, upon 
annexation. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That upon annexation to the City of Delaware of 2.091± acres 
more or less as delineated on the attached Exhibits A and B, the City will provide 
the following services by the approximate date indicated as to each, provided all 
necessary lines, hydrants, and other apparatus are installed by the property 
owner as required by the City and said services shall be provided under the same 
conditions and same costs as they are provided to other residents in the City of 
Delaware: 

 
(a) Water - upon acceptance of annexation 
(b) Sanitary Sewer - upon acceptance of annexation  
(c) Refuse – upon acceptance of annexation  
(d) Fire – upon acceptance of annexation 
(e) Police – upon acceptance of annexation 

  (f)  Road maintenance-upon acceptance of annexation 
 



 SECTION 2.  That the Council of the City of Delaware, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 709.023(D), hereby consents to the annexation. 
 
 SECTION 3. This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Resolution were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 

SECTION 4. That the Clerk of Council shall prepare and furnish to the agent 
for the petitioners a certified copy of this resolution and file with the Delaware 
County Board of County Commissioners on or before 20 days from the filing of the 
annexation petition. 
 
 SECTION 5.  That if the territory is annexed and becomes subject to zoning 
by the City of Delaware and the City permits uses in the annexed territory that the 
City determines are clearly incompatible with the uses permitted under the 
current county or township zoning regulations in the adjacent land remaining 
within the township from which the territory was annexed, the Council of the City 
of Delaware will require, in the zoning ordinance permitting the incompatible uses, 
the owner of the annexed territory to provide a buffer separating the use of the 
annexed and the adjacent land remaining within the township for purposes of this 
ordinance, buffer includes open space, landscaping, fences, walls, and other 
structured elements; streets and street rights of way; and bicycle and pedestrian 
paths and sidewalks. 
 

SECTION 6. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after this passage. 
 
 
PASSED:                                   , 2018  YEAS       NAYS ___ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST:                                                ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



















  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  12    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-29  
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       June 25, 2018 @ 7:30 p.m. 
       
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A JOINT 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (JEDD) CONTRACT WITH BERKSHIRE 
TOWNSHIP. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
In 2015, the City of Delaware and Berkshire Township entered into a Joint 
Economic Development District in which people who work in the JEDD will pay 
the city’s 1.85% income tax, with the proceeds to be split between the two parties.  
The City and Township wish to enter into an agreement to create a second JEDD.  
This JEDD will have an 80/20% split which is in line with other JEDD 
agreements.  The City will continue to provide tax collection services for an 
administrative fee of up to 4%.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
At the August 14, 2017 City Council Meeting, Council indicated their willingness 
to participate in the second JEDD under the terms included in the agreement 
80/20% split, 4% admin fee, 1% to JEDD Board).  The resolution is required 
because it is an intergovernmental agreement.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 



FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
20% of the JEDD income tax collected 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Draft Agreement 
Map 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-29 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO ENTER INTO A JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (JEDD) CONTRACT WITH BERKSHIRE 
TOWNSHIP. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware (the “City”) and Berkshire Township (the 

“Township”) previously entered into a Joint Economic Development District 
(JEDD); and 

 
WHEREAS, based on the success of that JEDD the City and Township 

wish to enter into an agreement to establish a new Joint Economic 
Development District in Berkshire Township; and 

 
WHEREAS, employees who work in the JEDD will pay the city’s 1.85 

percent income tax; and  
 
WHEREAS, the parties agree that development in the JEDD will impact 

the city’s infrastructure, specifically in the area of The Point and along 36/37; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, under the terms of this agreement the City will receive 20 

percent of the net revenue generated within the JEDD; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City anticipates using its share of the proceeds to help 
fund necessary improvements at The Point and along 36/37; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City will administer the tax collection for the JEDD for an 
administrative fee of up to 4 percent of the gross revenue of the JEDD. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a Joint 
Economic Development District (JEDD) contract with Berkshire Township 
memorializing the mutual understanding of the parties regarding the contract. 



 
  SECTION 2.  This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 

passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONTRACT 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO 
 

AND 
 

BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP (DELAWARE COUNTY), OHIO 
 

Dated as of 
 

June 1, 2018 
 
 
 
 



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
   Item            Page 
 
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS 2 
 Section 1.1 Definitions 2 
 Section 1.2 Interpretations 3 
 Section 1.3 Captions and Headings 3 
  
ARTICLE II JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 4 
 Section 2.1 Creation and Territory 4 
 Section 2.2 Purpose 4 
 Section 2.3 Contributions 4 
 Section 2.4 Economic Development Plan 5 
 
ARTICLE III TERM 6 
 Section 3.1 Term 6 
 Section 3.2 Prior Termination 6 
 Section 3.3 Actions upon Termination 6 
 
ARTICLE IV THE BOARD 7 
 Section 4.1 Creation, Membership and Appointment of the Board 7 
 Section 4.2 Board Officers and Procedures 8 
 Section 4.3 Powers and Duties of the Board 8 
 
ARTICLE V JEDD INCOME TAX 11 
 Section 5.1 Authorization to Levy JEDD Income Tax 11 
 Section 5.2 Allocation of Proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax 11 
 
ARTICLE VI MISCELLANEOUS 12 
 Section 6.1 Fiscal Year 12 
 Section 6.2 Reports and Records 12 
 Section 6.3 Amendments 12 
 Section 6.4 Support of Contract; Execution of Other Documents 12 
 Section 6.5 Binding Effect 13 
 Section 6.6 Counterparts 13 
 Section 6.7 Severability 13 
 Section 6.8 Governing Law and Choice of Forum 13 
 Section 6.9 Notices and Payments 13 
 Section 6.10 Entire Agreement 14 
 
SIGNATURE PAGE 15 
FISCAL OFFICERS’ CERTIFICATIONS 16 
EXHIBIT A - BERKSHIRE-DELAWARE JOINT ECONOMIC 
                       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 A 
EXHIBIT B  - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN B



1 
 

JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONTRACT 
 

 This Joint Economic Development District Contract (this “Contract”) dated as of June 1, 
2018 is entered into by and between the City of Delaware, Ohio (the “City”), a municipal 
corporation and political subdivision organized and existing pursuant to the Constitution and 
laws of the State of Ohio (the “State”) and its Charter, and Berkshire Township (Delaware 
County), Ohio (the “Township”), a township and political subdivision organized and existing 
under the laws of the State.  (Capitalized terms and words used, but not otherwise defined, in this 
Contract have the meanings assigned to them in Article I.) 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

 WHEREAS, the JEDD Statutes authorize a municipal corporation and a township to 
enter into a contract to provide for the creation of a joint economic development district; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and the Township desire to create a joint economic development 
district for the purpose of facilitating economic development to create or preserve jobs and 
employment opportunities and to improve the economic welfare of the people in the State and in 
the areas of the City and the Township; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the JEDD Statutes, the Constitution and laws of the State, the 
Charter and ordinances of the City and resolutions of the Township, the City and the Township 
desire to enter into this Contract to set forth their agreements with respect to the JEDD, 
including, but not limited to, their contributions to the JEDD, the creation of the Board, the 
powers and duties of the Board and the distribution of proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the agreements, 
representations and covenants set forth in this Contract, the City and the Township agree as 
follows: 
 
 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to “Contract”, “City”, “State” and “Township” 
defined above, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the JEDD established in accordance with 
the JEDD Statutes and this Contract. 

 
“County” means the County of Delaware, Ohio. 
 
“Effective Date” means the date immediately succeeding the occurrence of all of the 

following:  (i) the City’s and Township’s execution of this Contract, (ii) the thirty-second day 
after the adoption of the Township’s resolution authorizing this Contract, and (iii) the expiration 
of any statutory period permitting a referendum of the Township’s resolution or the City’s 
ordinance authorizing this Contract. 

 
“Gross Revenues” means the proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax, less refunds. 
 
“Net Revenues” means Gross Revenues less (a) to the extent the funds available to the 

Board are insufficient for such purposes, any amount required to pay costs of any audits of the 
JEDD mandated by the State or any liability imposed on the JEDD or the Board by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, (b) amounts due to the City pursuant to the JEDD Income Tax 
Agreement, (c) 1% of the Gross Revenues allocated to the Board pursuant to Section 5.2 and (d) 
any amount paid or reimbursed pursuant to Section 6.4. 

 
“JEDD” means the Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2 created 

pursuant to the JEDD Statutes and this Contract and includes the real property described and 
depicted in Exhibit A to this Contract. 

 
“JEDD Income” means (i) the income earned by persons working  or residing in the 

JEDD and (ii) the net profits of businesses located in the JEDD. 
 
“JEDD Income Tax” means the tax on JEDD Income levied by the Board in accordance 

with the provisions of this Contract. 
 
“JEDD Income Tax Agreement” means that agreement to be entered into by and between 

the Board and the City providing for the City to (i) administer, collect and distribute the JEDD 
Income Tax in accordance with the Contract and (ii) act as the fiscal agent of the JEDD and the 
Board. 

 
“JEDD Statutes” means Ohio Revised Code Section 715.72. 
 



3 
 

Section 1.2 Interpretations.  Any reference herein to the County, the City, the 
Township or the Board or to any officer or employee of the County, the City, the Township or 
the Board, includes the entities, officers or employees succeeding to their respective functions, 
duties or responsibilities pursuant to or by operation of law, or the entities, officers or employees 
lawfully performing their respective functions, duties or responsibilities. 
 
 Any reference herein to a section or provision of the Constitution of the State, the Ohio 
Revised Code, the Charter of the City or legislation of the County, the City or the Township or 
any statute of the United States of America, includes that section or provision as amended, 
modified, revised, supplemented or superseded from time to time; provided, however, that no 
amendment, modification, revision, supplement or superseding section or provision shall be 
applicable to this Contract solely by reason of this Section 1.2 if such amendment, modification, 
revision, supplement or superseding section or provision constitutes an impairment of the rights 
or obligations of the City, the Township or the Board under this Contract. 
 
 Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, words importing the singular number 
include the plural number and vice versa.  The terms “hereof”, “hereby”, “herein”, “hereto”, 
“hereunder” and similar terms refer to this Contract.  The term “hereafter” means after, and the 
term “heretofore” means before, the date of this Contract.  Words of any gender include the 
correlative word of the other genders unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 
 
 Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, any reference to a “Section” is a reference 
to a section of this Contract. 
 
 Section 1.3 Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Contract are 
solely for convenience of reference and do not define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any 
Articles, Sections, subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs or clauses herein. 
 

(End of Article I) 
 

  



4 
 

ARTICLE II 
JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
Section 2.1 Creation and Territory.  The City and the Township hereby create the 

“Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2” consisting of real property described 
and depicted in Exhibit A to this Contract.  The provisions set forth in Ohio Revised Code 
Section 715.72 (R) shall apply to the unincorporated territory of the Township located in the 
JEDD. 

 
Section 2.2 Purpose.  The City and the Township are creating the JEDD for the 

purpose of facilitating economic development to create or preserve jobs and employment 
opportunities and to improve the economic welfare of the people in the State and in the areas of 
the City and the Township. 

 
Section 2.3 Contributions. 
 

(a) The Township: 
 

(i) shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the JEDD all usual and 
customary governmental services furnished by the Township to similarly situated 
properties located in the unincorporated area of the Township outside of the 
JEDD, including, but not limited to maintenance of township roads, snow removal 
and general administration; and 

 
(ii) shall provide accommodations, if requested, for meetings of the 

Board, maintenance of the records of the JEDD and, if reasonably available, as 
determined by the Township, any necessary clerical staffing for the Board.  The 
Township may also cause certain improvements to property located within the 
JEDD to be declared a public purpose, the increased value of such property to be 
exempt from real property taxes for a period of time, the owner(s) of such 
property to be required to pay service payments in lieu of taxes, and the receipts 
of such service payments to be used to pay costs of public infrastructure 
benefitting such property and the JEDD, all in accordance with the Ohio Revised 
Code; and 

 
(iii) may furnish to the JEDD such services allowed by law as the 

Township and the Board deem appropriate and agree. 
 
(b) The City: 

 
(i) shall cooperate with and assist the Board in activities that promote, 

complement and benefit economic development in the JEDD; provided, however, 
the City is not expected or required to undertake any such activity to the detriment 
of economic development in the City; and 

 



5 
 

(ii) shall cooperate with and assist the Township on issues affecting 
the JEDD, such as planning, zoning and building standards and review; and 

 
(iii) shall provide the services set forth in the Income Tax Agreement; 

and 
 
(iv) may furnish such services allowed by law as the City and the 

Board agree upon. 
 

Section 2.4 Economic Development Plan.  The Economic Development Plan for the 
District shall consist of that Economic Development Plan attached hereto and incorporated 
herein as Exhibit B to this Contract. 

 
(End of Article II) 

 
  



6 
 

ARTICLE III 
TERM 

 
Section 3.1 Term.  The term of this Contract shall commence on the Effective Date 

and shall terminate on December 31, 2119. 
 
Section 3.2 Prior Termination.  This Contract may be terminated prior to December 

31, 2119 by the City or the Township by notice to the other not earlier than 365 days and not 
later than 180 days prior to the termination date: 

 
(a) if the Board has not adopted a resolution to levy the JEDD Income Tax 

within one year after the Effective Date; or 
 
(b) if a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates the levy of 

the JEDD Income Tax and no appeal of such order has been filed or the period for such 
appeal has lapsed. 
 
The termination of this Contract pursuant to (a) or (b) above shall be effective on the date 

stated in the notice of termination. 
 
Section 3.3 Actions upon Termination.  Upon termination of this Contract: 
 

(a) the Board shall remain in office for six months to provide for an orderly 
termination of the JEDD; and 

 
(b) the levy of the JEDD Income Tax shall cease, but the JEDD Income Tax 

levied prior to the termination shall be collected and distributed in accordance with 
Article V of this Contract; and 

 
(c) 20% of any remaining assets of the JEDD shall be distributed to the City 

and 80% of such remaining assets shall be distributed to the Township; provided, 
however, if any such assets cannot be liquidated, the City and the Township must agree 
on the value of such assets for their distribution; and 

 
(d) the records of the JEDD shall be given into the custody of the Township 

and shall be available for inspection or audit by the City or the Township. 
 

(End of Article III) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

ARTICLE IV 
THE BOARD 

 
 

Section 4.1 Creation, Membership and Appointment of the Board.   
 

(a)  Pursuant to the JEDD Statutes, the City and the Township hereby establish 
the Board to govern the JEDD. 

 
(b) If on the Effective Date there are businesses located and persons working 

within the JEDD, the Board shall consist of:  (i) one member representing the City, (ii) 
one member representing the Township, (iii) one member representing the owners of 
businesses located within the JEDD, (iv) one member representing the persons working 
within the JEDD, and (v) one member selected by the above members. 

 
(c) If on the Effective Date there are no businesses located or persons working 

within the JEDD, the Board shall consist of:  (i) one member representing the City, (ii) 
one member representing the Township, (iii) one member selected by the above 
members; provided, however, that if after the Effective Date a business locates or persons 
commence working within the JEDD, the Board shall be expanded to also include:  (iv) a 
member representing the owners of businesses located within the JEDD, and (v) a 
member representing the persons working within the JEDD, and provided further that 
upon the termination of the member selected by the initial two members of the Board, 
thereafter that member shall be selected by the four members described in (i), (ii), (iv) 
and (v) of this paragraph. 

 
(d) The City shall appoint the members representing the City and the owners 

of businesses located within the JEDD, and the Township shall appoint the members 
representing the Township and the persons working within the JEDD.  The City and the 
Township will make their initial appointment of members of the Board within 60 days 
after the Effective Date, and the terms of those members shall commence on the first day 
of the first month commencing 57 days after the Effective Date.  The Board shall first 
meet within the first month that commences 57 days after the Effective Date and shall 
select the remaining member of the Board – the member described in (v) of paragraph (b) 
above or in (iii) of paragraph (c) above – within that month for a term commencing the 
first day of the immediately succeeding month.  The initial terms of the members 
described in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v) of paragraph (b) above shall be one year, two years, 
three years, four years and four years, respectively.  The initial terms of the members 
described in (i), (ii) and (iii) of paragraph (c) above shall be one year, two years and three 
years, respectively. 

 
(e) The initial appointment of the members described in (iv) and (v) of 

paragraph (c) above shall be for a four year term commencing on the first day of the same 
month as the terms of the members described in (i) and (ii) of paragraph (c) above 
commenced, and should commence the first such day after a business locates or a person 
commences working in the JEDD. 



8 
 

 
(f) After the initial terms of all members expire, the terms of all members 

shall be for four years; provided, however, each member shall continue to serve until the 
member’s successor is appointed; and provided further that upon termination of this 
Contract, the terms of the members then serving shall terminate six months after the 
termination of this Contract. 

 
(g) The term of any person to fill a vacancy on the Board because of the 

death, resignation or removal of a member shall terminate when the term of the member 
removed, resigned or died would have terminated. 

 
(h) The City and the Township covenant to use their best efforts to timely 

appoint all members of the Board. 
 
(i) The member described in (v) of paragraph (b) above or (iii) of paragraph 

(c) above shall serve as the Chairperson of the Board. 
 
(j) The members of the Board shall not receive compensation for such 

membership or for their attendance at meetings of the Board, but may be reimbursed for 
expenses incurred in performing their duties. 

 
(k) Any member may be reappointed to the Board, but no member shall serve 

more than two consecutive terms on the Board. 
 
Section 4.2 Board Officers and Procedures.  The Board shall enact bylaws or other 

procedures for the governance of the Board, including procedures for the election from its 
members of a Vice Chairperson and a Secretary-Treasurer; provided, however, the terms of such 
officers shall not be for a period longer than one year. 

 
Section 4.3 Powers and Duties of the Board.   
 

(a)   In addition to the duty to enact bylaws or procedures set forth in Section 
4.2, the Board shall: 
 

(i) if it enacts the JEDD Income Tax as authorized by Section 5.1, 
enter into the JEDD Income Tax Agreement with the City; provided that 
payments to the City for services rendered pursuant to the Income Tax Agreement 
shall not exceed 4% of Gross Revenues for any calendar year during the term of 
the Income Tax Agreement; and 

 
(ii) adopt an annual budget for the Board and the JEDD that estimates 

the revenues and expenses of the Board and the JEDD; and 
 
(iii) establish an appropriations procedure to provide for payment of the 

expenses of the Board and the JEDD and the distribution of the JEDD Income 
Tax in accordance with Section 5.2. 



9 
 

(b) In addition to the authorization to levy the JEDD Income Tax set forth in 
Section 5.1, the Board is authorized to: 
 

(i) take such actions necessary or convenient to carry out the powers 
granted in this Contract and/or the JEDD Statutes; and 

 
(ii) purchase, receive, hold, lease or otherwise acquire, and sell, 

convey, transfer, lease, sublease or otherwise dispose of, real and personal 
property, together with such rights and privileges as may be incidental or 
appurtenant thereto and the use thereof; and 

 
(iii) acquire, purchase, construct, reconstruct, enlarge, furnish, equip, 

maintain, repair, sell, exchange, lease or rent from others, or operate, facilities for 
the JEDD; and 

 
(iv) make available the uses or services of any JEDD facilities to one or 

more persons or government agencies or any combination thereof; and 
 
(v) apply to the proper authorities of the United States pursuant to 

appropriate laws for the right to establish, operate and maintain foreign trade 
zones within the JEDD; and 

 
(vi) establish and maintain such funds or accounts as it deems 

necessary, either of its own or in conjunction with the City or the Township; and 
 
(vii) promote, advertise and publicize the JEDD and its facilities, 

provide information relating to the JEDD and promote the interests and economic 
development of the JEDD, the City, the Township, the County and the State; and 

 
(viii) make and enter into contracts and agreements and authorize one or 

more officers of the Board to sign instruments necessary or incidental to the 
performance of its duties and the execution of its powers pursuant to this Contract 
and the JEDD Statutes; and 

 
(ix) employ managers or other employees and retain or contract with 

consulting engineers, financial consultants, accounting experts, architects, 
attorneys and such other consultants and independent contractors as are necessary 
in its judgment to carry out the purposes of this Contract, and fix the 
compensation thereof, which shall be payable from any available funds of the 
JEDD; and 

 
(x) receive and accept from any federal or state agency, the Township, 

the City, the County or other persons grants for or in aid of the construction, 
maintenance or repair of any JEDD facility, for research and development with 
respect to JEDD facilities or for programs or other projects of the JEDD, and 
receive and accept aid or contributions from any source money, property, labor or 



10 
 

other items of value, to be used and applied for the purposes of such grants, aids 
or contributions and this Contract; and 

 
(xi) purchase fire and extended coverage and liability insurance for any 

JEDD facility or office, insurance protecting the JEDD and its Board, officers and 
employees against liability arising from the operations or actions of the Board or 
the JEDD, and any other insurance the Board may determine to be reasonably 
necessary; and 

 
(xii) provide guidance and directions on issues regarding tax 

abatements, economic development incentives, tax increment financing, zoning, 
traffic and infrastructure within the JEDD and make recommendations regarding 
the same to appropriate agencies. 
 

(End of Article IV) 
 
 

  



11 
 

ARTICLE V 
JEDD INCOME TAX 

 
 

Section 5.1 Authorization to Levy JEDD Income Tax.  The Board is hereby 
authorized to enact legislation to (a) levy the JEDD Income Tax at the rate currently and 
hereafter levied by the City on the income of individuals and the net profits of businesses, and 
(b) adopt regulations, rules or code for the administration, collection and enforcement of the 
JEDD Income Tax. 

 
Section 5.2 Allocation of Proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax.  The City shall, on 

behalf of the JEDD, and pursuant to the JEDD Income Tax Agreement, collect and administer 
the JEDD Income Tax. 

 
(a) Gross Revenues shall be used to pay to:  (i) the City the amount then due 

pursuant to the JEDD Income Tax Agreement, (ii) the Board an amount equal to 1% of 
the Gross Revenues, (iii) the Board, to the extent the funds then available to the Board are 
insufficient, an amount sufficient to pay costs of any audit of the JEDD mandated by the 
State or any amount needed to pay any liability imposed on the Board by a court of 
competent jurisdiction and (iv) the City and/or the Township an amount to reimburse the 
City and/or the Township for amounts expended pursuant to Section 6.4. 

 
(b) Net Revenues shall be allocated and paid as follows:  20% to the City and 

80% to the Township. 
 
(c) Within 30 days of the last day of March, June, September and December 

of each year (or if any such date is not a business day, on the immediately succeeding 
business day), the City shall, on behalf of the JEDD (i) pay from the Gross Revenues to 
the City the amounts then due pursuant to (a) above, (ii) calculate and pay the amounts 
due from the Net Revenues for the prior three months to the Board, the City and the 
Township pursuant to (b) above, and (iii) provide an accounting of the receipts and uses 
of the proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax for the prior three months, including, but not 
limited to, a summary of the amounts of JEDD Income Tax on individuals withheld by 
each Business.  In the event that any amount due from the Net Revenues to the Board, the 
City or the Township is a negative amount, then that negative amount shall be set off 
against the next amount to be paid. 
 

(d) It is expressly understood and agreed that amounts received by the Board, 
the City and the Township may be used by each of the entities for any lawful purpose in 
each’s sole discretion. 
 

(End of Article V) 
  

 
 

  



12 
 

ARTICLE VI 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 6.1 Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the JEDD shall commence on January 1 of 

each calendar year and shall terminate on December 31 of the same calendar year. 
 
Section 6.2 Reports and Records.  Within 30 days of the effective date of this 

Contract, the Board shall notify the Auditor of State of the State of Ohio of the creation of the 
JEDD and the Board. 

 
Within three months after the end of each fiscal year of the JEDD, the Board shall 

compile and distribute to the City and the Township a report setting forth all revenues received 
by the JEDD during the preceding fiscal year and all disbursements made during that fiscal year. 

 
Within three months prior to the commencement of each fiscal year of the JEDD, the 

Board shall prepare and distribute to the City and the Township a budget for that fiscal year, 
stating anticipated revenues and expenses of the JEDD. 

 
All books, records, documentation, and financial information of the JEDD shall, upon 

request, be made available to the City and the Township and their agents for review and/or audit.  
The Board and the JEDD shall fully cooperate with the City or the Township in fulfilling such a 
request. 

 
Section 6.3 Amendments.  Except for any amendment of this Contract or the JEDD to 

increase the territory of the JEDD, this Contract may be amended by the City and the Township 
pursuant to a written amendment authorized by the respective legislative authorities of the City 
and the Township.  Any real property located within the JEDD may be removed from the JEDD 
pursuant to a written amendment duly authorized by the City and the Township.  Following a 
duly authorized amendment removing real property from the JEDD, such property shall be 
deleted from the territory of the JEDD and is then no longer subject to the terms of the Contract.  
Any amendment of this Contract or the JEDD to increase the territory of the JEDD shall be 
subject to the provisions of the JEDD Statutes for adding areas to the JEDD. 

 
Section 6.4 Support of Contract; Execution of Other Documents.  The City and the 

Township shall support this Contract and shall defend the same against any lawsuits brought 
against the JEDD, the Board, the City or the Township in conjunction with the JEDD.  The 
expenses and fees of the Board, the City and the Township, including reasonable attorney fees, 
incurred in any lawsuit brought against the JEDD, the Board, the City or the Township shall be 
paid or reimbursed from Gross Revenues. 

 
The engineering and surveying expenses and fees which were incurred by the Township 

in preparing both a description of the JEDD and a map denoting the boundaries of the JEDD 
shall be reimbursed from Gross Revenues prior to any distributions to the JEDD Parties.  The 
Township shall also be reimbursed from Gross Revenues the legal fees and expenses incurred by 
the Township in preparing various documents needed to create the JEDD, provided that the legal 
fees and expenses reimbursed shall not exceed the sum of $10,000.00.  If the Gross Revenues are 



13 
 

insufficient at any time to pay any such expenses and fees, the Township shall be reimbursed 
when such revenues are available for that reimbursement. 

 
The City and the Township each agree to cooperate with the others in the implementation 

of this Contract and to execute or cause to be executed, in a timely fashion, all necessary 
documents in order to effectuate the purposes of this Contract. 

 
Section 6.5 Binding Effect.  All rights, benefits, and privileges under this Contract 

shall inure only to the City and the Township, and no third parties shall have any right to claim 
any rights, benefits, or privileges under this Contract.  Each covenant, agreement or obligation of 
the City or the Township under this Contract is binding on each officer of the City or Township, 
respectively, who has the authority or duty from time to time under the laws of the State to take 
any action which may be necessary or advisable to observe or perform the covenant, agreement 
or obligation. 

 
Section 6.6 Counterparts.  This Contract may be executed in several counterparts, 

each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same Contract. 

 
Section 6.7 Severability.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 

provision of this Contract shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract or any part thereof and the same shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
Section 6.8 Governing Law and Choice of Forum.  This Contract shall be governed 

by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State.  All claims, counterclaims, disputes 
and other matters in question regarding this Contract or its breach will be decided in a court of 
competent jurisdiction within the State. 

 
Section 6.9 Notices and Payments.  All notices, demands, requests, consents or 

approvals given, required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
sufficiently given if received or if hand delivered or sent by recognized overnight delivery 
service or by certified mail, postage prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed to (i) (A) the 
City at City of Delaware, Ohio, 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015, Attention:  City 
Manager, (B) the Township at Berkshire Township, 1454 Rome Corners Road, Galena, Ohio 
43021, Attention:  Administrator, and (C) to the Board, at Chair, Board of Directors, Berkshire 
Joint Economic Development District No. 2 at the business address for the JEDD in the rules 
adopted by the Board, or (ii) such other address as the recipient shall have previously notified the 
sender in writing as provided in this Section 6.9. 

 
All payments shall be made to (i) (A) the City at City of Delaware, Ohio, 1 South 

Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015, Attention:  Finance Director, (B) the Township at 
Berkshire Township, 1454 Rome Corners Road, Galena, Ohio 43021, Attention:  Fiscal Officer, 
and (C) to the Board, at Chair, Board of Directors, Berkshire Joint Economic Development 
District No. 2 at the business address for the JEDD in the rules adopted by the Board, or (ii) such 
other address as the recipient shall have previously notified the sender in writing as provided in 
this Section 6.9. 



14 
 

 
Section 6.10 Entire Agreement.  This Contract is the only and entire agreement 

between the City and the Township regarding the JEDD. 
 

(End of Article VI) 
 
 

  



15 
 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the City and the Township have subscribed to this JEDD 
Contract by their duly authorized officers: 

      
 BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP 

 (DELAWARE COUNTY), OHIO 
 

Date:    , 2018 By:         
    Township Administrator 
 
 
   CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO 
 
Date:    , 2018 By:         
    City Manager 
 
 
  



16 
 

FISCAL OFFICERS’ CERTIFICATIONS 
 

The undersigned fiscal officer of Berkshire Township (Delaware County), Ohio hereby 
certifies that the moneys require to meet the obligations of the Township during the calendar 
year 2018 under the foregoing Joint Economic Development District Contract have been 
appropriated lawfully for that purpose, and are in the treasury of the Township or in the process 
of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund, free from encumbrances.  This certification is 
made in compliance with Ohio Revised Code Sections 5705.41 and 5705.44. 

 
          
   Fiscal Officer 
   Berkshire Township (Delaware County), Ohio 
 
The undersigned fiscal officer of the City of Delaware, Ohio hereby certifies that the 

moneys require to meet the obligations of the City during the calendar year 2018 under the 
foregoing Joint Economic Development District Contract have been appropriated lawfully for 
that purpose, and are in the treasury of the City or in the process of collection to the credit of an 
appropriate fund, free from encumbrances.  This certification is made in compliance with Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 5705.41and 5705.44. 

 
          
   Finance Director 
   City of Delaware, Ohio 
 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT A 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 
 

The JEDD consists of twelve (12) complete parcels and a portion of one parcel, all of which are 
located within Berkshire Township, Delaware County, Ohio.  The map attached as Exhibit A 
shows the location of these properties.  The complete parcels located within the JEDD consist of 
the following parcels as numbered and in the records of the County Auditor of Delaware County, 
Ohio: 
 
 Parcel Number     Current Zoning 
 
1. 41721002013000     Planned Commercial District 
2. 41721002014001     Planned Commercial District 
3. 41722001012004     Planned Commercial District 
4. 41722001012001     Planned Commercial District 
5. 41722001012002     Planned Commercial District 
6. 41722001012003     Planned Commercial District 
7. 41721002038000     Planned Commercial District 
8. 41722001017000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist.  
9. 41722001018000     Planned Commercial District 
10. 41723001005000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist. 
11. 41723001004000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist. 
12. 41723001003000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist. 
 
Except for that portion described on Exhibit A-1, which is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein, the remainder of Parcel Number 41721002012000 is located within the JEDD, with this 
property being currently zoned Planned Commercial District. 
 
Parcel Numbers Eight (8) through Twelve (12) above are encompassed within the Planned 
Mixed Use District. 
 
Parcel Numbers One (1) through Seven (7), as well as that portion of Parcel Number 
41721002012000 located in the JEDD, are encompassed within the 36/37 Planned Mixed Use 
District. 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

EXHIBIT A-1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

EXHIBIT A-1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

EXHIBIT A-1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT B 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 The economic development plan for the Berkshire Joint Economic Development District 
No. 2 (the “JEDD”) to be created pursuant to a Joint Economic Development District Contract 
(the “JEDD Contract”) by and between the City of Delaware, Ohio (the “City”) and Berkshire 
Township (Delaware County), Ohio (the “Township”) will be the (i) construction of certain 
commercial and residential improvements in the corridor surrounding the interchange of 
Interstate 71 and State Routes 36 and 37, and (ii) the construction of public infrastructure (the 
“Public Infrastructure”) to facilitate and support the commercial and residential development, 
including, but not limited to, the construction of roadway improvements; construction and 
installation of public utility improvements; construction and installation of gas, electric and 
communication service facilities; construction and installation of stormwater and flood 
remediation projects and facilities; streetscape and landscaping improvements; acquisition of 
easements and other interests in real estate; and other public infrastructure located within the 
City and the Township, together with all necessary or appropriate appurtenances. 
 
 The construction of the commercial and residential improvements is expected to occur 
over the next 10-20 years. 
 
 The JEDD Contract provides that the Township shall furnish or cause to be furnished to 
the JEDD all usual and customary governmental services provided by the Township to similarly 
situated properties located in the unincorporated area of the Township outside of the JEDD, 
provide accommodation, if requested, for meetings of the Board, maintenance of the records of 
the JEDD and, if reasonably available, as determined by the Township, any necessary clerical 
staffing for the Board, and the Township may declare certain improvements to property located 
within the JEDD to be a public purpose, exempt the increased value of such property from real 
property taxes for a period of time, require the owner(s) of such property to pay service 
payments in lieu of the exempted real property taxes and use the receipts of such property taxes 
to pay costs of the Public Infrastructure, all in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Sections 
5709.73, 5709.74 and 5709.75; and provide such services allowed by law as the Township and 
the board of directors (the “Board”) of the JEDD may agree.  The JEDD Contract provides that 
the City shall cooperate and assist the Board in activities that promote, compliment and benefit 
economic development in the JEDD; shall cooperate and assist the Township on issues affecting 
the JEDD, such as planning, zoning and building standards and review; administer, collect and 
distribute the income tax expected to be levied by the Board on the income of persons working in 
the JEDD and the net profits of businesses located in the JEDD; act as fiscal agent for the JEDD 
and the Board; and furnish such services allowed by law as the City and the Board agree.   
 
 The JEDD Contract authorizes and anticipates the levy by the Board of a tax on the 
income of persons working or residing in the JEDD and the net profits of businesses located in 
the JEDD at the same rate currently levied by the City (currently 1.85%) for distribution to the 
Board, the City and the Township. 
 





  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-38    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PERFORMANCE BASED ECONOMIC INCENTIVE 
GRANT AGREEMENT WITH GUILD ASSOCIATES FOR ELECTRICAL UPGRADES TO A 
BUILDING AT 105 INNOVATION COURT AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Guild Associates Inc. is a Dublin, Ohio based company that is looking for a 
manufacturing space for a proprietary media for the filtration of natural gas. They are a 
collection of top scientists, engineers and production personnel able to field difficult 
problems and deliver product on time and budget. Working in an organic, team 
environment, Guild brings to bear years of experience in technology innovation, system 
integration and product delivery. 
 
The $10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant will assist with electrical 
upgrades that are necessary for the company to occupy the building. 
 
 
Project Guild Associates, 
Inc. Electrical Upgrades    

Address/Parcel 
Numbers 

Project 
Acres 

    105 Innovation Court Existing 
Projections*      
Employees (New)  25    
Employees (Retained)  0    
Payroll (New)  $1,768,000    
Payroll (Retained)  $0    



1.85% Muni Taxes (new)  $35,095.73    
1.85% Muni Taxes (retained)  $0    

50% of Muni Taxes (over $1 
million new taxes)  $0 

DOES 
NOT 
APPLY   

Real Property Investment  $236,000     
Building Addition  $0     

Improvements to Existing 
Building  $236,300     

Land   $0     
Personal Property 
Investment  $1,700,000     

F&F  $200,000     
M&E  $1,500,000     

Inventory  Up to $2 million    
 
*Information provided by the applicant. 
 
Proposed Incentives: • $10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant   

  
Project Annual Value of 
100% Abatement N/A  
Project 15-Year Value of 
Abatement N/A 
30% School Pilot Per Year N/A  
30% School Pilot After 15 
years N/A  
Net Abatement Value N/A 
Incentives as a % of Total 
Project Investment 0.52% 

 
 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
Economic Development Incentive Policy Analysis: 
 
These cells will be colored GREEN if the criteria is met or RED if the criteria is not 
met: 
 

Project is for a target industry Yes Boutique Manufacturing and Technology 
Project Hires at Greater than LMI* 
average wage 

Yes $70,720 

Project has a 25% or Greater ROI for 
City (income tax minus incentives 
divided by incentives) 

Yes   

City ROI 1914.8% In years 1 and 2 of the agreement, 100% of the 
1% general fund income tax generated by the 
payroll on the PROJECT for a total of $ 20,508.80 
will be dispersed into the Development Reserve 
Fund to reimburse the fund for this agreement. In 
years 3 to 7, 25% of the new income taxes will go 
to the Development Reserve Fund to generate 
future Economic Development incentive 
investments. 

Project has a 30% or Greater ROI for 
School 

N/A   

School ROI N/A 
 

*LMI (Low to Moderate Income) = $39,000/year per single person household 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
COST: $10,000 
FUND SOURCES: Development Reserve Fund 
BUDGETED: NO, Supplemental Following 
 
DEPARTMENTS IMPACTED: Economic Development, Finance 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 



 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Performance Based Incentive Grant Agreement 
Map Exhibit of Building Location 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-38 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PERFORMANCE 
BASED ECONOMIC INCENTIVE GRANT AGREEMENT 
WITH GUILD ASSOCIATES FOR ELECTRICAL 
UPGRADES TO A BUILDING AT 105 INNOVATION 
COURT AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
  
 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware established an economic 
development fund to attract, incentivize and assist high return on investment 
projects in the City of Delaware; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF DELAWARE, 
DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO, that: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant 
Agreement by and between the City of Delaware and GUILD ASSOCIATES INC. 
meets all state laws in regards to grants and economic development incentives, 
and the same is hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 2.   That the City Council of the City of Delaware hereby 
authorizes the execution of said Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant 
Agreement for this project. 
 
 SECTION 3.   This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 SECTION 4. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public 
peace, safety, health and welfare of the City, and is necessary to finalize 
negotiations so that construction may begin without the applicant risking the 
loss of the incentive, and as such will be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE:  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 



 2 

PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
  



 
 

PERFORMANCE BASED ECONOMIC INCENTIVE GRANT AGREEMENT 
CITY OF DELAWARE AND GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 
This Agreement made and entered into by and between the City of 
Delaware, Ohio, a municipal government, with its main offices located at 
1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015, and GUILD 
ASSOCIATES, INC.,  5750 Sheir-Rings Road, Dublin, Ohio 43016, 
WITNESSETH; 
 
WHEREAS, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. desires to lease and upgrade the 
electrical utilities to a building at 105 Innovation Court, Delaware, OH 
where it will locate its manufacturing operations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to attract GUILD ASSOCIATES, 
INC. in the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. requires the installation of 
upgraded electrical service to the building at 105 Innovation Ct. for its 
proposed operations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to leverage the GUILD 
ASSOCIATES, INC. project to update a valuable industrial building for the 
continued future use of the building by desired core industries; and  
 
WHEREAS, the parties recognize that the income tax generated by the new 
GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. full-time equivalent employees required to be 
hired per this Agreement or any additional future employees hired beyond 
the commitments of this Agreement will pay for the City’s contribution to 
the cost of facilitating the installation of electrical upgrades to 105 
Innovation Ct. for the GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. project (the “Project”); 
and 
 
WHEREAS, based on new payroll commitments established by this 
Agreement, the income tax generated is estimated to pay for the City’s 
contribution to the installation of electrical upgrades within 10 months, or 
less; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained and the benefit to be derived by the parties from the execution 
hereof, the parties herein agree as follows: 
 
1. The City of Delaware agrees to assist GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. with 

the installation of electrical upgrades to 105 Innovation Ct. (the 
“Project Site”) with a contribution of an Performance Based Economic 



Incentive Grant of up to and not to exceed $10,000 as a 
reimbursement to GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. or their landlord after 
the company invoices the City and provide receipts for applicable work 
totaling $10,000 or greater. The total cost of electrical upgrades to the 
building is estimated to be $20,000. 
 

2. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. shall lease a portion of the building at 105 
Innovation Ct. to locate its U.S. headquarters and manufacturing 
operations. 

 
3. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. shall create the equivalent of 25 new full-

time equivalent (FTE) jobs at the Delaware facility. The job creation 
period begins June 1, 2018 and all jobs will be in place by June 30, 
2021 with the following hiring timetable: 

 
a. 2018 – 10 FTEs 
b. 2019 – 19 FTEs 
c. 2020 – 25 FTEs 

 
This increase in the number of new employees shall result in at least 
ONE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED AND SIXTY-EIGHT THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($1,768,000) in total annual payroll ($1,768,000 NEW FULL-
TIME PERMANENT) generated at the PROJECT Site by June 30, 2021 
under the following timetable: 
 

a. 2018 - $707,200 
b. 2019 - $1,343,680 
c. 2020 - $1,768,000 

 
4. Based on new job and payroll creation levels, the City of Delaware 

estimates an annual new employee income tax revenue amount of 
$32,708 ($1,768,000 payroll times the current income tax rate of 
1.85%) for the PROJECT by year 3.  If, during any year of this 
Agreement, the level of new payroll yields an annual new employee 
income tax revenue amount which does not reach or falls below the 
estimate established by this Agreement, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
agrees to reimburse the City of Delaware for lost employee income 
taxes.  Should the City’s income tax rates change, the reimbursement 
will be adjusted accordingly.  

 
5. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. shall provide to the proper Tax Incentive 

Review Council any information reasonably required by the Council to 
evaluate the enterprise's compliance with this Agreement.  

 
8. If GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. is unable to employ a minimum of 25 new 

FTEs for the THREE (3) year period established in paragraph 3 of this 



Agreement, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. agrees to remain in the City of 
Delaware until the income tax generated by any new FTEs totals the 
amount contributed by the City towards the installation of fiber optics 
and electrical upgrades to the Project Site.  This determination will be 
based on income tax records kept by the City.  In addition, GUILD 
ASSOCIATES, INC. agrees to abide by any penalties or agreement 
modifications recommended by the Tax Incentive Review Council for 
any incentive agreements for this Project. 
 

9. If GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. relocates outside of the City before the 
THREE (3) year repayment period stated in paragraph 3 of this 
Agreement, or stops generating income tax revenue equal to the cost 
borne by the City to assist with the installation of electrical upgrades 
to the Project Site, whichever is earlier, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
agrees to pay the difference to the City within ninety (90) days of 
relocation in addition to abiding by any claw-back provisions of any 
other incentive agreements for this Project.  GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
must notify the City upon a situation where it may not be  
able to fulfill the requirements of this incentive  
as early as possible, so that the City Manager and Economic 
Development Director can meet with the company to discuss  
and perhaps modify terms of the Agreement, if necessary. 

 
10. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. hereby certifies that at the time this 

Agreement is executed, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. does not owe any 
delinquent real or tangible personal property taxes to any taxing 
authority of the State of Ohio, and does not owe delinquent taxes for 
which GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. is liable under Chapters 5733., 
5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 5747., or 5753. of the Ohio Revised Code, 
or, if such delinquent taxes are owed, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
currently is paying the delinquent taxes pursuant to an undertaking 
enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or instrumentality thereof, 
has filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 101, et seq., or 
such a petition has been filed against GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. For 
the purposes of the certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that 
remain unpaid on the latest day prescribed for payment without 
penalty under the Chapter of the Ohio Revised Code governing 
payment of those taxes.  

 
11. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. affirmatively covenants that it does not 

owe: (1) any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political 
subdivision of the State; (2) any moneys to the State or a state agency 
for the administration or enforcement of any environmental laws of the 
State; and (3) any other moneys to the State, a state agency or a 
political subdivision of the State that are past due, whether the 
amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not.  



 
12. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. and the City of Delaware acknowledge 

that this Agreement must be approved by formal action of the 
legislative authority of the City of Delaware and approval and 
execution of this Agreement by GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. as a 
condition for the agreement to take effect.  This Agreement takes effect 
upon such approval (O.R.C. § 3735.671(C)(10)). 

 
13. The City of Delaware has developed a policy to ensure recipients of 

incentives in its incentives to practice non-discriminating hiring in its 
operations.  By executing this Agreement, GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
is committing to following non-discriminating hiring practices 
acknowledging that no individual may be denied employment solely on 
the basis of race, religion, sex, disability, color, national origin, or 
ancestry. 

 
14. This Agreement is not transferable or assignable without the 

express, written approval of the City of Delaware. 
 

15. All terms of the Contract are severable, and in the event any of them 
shall be held invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity shall not affect the remainder of the Contract and the 
Contract shall be construed as if such invalid terms were not 
contained herein.  The laws of the state of Ohio and the City of 
Delaware shall govern the interpretation and enforcement of this 
Agreement. 

 
16. GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. hereby represents that it has full 

authority to act, negotiate, and execute this Agreement. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Delaware, Ohio, by R. Thomas Homan, 
its City Manager, and pursuant to Resolution __-__ adopted on 
_________________, has caused this instrument to be executed this 1st day 
of ______________ 2018, and GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. has caused this 
instrument to be executed on this ______ day of _________ 2018. 
 
    CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
    By: ___________________________ 
     R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
 
    GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

By: ___________________________ 



Henry C. Berns Jr., President and Chief 
Executive Officer 
GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

Approved as to form: 
 
By: _________________________________ 
      Darren Shulman, Delaware City Attorney 



EST 1808

CITY OF

DELAWARE

INCENTIVES APPLICATION

1. a. Name of property owner, home or main office address, contact person, and
telephone number (attach additional pages if multiple enterprise participants).

Enterprise Name: Guild Associates, INC Contact Person: Mike Freeburn
Address: 5750 Shier Rings Rd, D u b l i n , OH 43016
Telephone Number: 614-798-8215

b. Project site: 105 Innovation Ct, Delaware, Ohio 43015
Contact Person: John Lewis
Address: 1036 Hills Miller Rd., Delaware, OH 43015
Telephone Number: 740-815-0454
Date: 3/27/2018

2. a. Nature of commercial/industrial activity (manufacturing, warehousing, wholesale or
retail stores, or other) to be conducted at the site. Manufacturing

b. List primary 6 digit North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) #
Business may list other relevant SIC numbers. #325998

c. If a consolidation, what are the components of the consolidation? (must itemize the
location, assets, and employment positions to be transferred: N/A

d. Form of business of enterprise (corporation, partnership, proprietorship, or other).
Corporation

3. Name of principal owner(s) or officers of the business.
Henry Berns, President, Guild Associates Inc.

4. a. State the enterprise's current employment level at the proposed project site:
Current Employment Level = 0
May 2018 - December 2018 = 10
Employment Level 2019 = 19
Employment Level 2020 = 25

b. Will the project involve the relocation of employment positions or assets from one Ohio
location to another? Yes
c. If yes, state the locations from which employment positions or assets will be relocated
and the location to where the employment positions or assets will be located:
Guild HQ in Dublin, OH will move 3 Full Time Positions in Facility Maintenance, Chem

CITY HALL — I SOUTH SANOUSKY STREET — DELAWARE, OHIO 43013

cue* www.cietawareQliis.net



Engineering Support, Quality Assurance Support to the new Mfg. facility in Delaware.

d. State the enterprise's current employment level in Ohio (itemized for full and part-time
and permanent and temporary employees): Guild Associates Inc. currently has 67 Full
Time employees and 3 Part Time Employees working in Dublin, OH.

e. State the enterprise's current employment level for each facility to be affected by the
relocation of employment positions or assets:
Currently Guild Associates Inc. has 67 FT employees in Dublin, OH. 3 of which would be
relocating to the Manufacturing facility in Delaware, OH.

f. What is the projected impact of the relocation, detailing the number and type of
employees and/or assets to be relocated?

3 Full Time Guild Employees would be relocated to Delaware Facility.
5. Does the Property Owner owe:

a. Any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of the state?
Yes_ No_X_

b. Any monies to the State or a state agency for the administration or enforcement of any
environmental laws of the State? Yes No_X_

c. Any other moneys to the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that
are past due, whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not?
Yes_ No _X_

d. If yes to any of the above, please provide details of each instance including but not
limited to the location, amounts and/or case identification numbers (add additional
sheets).
6. Project Description: Chemical Manufacturing and Media Processing Facility
7. Project will begin June 1, 2018 and be completed June 1, 2023 provided a tax
exemption is provided.

8. a. Estimate the number of new employees the property owner will cause to be created at
the facility that is the project site (job creation projection must be itemized by the name of
the employer, full and part-time and permanent and temporary):

Guild Associates Inc. intends to hire 25 new jobs in Delaware.
b. State the time frame of this projected hiring: In the next 3 yrs.

c. State proposed schedule for hiring (itemize by full and part-time and permanent and
temporary employees): 2018 Intend to hire 10 Full Time Positions

2019 Intend to hire 9 Full Time Positions
2020 Intend to Hire 6 Full Time positions

CITY HALL — 1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET — DELAWARE, OHIO 43015

cue* www.MawareoUo.net



9. a. Estimate the amount of annual payroll such new employees will add $ (new
annual payroll must be itemized by full- and part-time and permanent and temporary new
employees). 2018 Payroll $707,200.00

2019 Payroll $1,343,680.00
2020 Payroll $1,768,000.00

b. Indicate separately the amount of existing annual payroll relating to any job retention
claim resulting from the project: $ 212,160.00

10. An estimate of the amount to be invested by the enterprise to establish, expand,
renovate or occupy a facility:

A. Acquisition of Buildings: $
B. Additions/New Construction: $
C. Improvements to existing buildings: $
D. Machinery & Equipment: $
E. Furniture & Fixtures: $
F. Inventory: $

N/A
N/A
$236,300
1.5 Million
200,000
Range ($100K-$2 Million)

Total New Project Investment: $2,000,000.00

11. a. Business requests the following incentives:
In order to fill the required gap in expense verses benefit, we request a Performance Based

Economic Development Incentive to assist with electrical upgrades to 480V and 1,600A, as well as an
immediate increase to 100% for the remainder of the 15 year term on the CRA.

b. Business's reasons for requesting incentives (be quantitatively specific as possible):

The electrical upgrades were unexpected but necessary for our processes. The facility in
Delaware will not be competitive with other communities visited without these incentives.

Submission of this application expressly authorizes (name of local jurisdiction) to contact
the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency to confirm statements contained within this
application including item# 5 and to review applicable confidential records. As part of this
application, the property owner may also be required to directly request from the Ohio
Department of Taxation, or complete a waiver form allowing the Department of Taxation to
release specific tax records to the local jurisdiction considering the request. (The Applicant
agrees to supply additional information upon request.)

CITY HALL — 1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET — DELAWARE, OHIO 43015

CUCK www.ctetawareohip.net



The A p p l i c a n t a f f i rmat ive ly covenants tha t the i n f o r m a t i o n contained in and s u b m i t t e d
wi th th i s app l i ca t i on is complete and correct and is aware of the ORC Sections 9.66(C)(1J
and 2921.13(D)(1) penal t ies for fa ls i f ica t ion which could resu l t in the fo r f e i t u re of all
c u r r e n t and f u t u r e economic development assistance benef i ts as well as a f ine of not more
t h a n $1,000 and/or a term of impr i sonmen t of not more than six months.

N a m e of Proper ty .Owner Symmetry II, LLC Date 3/27/2018

-•\ ' / \ f—•Signature . ^--/ v- /—*~~-<-~.̂  (^
Typed Name and Title: Henry Berns, President
G u i l d Associates Inc.

* A copy of this proposal must be forwarded by the local governments to the affected Board
of E d u c a t i o n a long wi th not ice of the meeting date on which the local government w i l l
review the proposal. Notice must be given a m i n i m u m of fourteen (14) days prior to the
scheduled meet ing to p e r m i t the Board of Education to appear and/or comment before the
legislative authorit ies considering the request.

** Attach to F ina l Incentives Agreements as Exhibit A

CITY HALL — 1 SOUTH SANDUSEf STREET — DELAWARE, OHIO 43015

cucicwHW.de/aworeoWanet



0 150 30075
ft

Delaware County Auditor
George Kaitsa

Information contained within this map may be used to generally locate, identify and inventory land parcels within Delaware County. 
Delaware County cannot warrant or guarantee the information contained herein, including, but not limited to its accuracy 

or  completeness. The map parcel l ines shown are approximate and this information cannot be constructed or used as a "legal description" of a parcel.
Flood Plain information is obtained from FEMA and is administered by the Delaware County Building Department (740-833-2201).

Please report any errors or omissions to the Delaware County Auditor's office at delcogis@co.delaware.oh.us.
Prepared by: Delaware County Auditor's GIS Office

/
Guild Associates - Symmetry II

Printed o n 5/1/2018



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  14    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-39    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
   
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2018 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO 
PROVIDE FUNDING FOR A PERFORMANCE BASED ECONOMIC INCENTIVE 
GRANT TO GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. TO ASSIST IN UPGRADING ELECTRICAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE THAT WILL ALLOW THE COMPANY TO OCCUPY A PORTION 
OF THE SYMMETRY II BUILDING AT 105 INNOVATION COURT AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
We are requesting City Council’s approval to increase the General Fund 
Economic Development Line Item 709-0709-5230 by $10,000 to provide for a 
$10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant for GUILD ASSOCIATES, 
INC. that was passed by Ordinance No. 18-38 for electrical upgrades necessary 
for the company to occupy a large portion of the Symmetry II building at 105 
Innovation Court. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Our success in attracting GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC. would allow the City to 
obtain an additional 25 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs with a $1,768,000 payroll 
in a three-year time period (Year 1 – 10 FTEs with $707,200 payroll; Year 2 – 19 
FTEs with $1,343,680 payroll; Year 3 – 25 FTEs with $1,768,000 payroll). In 
years 1 and 2 of the agreement, 100% of the 1% general fund income tax 
generated by the payroll on the PROJECT for a total of $20,508.80 will be 



dispersed into the Development Reserve Fund to reimburse the fund for this 
agreement. In years 3 to 7, 25% of the new income taxes will go to the 
Development Reserve Fund to generate future Economic Development incentive 
investments. 
 
Based on GUILD ASSOCIATES INC’s job and payroll creation commitments 
outlined above, we are proposing the following incentives. 
  
Summary of Incentives: 
 
• Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant – Based on the creation of 
25 FTEs with $1,768,000 in new annual payroll, the City of Delaware will pay 
up to $10,000 towards needed electrical upgrades at 105 Innovation Court. The 
funds will be directly paid to GUILD AND ASSOCIATES INC or their landlord as 
a reimbursement after the company invoices the city for the funds and provides 
copies of receipts totaling $10,000 or greater. 
 
A supplemental appropriation of the 2018 Budget will be needed to authorize the 
increase to the 2018 Budget appropriated the funds for the intended purpose. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
$10,000 from the General Fund to be allocated to General Administration – 
Economic Development (709-0709-5230).  
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
N/A 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-39 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 2018 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
FUNDING FOR A PERFORMANCE BASED ECONOMIC 
INCENTIVE GRANT TO GUILD ASSOCIATES, INC.  TO 
ASSIST IN UPGRADING ELECTRICAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE THAT WILL ALLOW THE COMPANY 
TO OCCUPY A PORTION OF THE SYMMETRY II 
BUILDING AT 105 INNOVATION COURT AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware established an economic 
development fund to attract, incentivize and assist high return on investment 
projects in the City of Delaware; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware passed ordinance 18-__ 
providing a $10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant to GUILD 
ASSOCIATES, INC. to assist the company with electrical upgrades necessary for 
them to occupy the Symmetry II building at 105 Innovation Court; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the adopted 2018 Budget did not include specifically 
appropriating this $10,000 Performance Based Economic Incentive Grant from 
the General Fund; and 
 

WHEREAS, a supplemental appropriation to the 2018 Budget will be 
needed to authorize the increase to the 2018 Budget appropriated the funds for 
the intended purpose. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
  

SECTION 1.  That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the General Fund $10,000 increasing the following account: 

 
   General Administration 

  Economic Development (709-0709-5230)     $10,000 
 
   SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.  
 



SECTION 3. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby declared to 
be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public peace, safety, 
health and welfare of the City, and is necessary to finalize negotiations so that 
construction may begin without the applicant risking the loss of the incentive, 
and as such will be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  15    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-40    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT 
AND SCHOOL COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER, 
OLENTANGY LOCAL SCHOOLS, DELAWARE AREA CAREER CENTER AND THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE FOR INVESTMENT IN REAL PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS ON A NEW 
BUILD ON SLACK ROAD, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
American Electric Power (AEP) is a utility company that serves the City of Delaware. 
AEP outgrew their current service station on London Road and wants to build a new 
54,000 sq. ft. service station on property they own on Slack Rd.  This CRA will impact 
the building costs and also keeps the City of Delaware competitive as they have 
property in Sunbury that they could use for the service station. This project will add 9 
full-time employees (FTEs), or $456,412 in new payroll, in addition to the retention of 
24 FTEs with $1,742,910 in payroll. 
 
Due to the timing of the project and their desire to begin construction on the building, 
we are seeking that this incentive is passed as an emergency. 
 
 
 
  



 
 

Project AEP 2018 New Build 
  

2/14/2018 
Address/Parcel 

Numbers 
Project 
Acres 

    
Slack Rd. New 

Projections 
     

Employees (New) 
 

9 
Per CRA 
application 

  
Employees (Retained) 

 
24 

Per CRA 
application 

  
Payroll (New) 

 
$456,412 

Per CRA 
application 

  
Payroll (Retained) 

 
$1,742,910 

Per CRA 
application 

  1.85% Muni Taxes (new) 
 

$8,443.62 per year 
  1.85% Muni Taxes (retained) 

 
$32,243.84 per year 

  50% of Muni Taxes (over $1 
million new taxes) 

 
$0 per year DOES NOT APPLY 

 
Real Property Investment 

 
$11,008,500  

Per CRA 
application 

  New Building Construction 
 

$9,901,500  
   Renovation Investment 

 
$0  

   Land (not abateable) 
 

$0  
   Personal Property 

Investment 
 

$1,107,000  
Per CRA 
application 

  
F&F 

 
$832,000  

Personal 
Property 

  
M&E 

 
$0  

Personal 
Property 

  
Inventory 

 
$275,000 

Personal 
Property 

   
 
Proposed Incentives: 

  
 

 
• 100%/15 year CRA with  
• 30% School Pilot Payments to Schools 

Project Annual Gross Value of 
100% Abatement $260,691.67  
Project 15-Year Gross Value of 
Abatement $ 3,910,375.05 
30% School Pilot Per Year $62,224.68  
30% School Pilot After 15 years $933,370.20  
Net Abatement Value $ 2,977,004.85 
Incentives as a % of Total Project 
Investment 27% 
 
 
 
 
  



Economic Development Incentive Policy Analysis: 
 
These cells will be colored GREEN if the criteria is met or RED if the criteria is not 
met: 
 
Project is for a target industry Yes Utilities 
Project Hires at Greater than LMI* 
average wage 

Yes $50,712.44/year 

Project has a 25% or Greater ROI for 
City 

No  

City ROI -52.21% From NEW (9 in 3 years) and RETAINED (24);  
-37.58% from NEW (24 in 10 years) and 
RETAINED (24)  

Project has a 30% or Greater ROI for 
School 

No   

School ROI 30%  
Value of Project Beyond the Analysis  AEP has been a tremendous Economic 

Development partner to the City of Delaware. In 
fact, they were the entity that established our 
legacy Pittsburgh Dr. industrial park in the 
1960s. By retaining and growing their service 
center, we also are growing an already strong 
relationship that leads to other investment in 
our community. 

*LMI (Low to Moderate Income) = $39,000/year per single person household 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Tax Incentive Review Council, 2/14/18 
VOTE: Approval  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
COST: N/A 
FUND SOURCES: N/A 
BUDGETED: NO 
 
DEPARTMENTS IMPACTED: Economic Development 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
CRA School Notification Letters 
Incentives Application 



CRA Agreement 
School Compensation Agreement 
Map Exhibit of Building Location 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-40 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMMUNITY 
REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT AND SCHOOL 
COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH AMERICAN 
ELECTRIC POWER, OLENTANGY LOCAL SCHOOLS, 
DELAWARE AREA CAREER CENTER AND THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE. FOR INVESTMENT IN REAL PROPERTY 
IMPROVEMENTS ON A NEW BUILD ON SLACK ROAD, AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
  

 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has encouraged development of and 
investment in real property in the area designated as Community Reinvestment 
Area 141-1135-1 pursuant to ORC 3735; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware by Resolution Number 01-52, resolved 
to review and approve all Community Reinvestment Area Agreements which 
meet the statutory guidelines; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware partners with impacted school districts 
to ensure mutual benefit from economic development projects; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF DELAWARE, 
DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO, that: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Community Reinvestment Area Agreement by and 
between the City of Delaware and American Electric Power meets all of the 
guidelines established by the State of Ohio and the City of Delaware, and the 
same is hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The School Compensation Agreement by and between the 
City of Delaware, Delaware City School District, Delaware Area Career Center, 
and American Electric Power meets all of the school compensation guidelines 
established by the State of Ohio and the City of Delaware, and the same is 
hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 3.  That the City Council of the City of Delaware hereby 
authorizes the execution of said agreements by the City Manager to implement 
the Community Reinvestment Area Program and School Compensation 
Agreement for this project. 
 
 SECTION 4.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 



 2 

formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 SECTION 5. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public 
peace, safety, health and welfare of the City, and is necessary to finalize 
negotiations so that construction may begin without the applicant risking the 
loss of the incentive, and as such will be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE:  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
  



  

 
 

 
 
 
February 23, 2018 
  
Mary Beth Freeman 
Superintendent 
Delaware Area Career Center 
4565 Columbus Pike 
Delaware, OH 43015 
 
Mark Raiff 
Superintendent 
Olentangy Local School District 
7840 Graphics Way  
Lewis Center, OH 43035 
 
 
RE: American Electric Power Community Reinvestment Area Request for Tax Incentives 
 
Dear Superintendents Raiff and Freeman: 
 
In an attempt to retain and grow American Electric Power in the City of Delaware, the City of Delaware’s 
Tax Incentive Negotiation Committee, that includes the superintendents and treasurers from the 
impacted school districts, negotiated a 100% for 15 year CRA tax abatement for their project to be 
located on parcel 41924001051000 on Slack Rd. As part of their CRA abatement, AEP has agreed to an 
annual payment equal to 30% of what the school districts normally would have received without the 
abatement. The total of payments to both Delaware City Schools and Delaware Area Career Center 
would be $62,224.68/year for a total of $933,370.20 in fifteen years. 
 
All incentives are based on AEP’s commitments of the creation of 9 new full-time jobs with a payroll 
minimum of $456,412 within 3 years of the completion of your project, and the retention of their 
existing 24 full-time jobs with a minimum payroll of $1,742,910 in the City of Delaware from their 
previous expansion. A copy of their application for tax incentives and commitment letter is attached.  
 
CRA (ORC 3735.65-70) guidelines require that Boards of Education be informed of amendments, notice 
requirements, review rights, meeting requests, revenue sharing requirements, and/or program 
participation. Since the CRA legislation and company agreements contain many legal requirements, you 
may want to review Ohio Revised Code references (please see: 
http://onlinedocs.andersonpublishing.com/). 
  
 
 



 

 
The City of Delaware is requesting a waiver of the required 45 business day notice period so that 
Delaware City Council will be able to consider these requests at our regularly scheduled Council meeting 
on March 12, 2018, held at Delaware City Hall, 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, at 7:00 P.M.  A 
second reading and public hearing should be scheduled for March 26, 2018, but may not be needed if 
Council chooses to take action on the first reading for economic development purposes. School Board 
Members, staff and the public are welcome to attend these meetings.  Please let me know if you require 
any further assistance. I can be reached at 740.203.1016 or shughes@delawareohio.net. Please email 
me with confirmation of receipt of this notification so that I can send it with our petition to the Ohio 
Development Services Agency. 
 
Yours Sincerely, 
Sean Hughes 
Economic Development Director 
 
xc: Honorable George Kaitsa, Auditor 

R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
Dean Stelzer Finance Director 
Emily Hatfield, Treasurer, Olentangy Local School District 
Chris Bell, Treasurer, Delaware Area Career Center 

  
Attached: 
1. ORC 3735.671 
2. AEP application for tax incentives 
3. AEP incentives letter of intent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:shughes@delawareohio.net


 

 

3735.671 Written agreement where commercial or industrial property is to be exempted. 

(A) If construction or remodeling of commercial or industrial property is to be exempted from taxation 
pursuant to section 3735.67 of the Revised Code, the legislative authority and the owner of the property, 
prior to the commencement of construction or remodeling, shall enter into a written agreement, binding 
on both parties for a period of time that does not end prior to the end of the period of the exemption, 
that includes all of the information and statements prescribed by this section. Agreements may include 
terms not prescribed by this section, but such terms shall in no way derogate from the information and 
statements prescribed by this section. 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in division (A)(2) or (3) of this section, an agreement entered into under 
this section shall not be approved by the legislative authority unless the board of education of the city, 
local, or exempted village school district within the territory of which the property is or will be located 
approves the agreement. For the purpose of obtaining such approval, the legislative authority shall certify 
a copy of the agreement to the board of education not later than forty-five days prior to approving the 
agreement, excluding Saturday, Sunday, and a legal holiday as defined in section 1.14 of the Revised Code. 
The board of education, by resolution adopted by a majority of the board, shall approve or disapprove 
the agreement and certify a copy of the resolution to the legislative authority not later than fourteen days 
prior to the date stipulated by the legislative authority as the date upon which approval of the agreement 
is to be formally considered by the legislative authority. The board of education may include in the 
resolution conditions under which the board would approve the agreement. The legislative authority may 
approve an agreement at any time after the board of education certifies its resolution approving the 
agreement to the legislative authority, or, if the board approves the agreement conditionally, at any time 
after the conditions are agreed to by the board and the legislative authority. 

(2) Approval of an agreement by the board of education is not required under division (A)(1) of this section 
if, for each tax year the real property is exempted from taxation, the sum of the following quantities, as 
estimated at or prior to the time the agreement is formally approved by the legislative authority, equals 
or exceeds fifty per cent of the amount of taxes, as estimated at or prior to that time, that would have 
been charged and payable that year upon the real property had that property not been exempted from 
taxation: 

(a) The amount of taxes charged and payable on any portion of the assessed valuation of the new 
structure or remodeling that will not be exempted from taxation under the agreement; 

(b) The amount of taxes charged and payable on tangible personal property located on the premises of 
the new structure or of the structure to be remodeled under the agreement, whether payable by the 
owner of the structure or by a related member, as defined in section 5733.042 of the Revised Code 
without regard to division (B) of that section. 

(c) The amount of any cash payment by the owner of the new structure or structure to be remodeled to 
the school district, the dollar value, as mutually agreed to by the owner and the board of education, of 
any property or services provided by the owner of the property to the school district, whether by gift, 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.67
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/gp1.14
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5733.042


 

loan, or otherwise, and any payment by the legislative authority to the school district pursuant to 
section 5709.82 of the Revised Code. 

The estimates of quantities used for purposes of division (A)(2) of this section shall be estimated by the 
legislative authority. The legislative authority shall certify to the board of education that the estimates 
have been made in good faith. Departures of the actual quantities from the estimates subsequent to 
approval of the agreement by the board of education do not invalidate the agreement. 

(3) If a board of education has adopted a resolution waiving its right to approve agreements and the 
resolution remains in effect, approval of an agreement by the board is not required under this division. If 
a board of education has adopted a resolution allowing a legislative authority to deliver the notice 
required under this division fewer than forty-five business days prior to the legislative authority's 
execution of the agreement, the legislative authority shall deliver the notice to the board not later than 
the number of days prior to such execution as prescribed by the board in its resolution. If a board of 
education adopts a resolution waiving its right to approve agreements or shortening the notification 
period, the board shall certify a copy of the resolution to the legislative authority. If the board of education 
rescinds such a resolution, it shall certify notice of the rescission to the legislative authority. 

(B) Each agreement shall include the following information: 

(1) The names of all parties to the agreement; 

(2) A description of the remodeling or construction, whether or not to be exempted from taxation, 
including existing or new structure size and cost thereof; the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, 
and fixtures, including an itemization of the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures used 
at another location in this state prior to the agreement and relocated or to be relocated from that location 
to the property, and the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures at the facility prior to the 
execution of the agreement; the value of inventory at the property, including an itemization of the value 
of inventory held at another location in this state prior to the agreement and relocated or to be relocated 
from that location to the property, and the value of inventory held at the property prior to the execution 
of the agreement; 

(3) The scheduled starting and completion dates of remodeling or construction of real property or of 
investments made in machinery, equipment, furniture, fixtures, and inventory; 

(4) Estimates of the number of employee positions to be created each year of the agreement and of the 
number of employee positions retained by the owner due to the remodeling or construction, itemized as 
to the number of full-time, part-time, permanent, and temporary positions; 

(5) Estimates of the dollar amount of payroll attributable to the positions set forth in division (B)(4) of this 
section, similarly itemized; 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.82


 

 

(6) The number of employee positions, if any, at the property and at any other location in this state at the 
time the agreement is executed, itemized as to the number of full-time, part-time, permanent, and 
temporary positions. 

(C) Each agreement shall set forth the following information and incorporate the following statements: 

(1) A description of real property to be exempted from taxation under the agreement, the percentage of 
the assessed valuation of the real property exempted from taxation, and the period for which the 
exemption is granted, accompanied by the statement: "The exemption commences the first year for which 
the real property would first be taxable were that property not exempted from taxation. No exemption 
shall commence after .......... (insert date) nor extend beyond .......... (insert date)." 

(2) ".......... (insert name of owner) shall pay such real property taxes as are not exempted under this 
agreement and are charged against such property and shall file all tax reports and returns as required by 
law. If .......... (insert name of owner) fails to pay such taxes or file such returns and reports, exemptions 
from taxation granted under this agreement are rescinded beginning with the year for which such taxes 
are charged or such reports or returns are required to be filed and thereafter." 

(3) ".......... (insert name of owner) hereby certifies that at the time this agreement is executed, .......... 
(insert name of owner) does not owe any delinquent real or tangible personal property taxes to any taxing 
authority of the State of Ohio, and does not owe delinquent taxes for which .......... (insert name of owner) 
is liable under Chapter 5733., 5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 5747., or 5753. of the Ohio Revised Code, or, if 
such delinquent taxes are owed, .......... (insert name of owner) currently is paying the delinquent taxes 
pursuant to an undertaking enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or instrumentality thereof, has 
filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 101 , et seq., or such a petition has been filed against 
.......... (insert name of owner). For the purposes of this certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that 
remain unpaid on the latest day prescribed for payment without penalty under the chapter of the Revised 
Code governing payment of those taxes." 

(4) ".......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) shall perform such acts as are reasonably 
necessary or appropriate to effect, claim, reserve, and maintain exemptions from taxation granted under 
this agreement including, without limitation, joining in the execution of all documentation and providing 
any necessary certificates required in connection with such exemptions." 

(5) "If for any reason .......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) revokes the designation of 
the area, entitlements granted under this agreement shall continue for the number of years specified 
under this agreement, unless .......... (insert name of owner) materially fails to fulfill its obligations under 
this agreement and ................... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) terminates or modifies 
the exemptions from taxation pursuant to this agreement." 

(6) "If .......... (insert name of owner) materially fails to fulfill its obligations under this agreement, or if 
.......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) determines that the certification as to delinquent 
taxes required by this agreement is fraudulent, .......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) 
may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement." 



 

(7) ".......... (insert name of owner) shall provide to the proper tax incentive review council any information 
reasonably required by the council to evaluate the applicant's compliance with the agreement, including 
returns filed pursuant to section 5711.02 of the Ohio Revised Code if requested by the council." 

(8) "This agreement is not transferable or assignable without the express, written approval of .......... 
(insert name of municipal corporation or county)." 

(9) "Exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement shall be revoked if it is determined that 
........... (insert name of owner), any successor to that person, or any related member (as those terms are 
defined in division (E) of section 3735.671 of the Ohio Revised Code) has violated the prohibition against 
entering into this agreement under division (E) of section 3735.671 or section 5709.62 or 5709.63 of the 
Ohio Revised Code prior to the time prescribed by that division or either of those sections." 

(10) ".......... (insert name of owner) and ........... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) 
acknowledge that this agreement must be approved by formal action of the legislative authority of .......... 
(insert name of municipal corporation or county) as a condition for the agreement to take effect. This 
agreement takes effect upon such approval." 

The statement described in division (C)(6) of this section may include the following statement, appended 
at the end of the statement: ", and may require the repayment of the amount of taxes that would have 
been payable had the property not been exempted from taxation under this agreement." If the agreement 
includes a statement requiring repayment of exempted taxes, it also may authorize the legislative 
authority to secure repayment of such taxes by a lien on the exempted property in the amount required 
to be repaid. Such a lien shall attach, and may be perfected, collected, and enforced, in the same manner 
as a mortgage lien on real property, and shall otherwise have the same force and effect as a mortgage 
lien on real property. 

(D) Except as otherwise provided in this division, an agreement entered into under this section shall 
require that the owner pay an annual fee equal to the greater of one per cent of the amount of taxes 
exempted under the agreement or five hundred dollars; provided, however, that if the value of the 
incentives exceeds two hundred fifty thousand dollars, the fee shall not exceed two thousand five 
hundred dollars. The fee shall be payable to the legislative authority once per year for each year the 
agreement is effective on the days and in the form specified in the agreement. Fees paid shall be deposited 
in a special fund created for such purpose by the legislative authority and shall be used by the legislative 
authority exclusively for the purpose of complying with section 3735.672 of the Revised Code and by the 
tax incentive review council created under section 5709.85 of the Revised Code exclusively for the 
purposes of performing the duties prescribed under that section. The legislative authority may waive or 
reduce the amount of the fee, but such waiver or reduction does not affect the obligations of the 
legislative authority or the tax incentive review council to comply with section3735.672 or 5709.85 of the 
Revised Code. 

(E) If any person that is party to an agreement granting an exemption from taxation discontinues 
operations at the structure to which that exemption applies prior to the expiration of the term of the 
agreement, that person, any successor to that person, and any related member shall not enter into an 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5711.02
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.62
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.63
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.672
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.85
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.672
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.85


 

 

agreement under this section or section 5709.62 , 5709.63 , or 5709.632 of the Revised Code, and no 
legislative authority shall enter into such an agreement with such a person, successor, or related member, 
prior to the expiration of five years after the discontinuation of operations. As used in this division, 
"successor" means a person to which the assets or equity of another person has been transferred, which 
transfer resulted in the full or partial nonrecognition of gain or loss, or resulted in a carryover basis, both 
as determined by rule adopted by the tax commissioner. "Related member" has the same meaning as 
defined in section 5733.042 of the Revised Code without regard to division (B) of that section. 

The director of development shall review all agreements submitted to the director under division (F) of 
this section for the purpose of enforcing this division. If the director determines there has been a violation 
of this division, the director shall notify the legislative authority of such violation, and the legislative 
authority immediately shall revoke the exemption granted under the agreement. 

(F) When an agreement is entered into under this section, the legislative authority authorizing the 
agreement shall forward a copy of the agreement to the director of development within fifteen days after 
the agreement is entered into. 

Effective Date: 09-26-2003; 03-23-2005 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.62
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.63
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.632
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5733.042


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



  

 
 

 
 

INCENTIVES APPLICATION 
 
1.   a. Name of property owner, home or main office address, contact person, and 
telephone number (attach additional pages if multiple enterprise participants).  
 

Enterprise Name:  Ohio Power Company  Contact Person:  Selwyn Dias 
 

Address:  700 Morrison Rd, Gahanna, OH 43230 Telephone Number:614/883- 6600 
 

b. Project site:  
Contact Person:  Ashley Trepal 
 
Address:  1 Riverside Plaza, Columbus, OH 43215  

       Telephone 
Number:614/716-1641 

 
 
Date:  December 4, 2017January 24, 2018 

 
2.  a. Nature of commercial/industrial activity (manufacturing, warehousing, wholesale or 
retail stores, or other) to be conducted at the site.  
 

• Electric utility service center 
 
b. List primary 6 digit North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) #       
Business may list other relevant SIC numbers:   
 

• 221122 
 
c. If a consolidation, what are the components of the consolidation? (must itemize the 
location, assets, and employment positions to be transferred:  
 
d. Form of business of enterprise (corporation, partnership, proprietorship, or other). 
 

• Corporation 
 
3.  Name of principal owner(s) or officers of the business.  
 

• Julie Sloat, President & COO 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  1.25"



 

• Selwyn J. Dias, Vice President, Distribution Operations 
 
4.  a. State the enterprise's current employment level at the proposed project site: 
 

• Proposed project site is a greenfield site. 
 
b. Will the project involve the relocation of employment positions or assets from one Ohio 
location to another?  
 

• Yes   
 
c. If yes, state the locations from which employment positions or assets will be relocated 
and the location to where the employment positions or assets will be located:  
 

• From:  311 London Road, Delaware, Ohio 
• To:  Slack Road, Delaware, Ohio 

 
d. State the enterprise's current employment level in Ohio (itemized for full and part-time 
and permanent and temporary employees):  
 

• AEP Ohio Employees:  1,551 
 
e. State the enterprise's current employment level for each facility to be affected by the 
relocation of employment positions or assets:  
 

• 311 London Road:  24 full-time employees 
 
f. What is the projected impact of the relocation, detailing the number and type of 
employees and/or assets to be relocated? 
 

• 24 full-time employees relocated from 311 London Road to Slack Road 
• 24 new full-time employees added over time to Slack Road 

o Customer Services Account Rep 1 
o Distribution Line Coordinator 1 
o Technician    2  
o Radio (IT Support Tech)  1  
o Engineer    1  
o Line Supervisor   3  
o Line Mechanic (C)    7  
o Line Servicer    2  
o Meter Electrician (C)   2  
o Meter Specialist   2  
o Meter Reader    2  
o Total     24  



 

 

 
5.  Does the Property Owner owe:  
 
a.  Any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of the state?  

• No  
 
b. Any monies to the State or a state agency for the administration or enforcement of any 
environmental laws of the State?          
 

• No  
 
c.  Any other moneys to the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that 
are past due, whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not?  
 

• No    
 
d. If yes to any of the above, please provide details of each instance including but not 
limited to the location, amounts and/or case identification numbers (add additional 
sheets).  
 

• N/A 
 
6.  Project Description: The project will consist of a new 49,000 sq. ft. Distribution Service 
Center Building; a 4,000 sq. ft. detached trailer storage shed; staff/visitor parking spaces 
and secured company vehicle parking spaces; a vehicle fueling station; and up to 8 acres of 
gravel laydown yard.  The Service Center building will accommodate approximately 57 
FTEs.  The garage portion of the Service Center building will include truck bays 
accommodating up to 20 line trucks.  The facility will also include a 2-truck Fleet 
Maintenance garage.  A 49 (+/-) acre site currently owned by AEP on Slack Road in 
Delaware, OH is one of a number of sites identified for the location of the new Service 
Center pending utilities, environmental, geotechnical, and financial investigation. 
 
7.   Project will begin:  March, 2018 and be completed  May, 2019 provided a tax exemption 
is provided.  
 
8.  a. Estimate the number of new employees the property owner will cause to be created at 
the facility that is the project site (job creation projection must be itemized by the name of 
the employer, full and part-time and permanent and temporary):  
 

o Customer Services Account Rep 1 AEP Ohio permanent FTE 
o Distribution Line Coordinator 1 AEP Ohio permanent FTE 
o Technician    2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Radio (IT Support Tech)  1 AEP Ohio permanent FTE 
o Engineer    1 AEP Ohio permanent FTE 



 

o Line Supervisor   3 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Line Mechanic (C)    7 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Line Servicer    2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Electrician (C)   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Specialist   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Reader    2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Total     24 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 

 
b. State the time frame of this projected hiring:             
 

• 10 years for total 24 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
 
• 1-3 years 9 of the total 24 new positions will be added, including: 

o Meter Electrician   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Specialist   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Reader    2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Crew Supervisor   1 AEP Ohio permanent FTE 
o Crew Mechanic   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 

 
c. State proposed schedule for hiring (itemize by full and part-time and permanent and 
temporary employees):  

• 1-3 years 9 of the total 24 new positions will be added, including: 
o Meter Electrician   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Specialist   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Meter Reader    2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
o Crew Supervisor   1 AEP Ohio permanent FTE 
o Crew Mechanic   2 AEP Ohio permanent FTEs 
 

9.  a. Estimate the amount of annual payroll such new employees will add $1,390,790             
(new annual payroll must be itemized by full- and part-time and permanent and temporary 
new employees).     
 

• 1-3 years:  $456,412 new annual payroll with be added with 9 new full-time, 
permanent employees. 

• 10 years:  $1,390,790 new annual payroll will be added with 24 new full-time, 
permanent employees. 

 
b. Indicate separately the amount of existing annual payroll relating to any job retention 
claim resulting from the project: $1,742,910             
 
10.  An estimate of the amount to be invested by the enterprise to establish, expand, 
renovate or occupy a facility:  

A.  Acquisition of Buildings:        $0.00          
B.  Additions/New Construction:       $9,901,500     

Formatted: Not Highlight



 

 

C.  Improvements to existing buildings:     $0.00          
D.  Machinery & Equipment:        $0.00    
E.  Furniture & Fixtures:          $832,000    
F.  Inventory:              $275,000   
 
Total New Project Investment:        $11,008,500 

 
11.  a. Business requests the following incentives: 
 

• 15-year, 75% Tax Abatement on Real and Personal Property 
 
b. Business's reasons for requesting incentives (be quantitatively specific as possible): 
 

• New Service Center to provide increased service to growing Delaware and Delaware 
County populations.   

• New capital investment with large up-front cost.   
• Other locations in Delaware County provide cost advantages.   
• Historically, City of Delaware has requested AEP Ohio keep this facility in the City. 
• AEP Ohio and affiliated AEP companies continue to pay full tax amount on facilities 

and equipment in the field, including substations, distribution and transmission 
equipment. 

• If located in Delaware, will retain and create combined payroll of $3,133,700, over 
$11,000,000 investment, and 48-57 jobs. 

• Keeps Service Center close to key customers and employers in the City of Delaware. 
 

 
Submission of this application expressly authorizes  (name of local jurisdiction)  to  contact 
the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency to confirm statements contained within  this 
application including item# 5 and to review applicable confidential records. As part of this 
application, the property owner may also be required to directly request from the Ohio 
Department of Taxation, or complete a waiver form allowing the Department of Taxation to 
release specific tax records to the local jurisdiction considering the request. (The Applicant 
agrees to supply additional information upon request.) 
 
The Applicant affirmatively covenants that the information contained in and submitted 
with this application is complete and correct and is aware of the ORC Sections 9.66(C)(1) 
and 2921.13(D)(1) penalties for falsification which could result in the forfeiture of all 
current and future economic development assistance benefits as well as a fine of not more 
than $1,000 and/or a term of imprisonment of not more than six months. 
 
Name of Property Owner:  Ohio Power Company  Date  
 
Signature         Typed  Name and Title:  



 

Selwyn J. Dias, Vice President, 
Distribution Operations  

 
* A copy of this proposal must be forwarded by the local governments to the affected Board 
of Education along with notice of the meeting date on which the local government will 
review the proposal.  Notice must be given a minimum of fourteen (14) days prior to the 
scheduled meeting to permit the Board of Education to appear and/or comment before the 
legislative authorities considering the request.  
 
** Attach to Final Incentives Agreements as Exhibit A  
 



 1 

School Compensation Agreement 
American Electric Power 

Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01 
 
This agreement between the City of Delaware, a municipal corporation, with 
its offices at 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015; Olentangy 
Local School District Board of Education, a public school district, with its 
principal offices at 7840 Graphics Way, Lewis Center, OH 43035; Delaware 
Area Career Center Board of Education, a public school district with its 
principal offices at 4565 Columbus Pike, Delaware, OH 43015, and American 
Electric Power, 700 Morrison Road, Gahanna, OH 43230 specifies the manner 
in which and procedures to be used pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 3735 
authorizing general compensation relating to the Community Reinvestment 
Area tax abatement for the construction of an expansion to their headquarters 
and manufacturing facility on Slack Rd., Delaware, Ohio 43015, Parcel 
41924001051000 in Delaware’s Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01. 
 
WHEREAS, the Community Reinvestment Program, pursuant to Chapter 3735 
of the Ohio Revised Code authorizes cities and counties to grant real property 
tax exemptions on eligible new investments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City Council of Delaware, Ohio, by Resolution 
No. 01-52, adopted July 23, 2001, designated the area as a “Community 
Reinvestment Area” pursuant to Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, effective September 4, 2001, the Director of Development of the 
State of Ohio determined that the aforementioned area designated in said 
Resolution No. 01-52 contains the characteristics set forth in Section 3735.66 
of the Ohio Revised Code and confirmed said area as Community Reinvestment 
Area #141-1135-01 under said Chapter 3735; and 
 
Whereas, effective November 26, 2001, a Delaware City School District Board of 
Education resolution authorized the Superintendent to act on its behalf to 
negotiate, approve, and define terms and conditions on any Tax Incentive 
Agreement; the minutes of the October 13, 2015 Tax Incentive Negotiating 
Committee document the Superintendent’s approval; and 
 
Whereas, effective April 15, 2004, a Delaware Area Career Center Board of 
Education resolution authorized the Superintendent to act on its behalf to 
negotiate, approve, and define terms and conditions on any Tax Incentive 
Agreement; the minutes of the January 9, 2018 Tax Incentive Negotiating 
Committee document the Superintendent’s approval; and 
 
Whereas, the City of Delaware within Oridinance Number __-__ adopted on 
____________, 2018, has acted pursuant to ORC 3735 to grant a tax exemption 



 2 

to American Electric Power and entered into a formal Community 
Reinvestment Area abatement agreement on _________, 2018; and 
 
Whereas, Item 5a of the Community Reinvestment Area Agreement relating to 
the aforementioned project requires compensation to the Delaware City School 
District and Delaware Area Career Center for the sole benefit of educational 
initiatives. 
 
Now therefore, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises, 
covenants, and agreements hereinafter set forth by the City of Delaware, 
Delaware City School District, Delaware Area Career Center, and American 
Electric Power agree as follows: 
 
Section 1. American Electric Power shall pay FIFTY-NINE THOUSAND, 
SEVEN HUNDRED FOUR DOLLARS AND FIFTY-EIGHT CENTS ($59,704.58) 
per year for fifteen (15) years to the Olentangy Local School District AND TWO 
THOUSAND, FIVE HUNDRED TWENTY DOLLARS AND TEN CENTS 
($2,520.10) per year for fifteen (15) years to the Delaware Area Career Center in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in Item 6a of the 
Community Reinvestment Area Agreement for the referenced project.  This 
payment shall be made upon receipt of invoices per the instructions set forth in 
Item 6a of the Community Reinvestment Area Agreement relating to the 
aforementioned project, and the first payment shall be due September 30, 2020 
and dispersed per Section 2 of this agreement. 
 
Section 2. The cash payments made by AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER to 
the Olentangy Local School District and Delaware Area Career Center satisfies 
ORC Section 5709.82(C)(2) (School Compensation Agreement is mutually 
acceptable) and shall be used for educational initiatives for the sole benefit of 
the Delaware City Schools and the Delaware Area Career Center, as follows: 
 
 a. Olentangy Local School District $59,704.58 
 b. Delaware Area Career Center  $2,520.10 
 c. Total      $62,224.68 
 
Section 3. This agreement may be amended or modified by the parties, only in 
writing, signed by all parties to the agreement or by applicable law changes. 
 
Note: All parties agree that if Ohio tax reform results in no net tax 
incentive benefits (if the sum of tax incentives offered through the 
Community Reinvestment Area Agreement minus the school 
compensation payment is negative), AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER may 
request that the City of Delaware Tax Incentive Review Council 
recommend agreement modification or termination.  No School 
Compensation payment is required if there is no net tax benefit to 
AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER. 



 3 

 
Section 4. This agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding 
between the parties as to the subject matter contained herein and merges and 
supersedes all prior discussions, agreements, and undertakings of every kind 
between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this agreement. 
 
Section 5. All payments, certificates, reports, and notices which are required 
to or may be given pursuant to the provisions of this agreement shall be sent 
by regular mail, postage prepaid, and shall be deemed to have been given or 
delivered when so mailed to the following addresses: 
 

R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
City of Delaware 
1 South Sandusky Street 
Delaware, Ohio 43015 

 
     Paul A. Craft, PhD, Superintendent 
     Delaware City School District 
     248 N. Washington Street 
     Delaware, Ohio 43015 
 
     Mary Beth Freeman, Superintendent 
     Delaware Area Career Center 
     4565 Columbus Pike 
     Delaware, Ohio 43015 
 
     Tim Wells, Manager, 
     Economic & Business Development 
     American Electric Power 
     700 Morrison Rd. 
     Gahanna, OH 43230 
 
 
Any party may change its contact or mailing address for receiving notices and 
reports by giving written notice of such change to the other parties. 
 
Section 6. The invalidity of any provision of this agreement shall not affect the 
other provisions of this agreement, and this agreement shall be construed in all 
respects as if any invalid portions were omitted. 
 
In witness whereof, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as 
of this __ day of _____ 2018. 
 
CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
          __________________________________________ 



 4 

           R. Thomas Homan 
 
 
DELAWARE CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
        
  Paul A. Craft, Superintendent 
 
 
DELAWARE AREA CAREER CENTER 
 
        
  Mary Beth Freeman, Superintendent 
 
 
AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER 
   
                  
 Tim Wells, Economic & Business Development Manager 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
By: _________________________________ 
      Darren Shulman, Delaware City Attorney 



COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT 
CITY OF DELAWARE and American Electric Power 

 
This agreement made and entered into by and between the City of Delaware, 
Ohio, a municipal government, with its main offices located at 1 South 
Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015 and American Electric Power, 311 
London Road, Delaware, Ohio 43015, WITNESSETH; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has encouraged the development of real 
property and the acquisition of personal property located in the area 
designated as Community Reinvestment Area 141-1135-01; and 
 
WHEREAS, American Electric Power desires to build a new 54,000 sq. ft. 
distribution service center at its currently owned land on Slack Road, Parcel 
41924001051000. This PROJECT will take place within the boundaries of the 
aforementioned Community Reinvestment Area provided that the appropriate 
development incentives are available to support the economic viability of said 
PROJECT; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware, Ohio, by Resolution No. 01-52 
adopted July 23, 2001, designated the area as a “Community Reinvestment 
Area” pursuant to Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, effective September 4, 2001, the Director of the Development 
Services Agency of the State of Ohio determined that the aforementioned area 
designated in said Resolution No. 01-52 contains the characteristics set forth 
in Section 3735.66 of the Ohio Revised Code and confirmed said area as 
Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01 under said Chapter 3735; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware, having the appropriate authority for the 
stated type of project desires to provide American Electric Power with 
incentives available for the development of the PROJECT in said Community 
Reinvestment Area under Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, American Electric Power has submitted an incentive application 
(herein attached as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference) to the City 
of Delaware (hereinafter referred to as "APPLICATION"); and 
 
WHEREAS, American Electric Power has remitted the required state 
application fee of $750.00 made payable to the Ohio Department of 
Development with the APPLICATION to be forwarded to said department with a 
copy of the final agreement; and 
 



2 
 

WHEREAS, the Tax Incentive Negotiating Committee of the City of Delaware 
has investigated the APPLICATION of American Electric Power, and has 
recommended the same to the Council of the City of Delaware on the basis that 
American Electric Power is qualified by financial responsibility and business 
experience to create and preserve employment opportunities in said 
Community Reinvestment Area and improve the economic climate of the City of 
Delaware; and 
 
WHEREAS, the project site as proposed by American Electric Power is located 
in the Olentangy Local School District and the Delaware Area Career Center 
(per the attached resolutions authorizing the superintendents to act on behalf 
of the board) has been notified in accordance with Section 5709.83 and been 
given a copy of the APPLICATION; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3735.67(A) and in conformance with the 
format required under Section 3735.671(B) of the Ohio Revised Code, the 
parties hereto desire to set forth their agreement with respect to matters 
hereinafter contained; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained and the benefit to be derived by the parties from the execution 
hereof, the parties herein agree as follows: 
 
1. American Electric Power shall construct a new 54,000 sq. ft. building 
onto the company’s land on Slack Road. 
 
The PROJECT will begin June 1, 2018 and all construction will be completed 
by December 31, 2018. Any changes to the beginning and completion dates 
must be agreed to by formal resolution and an amended agreement.  
 
2. American Electric Power shall create the equivalent of 9 new full-time 
equivalent (FTE) jobs at the Delaware facility. The job creation period begins 
December 31, 2018 and all jobs will be in place by December 31, 2021 (3 
years or 36 months after the completion of the PROJECT per ORC 3735).  
 
This increase in the number of new employees shall result in at least FOUR 
HUNDRED FIFTY-SIX THOUSAND, FOUR HUNDRED TWELVE DOLLARS 
($456,412) in total new annual payroll ($456,412 NEW FULL TIME 
PERMANENT PAYROLL) generated at the PROJECT site. 
 
3. As part of the expansion, American Electric Power also has committed 
to retaining their current 24 FTEs. Therefore, as part of this project, American 
Electric Power shall retain the 24 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees (for a 



3 
 

total of 33 FTEs) at American Electric Power’s Delaware facility until the 
expiration of this CRA agreement, December 31, 2033, with a minimum 
existing payroll of $1,742,910 in addition to the newly created $456,412 payroll 
from the new FTEs (for a total of $2,199,322 in payroll). American Electric 
Power also plans to commit to adding another 15 FTEs after their 3 year or 36 
month window of hiring. 
 
4. Based on new job and payroll creation levels, the City of Delaware 
estimates an annual new employee income tax revenue amount of $8,443.62 
($456,412 payroll times the current income tax rate of 1.85%) for the 
PROJECT.  If in any year after the first three year grace period of this 
Agreement the level of new payroll does not reach or falls below levels 
established by this Agreement, American Electric Power agrees to reimburse 
the City of Delaware for lost employee income taxes.  Should the City’s income 
tax rates change, the reimbursement will be adjusted accordingly.  
 
To the extent that American Electric Power substantially complies with the 
terms of this section 4 of this agreement, the company shall incur no income 
tax reimbursement penalty. 
 
5. American Electric Power shall provide to the proper Tax Incentive 
Review Council any information reasonably required by the council to evaluate 
the enterprise's compliance with the agreement, including returns filed 
pursuant to section 5711.02 and 5727.08 of the Ohio Revised Code if 
requested by the council (ORC3735.671C7). 
 
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 
 a. American Electric Power shall make the following payments 
totaling $933,370.22 to Olentangy Local Schools ($59,704.58) and Delaware 
Area Career Center  ($2,520.10) to benefit the districts’ educational initiatives. 
These payments shall be subject to the terms and conditions of a separate 
School Compensation Agreement between American Electric Power, 
Olentangy Local Schools, Delaware Area Career Center and the City of 
Delaware. Per this agreement, American Electric Power will make these 
payments directly to the school districts upon receipt of invoices from 
Olentangy Local Schools and Delaware Area Career Center for the amounts 
established in the School Compensation Agreement at the following times.  
 
School Compensation Payment # Payment Due Date      Total Amount 

 
Payment #1                        9/30/20          $62,224.68 
Payment #2                        9/30/21         $62,224.68 



4 
 

Payment #3                        9/30/22          $62,224.68 
Payment #4                        9/30/23          $62,224.68 
Payment #5                        9/30/24          $62,224.68 
Payment #6                        9/30/25          $62,224.68 
Payment #7                        9/30/26          $62,224.68 
Payment #8                       9/30/27          $62,224.68 
Payment #9                        9/30/28          $62,224.68 
Payment#10                       9/30/29         $62,224.68 
Payment#11    9/30/30   $62,224.68 
Payment#12    9/30/31   $62,224.68 
Payment#13    9/30/32   $62,224.68 
Payment#14    9/30/33   $62,224.68 
Payment#15    9/30/34   $62,224.68 
 
If Ohio tax law changes result in no net tax incentive benefits (tax 
incentives offered through this agreement minus the school 
compensation payment is negative), American Electric Power may request 
that the City of Delaware Tax Incentive Review Council modify or 
terminate this agreement. 

6. City of Delaware hereby grants American Electric Power a tax 
exemption for real property improvements made to the PROJECT site pursuant 
to Section 3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code and shall be for ten (10) years in 
the following amounts: 

Year of Tax Exemption  Tax Exemption Amount 
 
Year  1     100% 
Year  2    100% 
Year  3    100% 
Year  4    100% 
Year  5    100% 
Year  6    100% 
Year  7    100% 
Year  8    100% 
Year  9    100% 
Year 10    100% 
Year 11    100% 
Year 12    100% 
Year 13    100% 
Year 14    100% 
Year 15    100% 
 



5 
 

The exemption commences the first full taxable year the facility is 100% 
complete.  No exemption shall commence before January 1, 2019, nor extend 
beyond December 31, 2033.  Said exemption shall be based on the increase on 
the assessed value of real property attributed to the real property 
improvements at the PROJECT site.  American Electric Power must file the 
appropriate tax forms (DTE 23) with the County Auditor to effect and maintain 
the exemptions covered in the agreement. 
 
7. American Electric Power shall pay an annual fee equal to the greater of 
one percent of the dollar value of incentives offered under the agreement or five 
hundred dollars; provided, however, that if the value of the incentives exceeds 
two hundred fifty thousand dollars, the fee shall not exceed two thousand five 
hundred dollars.  
 
The fee shall be made payable to the City of Delaware once per year for each 
year the agreement is effective by December 31.  This fee shall be deposited in 
a special fund created for such purpose and shall be used exclusively for the 
purpose of complying with Section 5709.68 of the Ohio Revised Code and by 
the Tax Incentive Review Council created under Section 5709.85 of the Ohio 
Revised Code exclusively for the purposes of performing the duties prescribed 
under that section. 
 
8. Waiver Requirement (for jobs relocated within Ohio) 
If the Director of Development has issued a waiver under Section 5709.633 of 
the Ohio Revised Code as a condition for the agreement to be executed, the 
following applies: 

 
Continuation of this agreement is subject to the validity of the circumstances 
upon which American Electric Power applied for, and the Director of the Ohio 
Department of Development issued, the waiver pursuant to Section 5709.633 
of the Ohio Revised Code.  If, after formal approval of this agreement by the 
City of Delaware, the Director or the City of Delaware discovers that such a 
circumstance did not exist, American Electric Power shall be deemed to have 
materially failed to comply with this agreement.  The formal waiver document 
shall be incorporated as an exhibit to this agreement and specifies conditions 
enumerated in Section 5709.633 of the Ohio Revised Code upon which the 
waiver was issued.  
  
10. American Electric Power shall pay such real and tangible personal 
property taxes as are not exempted under this agreement and are charged 
against such property and shall file all tax reports and returns as required by 
law. If American Electric Power fails to pay such taxes or file such returns 
and reports, all incentives granted under this agreement are rescinded 



6 
 

beginning with the year for which such taxes are charged or such reports or 
returns are required to be filed and thereafter (ORC3735.671C2).  
 
11. City of Delaware shall perform such acts as are reasonably necessary or 
appropriate to effect, claim, reserve, and maintain exemptions from taxation 
granted under this agreement including, without limitation, joining in the 
execution of all documentation and providing any necessary certificates 
required in connection with such exemptions (ORC3735.671C4).  
 
12. If for any reason the Community Reinvestment Area designation expires, 
the Director of the Ohio Development Services Agency revokes certification of 
the area, or the City of Delaware revokes the designation of the area, 
entitlements granted under this agreement shall continue for the number of 
years specified under this agreement, unless American Electric Power 
materially fails to fulfill their obligations under this agreement and the City of 
Delaware terminates or modifies the exemptions from taxation granted under 
this agreement (ORC3735.671C5). 
 
13. If American Electric Power materially fails to fulfill their obligations 
under this agreement, or if the City of Delaware determines that the 
certification as to delinquent taxes required by this agreement is fraudulent, 
the City of Delaware may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation 
granted under this agreement and may require the repayment of the amount of 
taxes that would have been payable had the property not been exempted from 
taxation under this agreement.  
 
14. (a)  American Electric Power hereby certifies that at the time this 
agreement is executed, American Electric Power does not owe any delinquent 
real or tangible personal property taxes to any taxing authority of the State of 
Ohio, and does not owe delinquent taxes for which American Electric Power 
is liable under Chapter 5733., 5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 5747., or 5753. of 
the Ohio Revised Code, or, if such delinquent taxes are owed, American 
Electric Power currently is paying the delinquent taxes pursuant to an 
undertaking enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or instrumentality 
thereof, has filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 101, et seq., or 
such a petition has been filed against American Electric Power for the 
purposes of the certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that remain unpaid on 
the latest day prescribed for payment without penalty under the chapter of the 
Ohio Revised Code governing payment of those taxes. 
 
 
15. (a) American Electric Power affirmatively covenants that it does not 
owe: (1) any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of 



7 
 

the State; (2) any moneys to the State or a state agency for the administration 
or enforcement of any environmental laws of the State; and (3) any other 
moneys to the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that 
are past due, whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law 
or not. 
 
 (b) American Electric Power affirmatively covenants that it does not 
owe: (1) any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of 
the State; (2) any moneys to the State or a state agency for the administration 
or enforcement of any environmental laws of the State; and (3) any other 
moneys to the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that 
are past due, whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law 
or not.  
 
16. American Electric Power and the City of Delaware acknowledge that 
this agreement must be approved by formal action of the legislative authority of 
the City of Delaware and approval and execution of this agreement by 
American Electric Power as a condition for the agreement to take effect 
(ORC3735.671C10). 
 
17. The City of Delaware has developed a policy to ensure recipients of a 
Community Reinvestment Area tax benefits practice non-discriminating hiring 
in its operations.  By executing this agreement, American Electric Power is 
committing to following non-discriminating hiring practices acknowledging that 
no individual may be denied employment solely on the basis of race, religion, 
sex, disability, color, national origin, or ancestry. 
 
18. Exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement shall be revoked 
if it is determined that American Electric Power any successor property 
owner, or any related member (as those terms are defined in Division (E) of 
Section 3735.671 of the Ohio Revised Code) has violated the prohibition 
against entering into this agreement under Division (E) of Section 3735.671 or 
Section 5709.62 or 5709.63 of the Ohio Revised Code prior to the time 
prescribed by that division or either of those sections (ORC3735.671C9). 
 
19. In any three-year period after the first three years of the agreement 
during which this agreement is in effect, if the actual number of employee 
positions created or retained by American Electric Power is not equal to or 
greater than ninety percent of the number of employee positions estimated to 
be created or retained under this agreement, American Electric Power shall 
repay the amount of taxes on property that would have been payable had the 
property not been exempted from taxation under this agreement during that 



8 
 

three-year period.  In addition, the City of Delaware may terminate or modify 
the exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement. 
 
20. American Electric Power affirmatively covenants that they have made 
no false statements to the State or local political subdivision in the process of 
obtaining approval for the Community Reinvestment Area incentives.  If any 
representative of American Electric Power has knowingly made a false 
statement to the State or local political subdivision to obtain the Community 
Reinvestment Area incentives, American Electric Power shall be required to 
immediately return all benefits received under the Community Reinvestment 
Area Agreement pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 9.66 (C)(2) and shall be 
ineligible for any future economic development assistance from the State, any 
state agency or a political subdivision pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
9.66(C)(1).  Any person who provides a false statement to secure economic 
development assistance may be guilty of falsification, a misdemeanor of the 
first degree, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2921.13(A)(4), which is punishable 
by a fine of not more than $1,000 and/or a term of imprisonment of not more 
than six months. 
 
21. This agreement is not transferable or assignable without the express, 
written approval of the City of Delaware. 
 
22. American Electric Power acknowledges that if any person that is party 
to an agreement granting an exemption from taxation discontinues operations 
at the structure to which that exemption applies prior to the expiration of the 
term of the agreement, that person, any successor to that person, and any 
related member shall not enter into an agreement under this section or 
sections 5709.62, 5709.63, or 5709.632 of the Ohio Revised Code, and no 
legislative authority shall enter into such an agreement with such a person, 
successor, or related member, prior to the expiration of five years after  the 
discontinuation of operations.  As used in this division, ‘successor’ means a 
person to which the assets or equity of another person has been transferred, 
which transfer resulted in the full or partial non-recognition of gain or loss, or 
resulted in a carryover basis, both as determined by rule adopted by the tax 
commissioner.  ‘Related member’ has the same meaning as defined in section 
5733.042 of the Ohio Revised Code without regard to Division (B) of that 
section (ORC3735.671E). 
 
23. American Electric Power hereby represents that they have full 
authority to act, negotiate, and execute this agreement. 
  



9 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Delaware, Ohio, by R. Thomas Homan, its 
City Manager, and pursuant to Resolution __-__ adopted on _________________, 
has caused this instrument to be executed this ____ day of ______________ 
2018, and American Electric Power has caused this instrument to be 
executed on this ______ day of _________ 2018. 
 
    CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
 
    By: ___________________________ 
     R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
 
    American Electric Power 
 
 
    By: ___________________________ 

Timothy Wells, Manager,  
Economic & Business Development 

     American Electric Power 
 
     
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By: _________________________________ 
      Darren Shulman, Delaware City Attorney 



0 620 1,240310
ft

Delaware County Auditor
George Kaitsa

Information contained within this map may be used to generally locate, identify and inventory land parcels within Delaware County. 
Delaware County cannot warrant or guarantee the information contained herein, including, but not limited to its accuracy 

or  completeness. The map parcel l ines shown are approximate and this information cannot be constructed or used as a "legal description" of a parcel.
Flood Plain information is obtained from FEMA and is administered by the Delaware County Building Department (740-833-2201).

Please report any errors or omissions to the Delaware County Auditor's office at delcogis@co.delaware.oh.us.
Prepared by: Delaware County Auditor's GIS Office

/
AEP Parcel - 41924001051000

Printed o n 2/13/2018



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  16    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-41    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA 
AGREEMENT AND SCHOOL COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH 
ENGINEERED MATERIALS SYSTEMS, DELAWARE CITY SCHOOLS AND 
DELAWARE AREA CAREER CENTER FOR INVESTMENT IN REAL PROPERTY 
IMPROVEMENTS ON THEIR BUILDING AND PARCEL AT 101 INNOVATION 
COURT AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Engineered Materials Systems is a company that develops and manufactures adhesives 
and printed inks for the electronics and automotive industries. They occupied their new 
64,000 sq. ft. building at 101 Innovation Court after we worked to retain and grow them 
in the City. They are now growing, again, so they are in need to expand their facility by 
45,000 sq. ft. The new business could also go to one of three other Nagase owned 
facilities in the U.S. if this expansion is not cost effective. Therefore, the proposed 
incentives allow us to partner with the company to reduce development costs and keep 
the project in Delaware. As part of this, they would not only be adding 8 new FTEs with 
$700,000 of new payroll, but also would be retaining the 11 FTEs that have been added 
since the 2015 project with a payroll of $1,050,144. 
 
Due to the timing of the project and their desire to be under construction by June and 
occupying the facility by end of 2018, we are seeking that this incentive is passed as an 
emergency. 
 



Project EMS 2018 Expansion   3/23/2018 
Address/Parcel 

Numbers 
Project 
Acres 

    101 Innovation Court Existing 
Projections      

Employees (New)  8 
Per CRA 
application   

Employees (Retained)  11 
Per CRA 
application   

Payroll (New)  $700,000 
Per CRA 
application   

Payroll (Retained)  $1,050,144 
Per CRA 
application   

1.85% Muni Taxes (new)  $12,950 per year   
1.85% Muni Taxes (retained)  $19,428 per year   
50% of Muni Taxes (over $1 
million new taxes)  $0 per year DOES NOT APPLY  

Real Property Investment  $2,100,000  
Per CRA 
application   

Building Addition  $2,100,000     
Renovation Investment  $0     

Land (not abateable)  $0     
Personal Property 
Investment  $800,000  

Per CRA 
application   

F&F  $0  
Personal 
Property   

M&E  $500,000  
Personal 
Property   

Inventory  $300,000 
Personal 
Property   

 
 
Proposed Incentives:    

 
• 90%/15 year CRA with  
• 30% School Pilot Payments to Schools 

Project Annual Value of 90% 
Abatement $49,760.87  
Project 15-Year Value of 
Abatement $746,413.05  
30% School Pilot Per Year $12,326.99  
30% School Pilot After 15 years $184,904.85  
Net Abatement Value $561,508.20  

 
  



 
 
Economic Development Incentive Policy Analysis: 
 
These cells will be colored GREEN if the criteria is met or RED if the criteria is not 
met: 
 

Project is for a target industry Yes Boutique Manufacturing AND RETENTION 
Project Hires at Greater than LMI 
average wage 

Yes $87,500.00/year 

Project has a 25% or Greater ROI for 
City 

Yes   

City ROI 26.05%   
Project has a 30% or Greater ROI for 
School 

Yes   

School ROI 30.00% (40% with remaining 10% of property tax 
on building) 

*LMI (Low to Moderate Income) = $39,000/year per single person household 
  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Tax Incentive Review Council, 3/28/18 
VOTE: Approval  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
COST: N/A 
FUND SOURCES: N/A 
BUDGETED: NO 
 
DEPARTMENTS IMPACTED: Economic Development 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
 
Sean Hughes, Economic Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 



CRA School Notification Letters 
Incentives Application 
CRA Agreement 
School Compensation Agreement 
Map Exhibit of Building Location 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-41 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMMUNITY 
REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT AND SCHOOL 
COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WITH ENGINEERED 
MATERIALS SYSTEMS, DELAWARE CITY SCHOOLS 
AND DELAWARE AREA CAREER CENTER FOR 
INVESTMENT IN REAL PROPERTY IMPROVEMENTS 
ON THEIR BUILDING AND PARCEL AT 101 
INNOVATION COURT AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has encouraged development of and 
investment in real property in the area designated as Community Reinvestment 
Area 141-1135-1 pursuant to ORC 3735; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware by Resolution Number 01-52, resolved 
to review and approve all Community Reinvestment Area Agreements which 
meet the statutory guidelines; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware partners with impacted school districts 
to ensure mutual benefit from economic development projects. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF DELAWARE, 
DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO, that: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Community Reinvestment Area Agreement by and 
between the City of Delaware and Engineered Materials Systems meets all of 
the guidelines established by the State of Ohio and the City of Delaware, and 
the same is hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The School Compensation Agreement by and between the 
City of Delaware, Delaware City School District, Delaware Area Career Center, 
and Engineered Materials Systems meets all of the school compensation 
guidelines established by the State of Ohio and the City of Delaware, and the 
same is hereby approved. 
 
 SECTION 3. That the City Council of the City of Delaware hereby 
authorizes the execution of said agreements by the City Manager to implement 
the Community Reinvestment Area Program and School Compensation 
Agreement for this project. 
 
 SECTION 4.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 



 2 

formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 SECTION 5. EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public 
peace, safety, health and welfare of the City, and is necessary to finalize 
negotiations so that construction may begin without the applicant risking the 
loss of the incentive, and as such will be in full force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE:  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
  



  

 
 

 
 
 
April 9, 2018 
  
Mary Beth Freeman 
Superintendent 
Delaware Area Career Center 
4565 Columbus Pike 
Delaware, OH 43015 
 
Paul Craft 
Superintendent 
Delaware City Schools 
248 North Washington Street 
Delaware, OH 43015 
 
 
RE: Engineered Materials Systems Community Reinvestment Area Request for Tax Incentives 
 
Dear Superintendents Craft and Freeman: 
 
In an attempt to retain and grow Engineered Materials Systems in the City of Delaware, the City of 
Delaware’s Tax Incentive Negotiation Committee, that includes the superintendents and treasurers from 
the impacted school districts, negotiated a 90% for 15 year CRA tax abatement for their 45,000 sq. ft. 
expansion project to be located at 101 Innovation Court. As part of their CRA abatement, Engineered 
Materials Systems has agreed to an annual payment equal to 30% of what the school districts normally 
would have received without the abatement. The total of payments to both Delaware City Schools and 
Delaware Area Career Center would be $12,362.99 /year for a total of $185,444.85 in fifteen years. 
 
All incentives are based on Engineered Materials Systems’ commitments of the creation of 8 new full-
time jobs with a payroll minimum of $700,000 within 3 years of the completion of your project, and the 
retention of your existing 11 full-time jobs with a minimum payroll of $1,050,144 in the City of Delaware 
from their previous expansion. A copy of their application for tax incentives and commitment letter is 
attached.  
 
CRA (ORC 3735.65-70) guidelines require that Boards of Education be informed of amendments, notice 
requirements, review rights, meeting requests, revenue sharing requirements, and/or program 
participation. Since the CRA legislation and company agreements contain many legal requirements, you 
may want to review Ohio Revised Code references (please see: 
http://onlinedocs.andersonpublishing.com/). 
  
 



 

 
 
The City of Delaware is requesting a waiver of the required 45 business day notice period so that 
Delaware City Council will be able to consider these requests at our regularly scheduled Council meeting 
on May 14, 2018, held at Delaware City Hall, 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, at 7:00 P.M.  A second 
reading and public hearing should be scheduled for June 11, 2018, but may not be needed if Council 
chooses to take action on the first reading for economic development purposes. School Board Members, 
staff and the public are welcome to attend these meetings.  Please let me know if you require any 
further assistance. I can be reached at 740.203.1016 or shughes@delawareohio.net. Please email me 
with confirmation of receipt of this notification so that I can send it with our petition to the Ohio 
Development Services Agency. 
 
Yours Sincerely, 
Sean Hughes 
Economic Development Director 
 
xc: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

Dean Stelzer Finance Director 
Melissa Lee , Treasurer, Delaware City School District 
Chris Bell, Treasurer, Delaware Area Career Center 

 
  
Attached: 
1. ORC 3735.671 
2. Engineered Materials Systems application for tax incentives 
3. Engineered Materials Systems incentives letter of intent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:shughes@delawareohio.net


 

 

3735.671 Written agreement where commercial or industrial property is to be exempted. 

(A) If construction or remodeling of commercial or industrial property is to be exempted from taxation 
pursuant to section 3735.67 of the Revised Code, the legislative authority and the owner of the property, 
prior to the commencement of construction or remodeling, shall enter into a written agreement, binding 
on both parties for a period of time that does not end prior to the end of the period of the exemption, 
that includes all of the information and statements prescribed by this section. Agreements may include 
terms not prescribed by this section, but such terms shall in no way derogate from the information and 
statements prescribed by this section. 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in division (A)(2) or (3) of this section, an agreement entered into under 
this section shall not be approved by the legislative authority unless the board of education of the city, 
local, or exempted village school district within the territory of which the property is or will be located 
approves the agreement. For the purpose of obtaining such approval, the legislative authority shall certify 
a copy of the agreement to the board of education not later than forty-five days prior to approving the 
agreement, excluding Saturday, Sunday, and a legal holiday as defined in section 1.14 of the Revised Code. 
The board of education, by resolution adopted by a majority of the board, shall approve or disapprove 
the agreement and certify a copy of the resolution to the legislative authority not later than fourteen days 
prior to the date stipulated by the legislative authority as the date upon which approval of the agreement 
is to be formally considered by the legislative authority. The board of education may include in the 
resolution conditions under which the board would approve the agreement. The legislative authority may 
approve an agreement at any time after the board of education certifies its resolution approving the 
agreement to the legislative authority, or, if the board approves the agreement conditionally, at any time 
after the conditions are agreed to by the board and the legislative authority. 

(2) Approval of an agreement by the board of education is not required under division (A)(1) of this section 
if, for each tax year the real property is exempted from taxation, the sum of the following quantities, as 
estimated at or prior to the time the agreement is formally approved by the legislative authority, equals 
or exceeds fifty per cent of the amount of taxes, as estimated at or prior to that time, that would have 
been charged and payable that year upon the real property had that property not been exempted from 
taxation: 

(a) The amount of taxes charged and payable on any portion of the assessed valuation of the new 
structure or remodeling that will not be exempted from taxation under the agreement; 

(b) The amount of taxes charged and payable on tangible personal property located on the premises of 
the new structure or of the structure to be remodeled under the agreement, whether payable by the 
owner of the structure or by a related member, as defined in section 5733.042 of the Revised Code 
without regard to division (B) of that section. 

(c) The amount of any cash payment by the owner of the new structure or structure to be remodeled to 
the school district, the dollar value, as mutually agreed to by the owner and the board of education, of 
any property or services provided by the owner of the property to the school district, whether by gift, 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.67
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/gp1.14
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5733.042


 

loan, or otherwise, and any payment by the legislative authority to the school district pursuant to 
section 5709.82 of the Revised Code. 

The estimates of quantities used for purposes of division (A)(2) of this section shall be estimated by the 
legislative authority. The legislative authority shall certify to the board of education that the estimates 
have been made in good faith. Departures of the actual quantities from the estimates subsequent to 
approval of the agreement by the board of education do not invalidate the agreement. 

(3) If a board of education has adopted a resolution waiving its right to approve agreements and the 
resolution remains in effect, approval of an agreement by the board is not required under this division. If 
a board of education has adopted a resolution allowing a legislative authority to deliver the notice 
required under this division fewer than forty-five business days prior to the legislative authority's 
execution of the agreement, the legislative authority shall deliver the notice to the board not later than 
the number of days prior to such execution as prescribed by the board in its resolution. If a board of 
education adopts a resolution waiving its right to approve agreements or shortening the notification 
period, the board shall certify a copy of the resolution to the legislative authority. If the board of education 
rescinds such a resolution, it shall certify notice of the rescission to the legislative authority. 

(B) Each agreement shall include the following information: 

(1) The names of all parties to the agreement; 

(2) A description of the remodeling or construction, whether or not to be exempted from taxation, 
including existing or new structure size and cost thereof; the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, 
and fixtures, including an itemization of the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures used 
at another location in this state prior to the agreement and relocated or to be relocated from that location 
to the property, and the value of machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures at the facility prior to the 
execution of the agreement; the value of inventory at the property, including an itemization of the value 
of inventory held at another location in this state prior to the agreement and relocated or to be relocated 
from that location to the property, and the value of inventory held at the property prior to the execution 
of the agreement; 

(3) The scheduled starting and completion dates of remodeling or construction of real property or of 
investments made in machinery, equipment, furniture, fixtures, and inventory; 

(4) Estimates of the number of employee positions to be created each year of the agreement and of the 
number of employee positions retained by the owner due to the remodeling or construction, itemized as 
to the number of full-time, part-time, permanent, and temporary positions; 

(5) Estimates of the dollar amount of payroll attributable to the positions set forth in division (B)(4) of this 
section, similarly itemized; 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.82


 

 

(6) The number of employee positions, if any, at the property and at any other location in this state at the 
time the agreement is executed, itemized as to the number of full-time, part-time, permanent, and 
temporary positions. 

(C) Each agreement shall set forth the following information and incorporate the following statements: 

(1) A description of real property to be exempted from taxation under the agreement, the percentage of 
the assessed valuation of the real property exempted from taxation, and the period for which the 
exemption is granted, accompanied by the statement: "The exemption commences the first year for which 
the real property would first be taxable were that property not exempted from taxation. No exemption 
shall commence after .......... (insert date) nor extend beyond .......... (insert date)." 

(2) ".......... (insert name of owner) shall pay such real property taxes as are not exempted under this 
agreement and are charged against such property and shall file all tax reports and returns as required by 
law. If .......... (insert name of owner) fails to pay such taxes or file such returns and reports, exemptions 
from taxation granted under this agreement are rescinded beginning with the year for which such taxes 
are charged or such reports or returns are required to be filed and thereafter." 

(3) ".......... (insert name of owner) hereby certifies that at the time this agreement is executed, .......... 
(insert name of owner) does not owe any delinquent real or tangible personal property taxes to any taxing 
authority of the State of Ohio, and does not owe delinquent taxes for which .......... (insert name of owner) 
is liable under Chapter 5733., 5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 5747., or 5753. of the Ohio Revised Code, or, if 
such delinquent taxes are owed, .......... (insert name of owner) currently is paying the delinquent taxes 
pursuant to an undertaking enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or instrumentality thereof, has 
filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 101 , et seq., or such a petition has been filed against 
.......... (insert name of owner). For the purposes of this certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that 
remain unpaid on the latest day prescribed for payment without penalty under the chapter of the Revised 
Code governing payment of those taxes." 

(4) ".......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) shall perform such acts as are reasonably 
necessary or appropriate to effect, claim, reserve, and maintain exemptions from taxation granted under 
this agreement including, without limitation, joining in the execution of all documentation and providing 
any necessary certificates required in connection with such exemptions." 

(5) "If for any reason .......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) revokes the designation of 
the area, entitlements granted under this agreement shall continue for the number of years specified 
under this agreement, unless .......... (insert name of owner) materially fails to fulfill its obligations under 
this agreement and ................... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) terminates or modifies 
the exemptions from taxation pursuant to this agreement." 

(6) "If .......... (insert name of owner) materially fails to fulfill its obligations under this agreement, or if 
.......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) determines that the certification as to delinquent 
taxes required by this agreement is fraudulent, .......... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) 
may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement." 



 

(7) ".......... (insert name of owner) shall provide to the proper tax incentive review council any information 
reasonably required by the council to evaluate the applicant's compliance with the agreement, including 
returns filed pursuant to section 5711.02 of the Ohio Revised Code if requested by the council." 

(8) "This agreement is not transferable or assignable without the express, written approval of .......... 
(insert name of municipal corporation or county)." 

(9) "Exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement shall be revoked if it is determined that 
........... (insert name of owner), any successor to that person, or any related member (as those terms are 
defined in division (E) of section 3735.671 of the Ohio Revised Code) has violated the prohibition against 
entering into this agreement under division (E) of section 3735.671 or section 5709.62 or 5709.63 of the 
Ohio Revised Code prior to the time prescribed by that division or either of those sections." 

(10) ".......... (insert name of owner) and ........... (insert name of municipal corporation or county) 
acknowledge that this agreement must be approved by formal action of the legislative authority of .......... 
(insert name of municipal corporation or county) as a condition for the agreement to take effect. This 
agreement takes effect upon such approval." 

The statement described in division (C)(6) of this section may include the following statement, appended 
at the end of the statement: ", and may require the repayment of the amount of taxes that would have 
been payable had the property not been exempted from taxation under this agreement." If the agreement 
includes a statement requiring repayment of exempted taxes, it also may authorize the legislative 
authority to secure repayment of such taxes by a lien on the exempted property in the amount required 
to be repaid. Such a lien shall attach, and may be perfected, collected, and enforced, in the same manner 
as a mortgage lien on real property, and shall otherwise have the same force and effect as a mortgage 
lien on real property. 

(D) Except as otherwise provided in this division, an agreement entered into under this section shall 
require that the owner pay an annual fee equal to the greater of one per cent of the amount of taxes 
exempted under the agreement or five hundred dollars; provided, however, that if the value of the 
incentives exceeds two hundred fifty thousand dollars, the fee shall not exceed two thousand five 
hundred dollars. The fee shall be payable to the legislative authority once per year for each year the 
agreement is effective on the days and in the form specified in the agreement. Fees paid shall be deposited 
in a special fund created for such purpose by the legislative authority and shall be used by the legislative 
authority exclusively for the purpose of complying with section 3735.672 of the Revised Code and by the 
tax incentive review council created under section 5709.85 of the Revised Code exclusively for the 
purposes of performing the duties prescribed under that section. The legislative authority may waive or 
reduce the amount of the fee, but such waiver or reduction does not affect the obligations of the 
legislative authority or the tax incentive review council to comply with section3735.672 or 5709.85 of the 
Revised Code. 

(E) If any person that is party to an agreement granting an exemption from taxation discontinues 
operations at the structure to which that exemption applies prior to the expiration of the term of the 
agreement, that person, any successor to that person, and any related member shall not enter into an 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5711.02
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.62
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.63
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.672
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.85
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3735.672
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.85


 

 

agreement under this section or section 5709.62 , 5709.63 , or 5709.632 of the Revised Code, and no 
legislative authority shall enter into such an agreement with such a person, successor, or related member, 
prior to the expiration of five years after the discontinuation of operations. As used in this division, 
"successor" means a person to which the assets or equity of another person has been transferred, which 
transfer resulted in the full or partial nonrecognition of gain or loss, or resulted in a carryover basis, both 
as determined by rule adopted by the tax commissioner. "Related member" has the same meaning as 
defined in section 5733.042 of the Revised Code without regard to division (B) of that section. 

The director of development shall review all agreements submitted to the director under division (F) of 
this section for the purpose of enforcing this division. If the director determines there has been a violation 
of this division, the director shall notify the legislative authority of such violation, and the legislative 
authority immediately shall revoke the exemption granted under the agreement. 

(F) When an agreement is entered into under this section, the legislative authority authorizing the 
agreement shall forward a copy of the agreement to the director of development within fifteen days after 
the agreement is entered into. 

Effective Date: 09-26-2003; 03-23-2005 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.62
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.63
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5709.632
http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/5733.042


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 











COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA AGREEMENT 
CITY OF DELAWARE and Engineered Materials Systems 

 
This agreement made and entered into by and between the City of Delaware, 
Ohio, a municipal government, with its main offices located at 1 South Sandusky 
Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015 and Engineered Materials Systems, 101 
Innovation Court, Delaware, Ohio 43015, WITNESSETH; 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has encouraged the development of real 
property and the acquisition of personal property located in the area designated 
as Community Reinvestment Area 141-1135-01; and 
 
WHEREAS, Engineered Materials Systems desires to expand its operations at 
its currently owned facility at 101 Innovation Court by constructing a 45,000 sq. 
ft. expansion. This PROJECT will take place within the boundaries of the 
aforementioned Community Reinvestment Area provided that the appropriate 
development incentives are available to support the economic viability of said 
PROJECT; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Delaware, Ohio, by Resolution No. 01-52 
adopted July 23, 2001, designated the area as a “Community Reinvestment 
Area” pursuant to Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, effective September 4, 2001, the Director of the Development 
Services Agency of the State of Ohio determined that the aforementioned area 
designated in said Resolution No. 01-52 contains the characteristics set forth in 
Section 3735.66 of the Ohio Revised Code and confirmed said area as 
Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01 under said Chapter 3735; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware, having the appropriate authority for the stated 
type of project desires to provide Engineered Materials Systems with incentives 
available for the development of the PROJECT in said Community Reinvestment 
Area under Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, Engineered Materials Systems has submitted an incentive 
application (herein attached as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference) 
to the City of Delaware (hereinafter referred to as "APPLICATION"); and 
 
WHEREAS, Engineered Materials Systems has remitted the required state 
application fee of $750.00 made payable to the Ohio Department of Development 
with the APPLICATION to be forwarded to said department with a copy of the 
final agreement; and 
 



2 
 

WHEREAS, the Tax Incentive Negotiating Committee of the City of Delaware has 
investigated the APPLICATION of Engineered Materials Systems, and has 
recommended the same to the Council of the City of Delaware on the basis that 
Engineered Materials Systems is qualified by financial responsibility and 
business experience to create and preserve employment opportunities in said 
Community Reinvestment Area and improve the economic climate of the City of 
Delaware; and 
 
WHEREAS, the project site as proposed by Engineered Materials Systems is 
located in the Delaware City School District and the Delaware Area Career Center 
(per the attached resolutions authorizing the superintendents to act on behalf of 
the board) has been notified in accordance with Section 5709.83 and been given 
a copy of the APPLICATION; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3735.67(A) and in conformance with the format 
required under Section 3735.671(B) of the Ohio Revised Code, the parties hereto 
desire to set forth their agreement with respect to matters hereinafter contained; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained and the benefit to be derived by the parties from the execution hereof, 
the parties herein agree as follows: 
 
1. Engineered Materials Systems shall construct a new 45,000 sq. ft. 
addition onto the existing 63,000 sq. ft. facility at 101 Innovation. 
 
The PROJECT will begin June 1, 2018 and all construction will be completed by 
December 31, 2018. Any changes to the beginning and completion dates must 
be agreed to by formal resolution and an amended agreement.  
 
2. Engineered Materials Systems shall create the equivalent of 8 new full-
time equivalent (FTE) jobs at the Delaware facility. The job creation period 
begins December 31, 2018 and all jobs will be in place by December 31, 2021 
(3 years or 36 months after the completion of the PROJECT per ORC 3735).  
 
This increase in the number of new employees shall result in at least SEVEN 
HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($700,000) in total new annual payroll 
($700,000 NEW FULL TIME PERMANENT PAYROLL) generated at the PROJECT 
site. 
 
3. The incentives application listed Engineered Materials Systems current 
employment as 50 with 11 of those FTEs being committed as new hires as part 
of the company’s 2015 expansion. As part of that expansion, Engineered 
Materials Systems also had committed to retaining their current (at the time) 



3 
 

39 FTEs. Therefore, as part of this project, Engineered Materials Systems shall 
retain the 11 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees they hired as part of the 
2015 expansion in addition to the new 8 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees 
(for a total of 58 FTEs) at Engineered Materials Systems Delaware facility until 
the expiration of this CRA agreement, December 31, 2033, with a minimum 
existing payroll of $1,050,144 from the 2015 expansion in addition to the 
newly created $700,000 payroll from the new FTEs (for a total of $1,750,144 
in payroll).  
 
4. Based on new job and payroll creation levels, the City of Delaware 
estimates an annual new employee income tax revenue amount of $12,950 
($700,000 payroll times the current income tax rate of 1.85%) for the PROJECT.  
If in any year after the first three year grace period of this Agreement the level of 
new payroll does not reach or falls below levels established by this Agreement, 
Engineered Materials Systems agrees to reimburse the City of Delaware for lost 
employee income taxes.  Should the City’s income tax rates change, the 
reimbursement will be adjusted accordingly.  
 
To the extent that Engineered Materials Systems substantially comply with the 
terms of this section 4 of this agreement, the company shall incur no income tax 
reimbursement penalty. 
 
5. Engineered Materials Systems shall provide to the proper Tax Incentive 
Review Council any information reasonably required by the council to evaluate 
the enterprise's compliance with the agreement, including returns filed pursuant 
to section 5711.02 and 5727.08 of the Ohio Revised Code if requested by the 
council (ORC3735.671C7). 
 
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 
 a. Engineered Materials Systems shall make the following payments 
totaling $12,362.99 to Delaware City School District ($11,859.94) and 
Delaware Area Career Center  ($503.05) to benefit the districts’ educational 
initiatives. These payments shall be subject to the terms and conditions of a 
separate School Compensation Agreement between Engineered Materials 
Systems, Delaware City Schools, Delaware Area Career Center and the City of 
Delaware. Per this agreement, Engineered Materials Systems will make these 
payments directly to the school districts upon receipt of invoices from Delaware 
City Schools and Delaware Area Career Center for the amounts established in 
the School Compensation Agreement at the following times.  
 
School Compensation Payment # Payment Due Date      Total Amount 

 



4 
 

Payment #1                        9/30/20          $12,362.99 
Payment #2                        9/30/21         $12,362.99 
Payment #3                        9/30/22          $12,362.99 
Payment #4                        9/30/23          $12,362.99 
Payment #5                        9/30/24          $12,362.99 
Payment #6                        9/30/25          $12,362.99 
Payment #7                        9/30/26          $12,362.99 
Payment #8                       9/30/27          $12,362.99 
Payment #9                        9/30/28          $12,362.99 
Payment#10                       9/30/29         $12,362.99 
Payment#11    9/30/30   $12,362.99 
Payment#12    9/30/31   $12,362.99 
Payment#13    9/30/32   $12,362.99 
Payment#14    9/30/33   $12,362.99 
Payment#15    9/30/34   $12,362.99 
 
If Ohio tax law changes result in no net tax incentive benefits (tax 
incentives offered through this agreement minus the school compensation 
payment is negative), Engineered Materials Systems may request that the 
City of Delaware Tax Incentive Review Council modify or terminate this 
agreement. 

6. City of Delaware hereby grants Engineered Materials Systems a tax 
exemption for real property improvements made to the PROJECT site pursuant 
to Section 3735.67 of the Ohio Revised Code and shall be for ten (10) years in 
the following amounts: 

Year of Tax Exemption  Tax Exemption Amount 
 
Year  1     90% 
Year  2    90% 
Year  3    90% 
Year  4    90% 
Year  5    90% 
Year  6    90% 
Year  7    90% 
Year  8    90% 
Year  9    90% 
Year 10    90% 
Year 11    90% 
Year 12    90% 
Year 13    90% 
Year 14    90% 



5 
 

Year 15    90% 
 

The exemption commences the first full taxable year the facility is 100% 
complete.  No exemption shall commence before January 1, 2019, nor extend 
beyond December 31, 2033.  Said exemption shall be based on the increase on 
the assessed value of real property attributed to the real property improvements 
at the PROJECT site.  Engineered Materials Systems must file the appropriate 
tax forms (DTE 23) with the County Auditor to effect and maintain the 
exemptions covered in the agreement. 
 
7. Engineered Materials Systems shall pay an annual fee equal to the 
greater of one percent of the dollar value of incentives offered under the 
agreement or five hundred dollars; provided, however, that if the value of the 
incentives exceeds two hundred fifty thousand dollars, the fee shall not exceed 
two thousand five hundred dollars.  
 
The fee shall be made payable to the City of Delaware once per year for each year 
the agreement is effective by December 31.  This fee shall be deposited in a 
special fund created for such purpose and shall be used exclusively for the 
purpose of complying with Section 5709.68 of the Ohio Revised Code and by the 
Tax Incentive Review Council created under Section 5709.85 of the Ohio Revised 
Code exclusively for the purposes of performing the duties prescribed under that 
section. 
 
8. Waiver Requirement (for jobs relocated within Ohio) 
If the Director of Development has issued a waiver under Section 5709.633 of 
the Ohio Revised Code as a condition for the agreement to be executed, the 
following applies: 

 
Continuation of this agreement is subject to the validity of the circumstances 
upon which Engineered Materials Systems applied for, and the Director of the 
Ohio Department of Development issued, the waiver pursuant to Section 
5709.633 of the Ohio Revised Code.  If, after formal approval of this agreement 
by the City of Delaware, the Director or the City of Delaware discovers that such 
a circumstance did not exist, Engineered Materials Systems shall be deemed 
to have materially failed to comply with this agreement.  The formal waiver 
document shall be incorporated as an exhibit to this agreement and specifies 
conditions enumerated in Section 5709.633 of the Ohio Revised Code upon 
which the waiver was issued.  
  
10. Engineered Materials Systems shall pay such real and tangible personal 
property taxes as are not exempted under this agreement and are charged 
against such property and shall file all tax reports and returns as required by 



6 
 

law. If Engineered Materials Systems fails to pay such taxes or file such returns 
and reports, all incentives granted under this agreement are rescinded beginning 
with the year for which such taxes are charged or such reports or returns are 
required to be filed and thereafter (ORC3735.671C2).  
 
11. City of Delaware shall perform such acts as are reasonably necessary or 
appropriate to effect, claim, reserve, and maintain exemptions from taxation 
granted under this agreement including, without limitation, joining in the 
execution of all documentation and providing any necessary certificates required 
in connection with such exemptions (ORC3735.671C4).  
 
12. If for any reason the Community Reinvestment Area designation expires, 
the Director of the Ohio Development Services Agency revokes certification of the 
area, or the City of Delaware revokes the designation of the area, entitlements 
granted under this agreement shall continue for the number of years specified 
under this agreement, unless Engineered Materials Systems materially fails to 
fulfill their obligations under this agreement and the City of Delaware terminates 
or modifies the exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement 
(ORC3735.671C5). 
 
13. If Engineered Materials Systems materially fails to fulfill their obligations 
under this agreement, or if the City of Delaware determines that the certification 
as to delinquent taxes required by this agreement is fraudulent, the City of 
Delaware may terminate or modify the exemptions from taxation granted under 
this agreement and may require the repayment of the amount of taxes that would 
have been payable had the property not been exempted from taxation under this 
agreement.  
 
14. (a)  Engineered Materials Systems hereby certifies that at the time this 
agreement is executed, Engineered Materials Systems does not owe any 
delinquent real or tangible personal property taxes to any taxing authority of the 
State of Ohio, and does not owe delinquent taxes for which Engineered 
Materials Systems is liable under Chapter 5733., 5735., 5739., 5741., 5743., 
5747., or 5753. of the Ohio Revised Code, or, if such delinquent taxes are owed, 
Engineered Materials Systems currently is paying the delinquent taxes 
pursuant to an undertaking enforceable by the State of Ohio or an agent or 
instrumentality thereof, has filed a petition in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C.A. 
101, et seq., or such a petition has been filed against Engineered Materials 
Systems for the purposes of the certification, delinquent taxes are taxes that 
remain unpaid on the latest day prescribed for payment without penalty under 
the chapter of the Ohio Revised Code governing payment of those taxes. 
 
 



7 
 

15. (a) Engineered Materials Systems affirmatively covenants that it does not 
owe: (1) any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of the 
State; (2) any moneys to the State or a state agency for the administration or 
enforcement of any environmental laws of the State; and (3) any other moneys 
to the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that are past 
due, whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not. 
 
 (b) Engineered Materials Systems affirmatively covenants that it does not 
owe: (1) any delinquent taxes to the State of Ohio or a political subdivision of the 
State; (2) any moneys to the State or a state agency for the administration or 
enforcement of any environmental laws of the State; and (3) any other moneys 
to the State, a state agency or a political subdivision of the State that are past 
due, whether the amounts owed are being contested in a court of law or not.  
 
16. Engineered Materials Systems and the City of Delaware acknowledge 
that this agreement must be approved by formal action of the legislative 
authority of the City of Delaware and approval and execution of this agreement 
by Engineered Materials Systems as a condition for the agreement to take effect 
(ORC3735.671C10). 
 
17. The City of Delaware has developed a policy to ensure recipients of a 
Community Reinvestment Area tax benefits practice non-discriminating hiring 
in its operations.  By executing this agreement, Engineered Materials Systems 
is committing to following non-discriminating hiring practices acknowledging 
that no individual may be denied employment solely on the basis of race, religion, 
sex, disability, color, national origin, or ancestry. 
 
18. Exemptions from taxation granted under this agreement shall be revoked 
if it is determined that Engineered Materials Systems any successor property 
owner, or any related member (as those terms are defined in Division (E) of 
Section 3735.671 of the Ohio Revised Code) has violated the prohibition against 
entering into this agreement under Division (E) of Section 3735.671 or Section 
5709.62 or 5709.63 of the Ohio Revised Code prior to the time prescribed by that 
division or either of those sections (ORC3735.671C9). 
 
19. In any three-year period after the first three years of the agreement during 
which this agreement is in effect, if the actual number of employee positions 
created or retained by Engineered Materials Systems is not equal to or greater 
than ninety percent of the number of employee positions estimated to be created 
or retained under this agreement, Engineered Materials Systems shall repay 
the amount of taxes on property that would have been payable had the property 
not been exempted from taxation under this agreement during that three-year 



8 
 

period.  In addition, the City of Delaware may terminate or modify the exemptions 
from taxation granted under this agreement. 
 
20. Engineered Materials Systems affirmatively covenants that they have 
made no false statements to the State or local political subdivision in the process 
of obtaining approval for the Community Reinvestment Area incentives.  If any 
representative of Engineered Materials Systems has knowingly made a false 
statement to the State or local political subdivision to obtain the Community 
Reinvestment Area incentives, Engineered Materials Systems shall be required 
to immediately return all benefits received under the Community Reinvestment 
Area Agreement pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 9.66 (C)(2) and shall be 
ineligible for any future economic development assistance from the State, any 
state agency or a political subdivision pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
9.66(C)(1).  Any person who provides a false statement to secure economic 
development assistance may be guilty of falsification, a misdemeanor of the first 
degree, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2921.13(A)(4), which is punishable by a 
fine of not more than $1,000 and/or a term of imprisonment of not more than 
six months. 
 
21. This agreement is not transferable or assignable without the express, 
written approval of the City of Delaware. 
 
22. Engineered Materials Systems acknowledges that if any person that is 
party to an agreement granting an exemption from taxation discontinues 
operations at the structure to which that exemption applies prior to the 
expiration of the term of the agreement, that person, any successor to that 
person, and any related member shall not enter into an agreement under this 
section or sections 5709.62, 5709.63, or 5709.632 of the Ohio Revised Code, and 
no legislative authority shall enter into such an agreement with such a person, 
successor, or related member, prior to the expiration of five years after  the 
discontinuation of operations.  As used in this division, ‘successor’ means a 
person to which the assets or equity of another person has been transferred, 
which transfer resulted in the full or partial non-recognition of gain or loss, or 
resulted in a carryover basis, both as determined by rule adopted by the tax 
commissioner.  ‘Related member’ has the same meaning as defined in section 
5733.042 of the Ohio Revised Code without regard to Division (B) of that section 
(ORC3735.671E). 
 
23. Engineered Materials Systems hereby represents that they have full 
authority to act, negotiate, and execute this agreement. 
  



9 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Delaware, Ohio, by R. Thomas Homan, its 
City Manager, and pursuant to Resolution __-__ adopted on _________________, 
has caused this instrument to be executed this ____ day of ______________ 2018, 
and Engineered Materials Systems has caused this instrument to be executed 
on this ______ day of _________ 2018. 
 
    CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
 
    By: ___________________________ 
     R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
 
    Engineered Materials Systems 
 
 
    By: ___________________________ 
     Todd Irion, President  
     Engineered Materials Systems 
 
 
     
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By: _________________________________ 
      Darren Shulman, Delaware City Attorney 



 1 

School Compensation Agreement 
Engineered Materials Systems 

Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01 
 
This agreement between the City of Delaware, a municipal corporation, with its 
offices at 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015; Delaware City 
School District Board of Education, a public school district, with its principal 
offices at 248 North Washington Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015; Delaware Area 
Career Center Board of Education, a public school district with its principal 
offices at 4565 Columbus Pike, Delaware, OH 43015, and Engineered Materials 
Systems, 101 Innovation Court, Delaware, OH 43015 specifies the manner in 
which and procedures to be used pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 3735 
authorizing general compensation relating to the Community Reinvestment Area 
tax abatement for the construction of an expansion to their headquarters and 
manufacturing facility at 101 Innovation Court, Delaware, Ohio 43015 in 
Delaware’s Community Reinvestment Area #141-1135-01. 
 
WHEREAS, the Community Reinvestment Program, pursuant to Chapter 3735 
of the Ohio Revised Code authorizes cities and counties to grant real property 
tax exemptions on eligible new investments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City Council of Delaware, Ohio, by Resolution No. 
01-52, adopted July 23, 2001, designated the area as a “Community 
Reinvestment Area” pursuant to Chapter 3735 of the Ohio Revised Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, effective September 4, 2001, the Director of Development of the State 
of Ohio determined that the aforementioned area designated in said Resolution 
No. 01-52 contains the characteristics set forth in Section 3735.66 of the Ohio 
Revised Code and confirmed said area as Community Reinvestment Area #141-
1135-01 under said Chapter 3735; and 
 
Whereas, effective November 26, 2001, a Delaware City School District Board of 
Education resolution authorized the Superintendent to act on its behalf to 
negotiate, approve, and define terms and conditions on any Tax Incentive 
Agreement; the minutes of the October 13, 2015 Tax Incentive Negotiating 
Committee document the Superintendent’s approval; and 
 
Whereas, effective April 15, 2004, a Delaware Area Career Center Board of 
Education resolution authorized the Superintendent to act on its behalf to 
negotiate, approve, and define terms and conditions on any Tax Incentive 
Agreement; the minutes of the January 9, 2018 Tax Incentive Negotiating 
Committee document the Superintendent’s approval; and 
 
Whereas, the City of Delaware within Oridinance Number __-__ adopted on 
____________, 2018, has acted pursuant to ORC 3735 to grant a tax exemption 



 2 

to Engineered Materials Systems and entered into a formal Community 
Reinvestment Area abatement agreement on _________, 2018; and 
 
Whereas, Item 5a of the Community Reinvestment Area Agreement relating to 
the aforementioned project requires compensation to the Delaware City School 
District and Delaware Area Career Center for the sole benefit of educational 
initiatives. 
 
Now therefore, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises, 
covenants, and agreements hereinafter set forth by the City of Delaware, 
Delaware City School District, Delaware Area Career Center, and Engineered 
Materials Systems agree as follows: 
 
Section 1. Engineered Materials Systems shall pay ELEVEN THOUSAND 
EIGHT HUNDRED FIFTY-NINE DOLLARS AND NINETY-FOUR CENTS 
($11,859.94) per year for fifteen (15) years to the Delaware City School District 
AND FIVE HUNDRED AND THREE DOLLARS AND FIVE CENTS ($503.05) per 
year for fifteen (15) years to the Delaware Area Career Center in accordance with 
the terms and conditions set forth in Item 6a of the Community Reinvestment 
Area Agreement for the referenced project.  This payment shall be made upon 
receipt of invoices per the instructions set forth in Item 6a of the Community 
Reinvestment Area Agreement relating to the aforementioned project, and the 
first payment shall be due September 30, 2020 and dispersed per Section 2 of 
this agreement. 
 
Section 2. The cash payment made by ENGINEERED MATERIALS SYSTEMS 
to the Delaware City School District satisfies ORC Section 5709.82C(2) 
(School Compensation Agreement is mutually acceptable) and shall be used 
for educational initiatives for the sole benefit of the Delaware City Schools and 
the Delaware Area Career Center, as follows: 
 
 a. Delaware City School District  $11,859.94 
 b. Delaware Area Career Center  $503.05 
 c. Total      $12,362.99 
 
Section 3. This agreement may be amended or modified by the parties, only in 
writing, signed by all parties to the agreement or by applicable law changes. 
 
Note: All parties agree that if Ohio tax reform results in no net tax incentive 
benefits (if the sum of tax incentives offered through the Community 
Reinvestment Area Agreement minus the school compensation payment is 
negative), ENGINEERED MATERIALS SYSTEMS may request that the City 
of Delaware Tax Incentive Review Council recommend agreement 
modification or termination.  No School Compensation payment is required 
if there is no net tax benefit to ENGINEERED MATERIALS SYSTEMS. 
 



 3 

Section 4. This agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding 
between the parties as to the subject matter contained herein and merges and 
supersedes all prior discussions, agreements, and undertakings of every kind 
between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this agreement. 
 
Section 5. All payments, certificates, reports, and notices which are required 
to or may be given pursuant to the provisions of this agreement shall be sent by 
regular mail, postage prepaid, and shall be deemed to have been given or 
delivered when so mailed to the following addresses: 
 

R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
City of Delaware 
1 South Sandusky Street 
Delaware, Ohio 43015 

 
     Paul A. Craft, PhD, Superintendent 
     Delaware City School District 
     248 N. Washington Street 
     Delaware, Ohio 43015 
 
     Mary Beth Freeman, Superintendent 
     Delaware Area Career Center 
     4565 Columbus Pike 
     Delaware, Ohio 43015 
 
     Todd Irion, President 
     Engineered Materials Systems 
     101 Innovation Ct. 
     Delaware, OH 43015 
 
 
Any party may change its contact or mailing address for receiving notices and 
reports by giving written notice of such change to the other parties. 
 
Section 6. The invalidity of any provision of this agreement shall not affect the 
other provisions of this agreement, and this agreement shall be construed in all 
respects as if any invalid portions were omitted. 
 
In witness whereof, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of 
this __ day of _____ 2018. 
 
CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
          __________________________________________ 
           R. Thomas Homan 
 



 4 

 
DELAWARE CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
        
  Paul A. Craft, Superintendent 
 
 
DELAWARE AREA CAREER CENTER 
 
        
  Mary Beth Freeman, Superintendent 
 
 
ENGINEERED MATERIALS SYSTEMS 
   
                  
 Todd Irion, President 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
By: _________________________________ 
      Darren Shulman, Delaware City Attorney 



0 310 620155
ft

Delaware County Auditor
George Kaitsa

Information contained within this map may be used to generally locate, identify and inventory land parcels within Delaware County. 
Delaware County cannot warrant or guarantee the information contained herein, including, but not limited to its accuracy 

or  completeness. The map parcel l ines shown are approximate and this information cannot be constructed or used as a "legal description" of a parcel.
Flood Plain information is obtained from FEMA and is administered by the Delaware County Building Department (740-833-2201).

Please report any errors or omissions to the Delaware County Auditor's office at delcogis@co.delaware.oh.us.
Prepared by: Delaware County Auditor's GIS Office

/
EMS Expansion Project Site

Printed o n 5/1/2018



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 17    DATE: 05/14/2018    
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-42    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dean Stelzer, Finance Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2018 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
TO REALLOCATE APPROPRIATIONS FROM THE MUNICIPAL COURT 
ADMINISTRATION BUDGET TO A NEW MISSION COURT BUDGET WITHIN THE 
MUNICIPAL COURT FUND, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
This legislation amends the adopted 2018 appropriation ordinance reallocating 
amounts included in the 2018 Municipal Court Fund, Court Administration 
budget to a new Mission Court budget.    
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Earlier this year the Delaware Municipal Court created the Delaware Mission 
Court as a separate docket of the Court.  The intent of the new docket is to assist 
veterans involved in the criminal justice system.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
This supplemental ordinance does not increase the 2018 authorized 
expenditures, rather the ordinance authorizes a reallocation of budgeted 
amounts from the Court Administration budget to the new Mission Court budget. 
 
 



POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dean Stelzer, Finance Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
As the Mission Court docket has already commenced, it is requested that this 
budget reallocation be approved with an emergency clause. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Journal Entry from Municipal Court Administrative Judge Hemmeter. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 18-42 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2018 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO REALLOCATE 
APPROPRIATIONS FROM THE MUNICIPAL COURT 
ADMINISTRATION BUDGET TO A NEW MISSION 
COURT BUDGET WITHIN THE MUNICIPAL COURT 
FUND, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
WHEREAS, earlier this year the Delaware Municipal Court created the 

Delaware Mission Court, a Veterans Treatment Court as a specialized docket of 
Municipal Court; and  

 
WHEREAS, costs associated with the Mission Court, including staffing and 

other related costs, are to be reimbursed to the City by the Delaware County 
Veteran Services Commission; and 

 
WHEREAS, to facilitate the segregation of reimbursable costs associated 

with the Mission Court, a Journal Entry from the Court requesting the 
established of a separate departmental budget within the Municipal Court Fund 
has been issued; and 

 
 WHEREAS, a supplemental appropriation will be necessary to increase 

the 2018 Budget for the Mission Court costs in the new accounts and decrease 
the authorized expenditures for 2018 for wages and benefits and other costs 
previously included in the 2018 Municipal Court Budget. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Municipal Court Fund $75,670 increasing the following accounts: 

 
Wages  (240-2415-5100)     $ 41,000 
OPERS  (240-2415-5101)     $   6,000 
Medicare  (240-2415-5103)     $      600 
Health Insurance (240-2415-5111)     $ 10,000 
Life Insurance (240-2415-5112)     $        70 

  
SECTION 2.  That previously approved appropriations in Municipal Court 

Fund are hereby reduced by the amounts listed in the following accounts: 
 
Wages  (240-2410-5100)     ($ 41,000) 
OPERS  (240-2410-5101)     ($   6,000) 
Medicare  (240-2410-5103)     ($      600) 
Health Insurance (240-2410-5111)     ($ 10,000) 



Life Insurance (240-2410-5112)     ($        70) 
 
SECTION 3. This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.  
 
 SECTION 4.  EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 
declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public peace, 
safety, health and welfare of the City and for the further reason to provide for 
the timely accounting for costs incurred and subject to reimbursement related 
to the Mission Court docket of Delaware Municipal Court, and as such will be in 
full force and effect immediately upon its passage. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE:  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



IN THE DELAWARE MUNICIPAL COURT

FILED
DELAWARi

MUNICIPAL :. ;
DELAWARE OhiO

DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO *• APR ' 9 PM 3: 22

f *u ™ « f CINDY DiN0V0In the Matter ot CLERK
Creating a Separate Departmental
Budget for the Delaware Mission
Court in the Delaware Municipal
Court Fund.

Journal Entry

In 2018 the Delaware Municipal Court created the Delaware Mission Court, a Veterans
Treatment Court. See, Local Rule 214.

The Delaware Mission Court is a specialized program that works within the framework
of the existing Municipal Court. With the recognition that many of our veterans return to
civilian life with serious trauma, both physical and mental, which may lead to their involvement
with the criminal justice system, comes a responsibility to ensure that veterans receive the
treatment and services that they need—that they have earned. By providing a specialized docket,
the Delaware Municipal Court increases the veterans' chances of success in a collaborative
environment. Enhancing access to various programs and treatments and fostering interaction
with other veterans will ensure that those who have served receive the services they deserve.

The Delaware Mission Court works hand-in-hand with the Delaware County Veteran
Services Commission, the Department of Veteran Affairs and local service providers to ensure
that a veteran on the Mission Court docket receives the services he/she has earned. The Delaware

Mission Court also assigns a Veteran Mentor to each participant. To this end, the Delaware
Municipal Court hired a Community Control Officer and a Veteran Mentor Coordinator, both
specially trained and designated for the Delaware Mission Court.

Some of the costs associated with operating the Mission Court, including the salaries of
the Community Control Officer (partial salary) and the Veteran Mentor Coordinator (full salary)
are funded by the Delaware County Veteran Services Commission. To ensure that that any
money received by the Delaware Municipal Court from the Delaware County Veteran Services
Commission is not spent on anything unrelated to the Mission Court, the Court hereby creates a
separate departmental budget for the Mission Court within the Municipal Court Fund.

April 19, 2018

larianne T. Me^meter
Administrative Judge



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  18    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-43    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       June 11, 2018 at 7:20 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
REQUEST FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 50 
ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK ROAD AND JUST WEST 
OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 (AGRICULTURAL 
DISTRICT). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on May 2, 2018 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
 
 
 



 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 18-43 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REQUEST FOR A NEW 
SERVICE CENTER BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 
50 ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK 
ROAD AND JUST WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS 
ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 (AGRICULTURAL 
DISTRICT). 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of May 2, 2018 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit request for a New Service 
Center Building on approximately 50 acres located on the south side of Slack 
Road and just west of the railroad tracks on property zoned A-1 (Agricultural 
District) (PC Case 2018-0642). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the Conditional Use Permit request for a New Service 
Center Building on approximately 50 acres located on the south side of Slack 
Road and just west of the railroad tracks on property zoned A-1 (Agricultural 
District), is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted. 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 

VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 

































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  19    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-44    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A COMBINED PRELIMINARY 
AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER BUILDING 
ON APPROXIMATELY 50 ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK 
ROAD AND JUST WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY ZONED 
A-1 (AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on May 2, 2018 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
 
 
 
 



POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 18-44 

 
AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A 
COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER 
BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 50 ACRES LOCATED 
ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK ROAD AND JUST 
WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY 
ZONED A-1 (AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT). 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of May 2, 2018 
recommended approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for a New Service Center Building on approximately 50 acres located on the 
south side of Slack Road and just west of the railroad tracks on property zoned 
A-1 (Agricultural District) (PC Case 2018-0643) and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for a New Service Center Building on approximately 50 acres located on the 
south side of Slack Road and just west of the railroad tracks on property zoned 
A-1 (Agricultural District), is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted, with 
the following conditions that: 
 
1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 

storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Public Works and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the Public 
Works Department once a complete plan set is submitted for review. 

2. The City engineering division and the applicant shall execute of an off-
site improvement agreement to Slack Road from Liberty Road to the site 
to accommodate the subject development.   

3. The laydown yard constructed of gravel shall be approved by the City 
Engineer. 

4. A sidewalk on the south side of Slack Road shall be installed along the 
frontage of the site if not incorporated in the Slack Road improvements 
agreement. 

5. The Shade Tree Commission shall review and approve all landscape 
plans. 

6. The limestone on the building and sign base shall be Delaware blue vein 
limestone or equivalent as approved by staff.  



7. All building appurtenances (coping, downspouts, etc.) shall be painted to 
match the adjacent building color. 

8. The Applicant shall submit all building elevations along with material 
and color samples for all building materials for staff review and approval. 

9. The dumpster shall be enclosed with walls to match the limestone veneer 
on the building and shall have wood doors to match. 

10. The proposed chain link fence shall be black vinyl coated exempt for 
where vertical hedge link privacy fillers are required. 

11. The fence adjacent to Kesslebrooke Station Subdivision shall be a 6 feet 
high chain link fence and shall include vertical hedge link privacy fillers. 

12. The lighting plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building 
Official and all lighting shall meet the requirements of the Planning & 
Zoning Code. 

13. Any building and ground signage plan shall achieve compliance with the 
minimum zoning requirements and the adopted Gateways and Corridor 
Plan. 

14. The fence adjacent to Kesslebrooke Station Subdivision shall be a 6 feet 
high chain link fence and shall include vertical hedge link privacy fillers. 

15. The above ground storage tank for the fueling station shall not exceed 
5000 gallons in capacity. 

16. The above ground storage tank shall achieve compliance with all state 
and national fire code regulations. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 

VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____  
     ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  20    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-21 (REVISED)  RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FOURTH    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       MAY 21, 2018 AT 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK, LLC FOR APPROVAL OF A (REVISED) 
ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE EXISTING WILLOWBROOK FARM 
TRACT PUD OVERLAY ZONING TEXT (PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT) TO 
ALLOW A MODIFICATION TO THE MAXIMUM DWELLING UNITS AND 
DENSITY TO MULTI-FAMILY AREAS 3 AND 4 TO ALLOW ADDITIONAL 
DWELLING UNITS  IN AREA 3 AND REMOVING UNITS IN AREA 4 THEREBY 
DECREASING THE OVERALL UNITS CURRENTLY ALLOWED IN TOTAL 
LOCATED ON THE EAST SIDE OF HOUK ROAD ON APPROXIMATELY 38 
ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-6 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
WITH A PUD (PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT) OVERLAY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
As a result of the Planning Commission vote to recommend denial, the Charter 
(Section 104) requires that five affirmative votes of City Council are required to 
overturn the Planning Commission’s recommendation. 
 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 



 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission did not recommend approval by a vote of 1-6 on May 2, 
2018, thereby technically recommending denial.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-21 (REVISED) 
 

A ORDINANCE BY MEDROCK, LLC FOR APPROVAL OF A 
 (REVISED) ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE 
EXISTING WILLOWBROOK FARM TRACT PUD OVERLAY 
ZONING TEXT (PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT) TO 
ALLOW A MODIFICATION TO THE MAXIMUM DWELLING 
UNITS AND DENSITY TO MULTI-FAMILY AREAS 3 AND 4 
TO ALLOW ADDITIONAL DWELLING UNITS  IN AREA 3 
AND REMOVING UNITS IN AREA 4 THEREBY 
DECREASING THE OVERALL UNITS CURRENTLY 
ALLOWED IN TOTAL LOCATED ON THE EAST SIDE OF 
HOUK ROAD ON APPROXIMATELY 38 ACRES ON 
PROPERTY ZONED R-6 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT WITH A PUD (PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT) 
OVERLAY. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on May 2, 2018 failed 
to recommend approval of a Zoning Text Amendment to the existing Willowbrook 
Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text (Planned Unit Development) to allow a 
modification to the maximum dwelling units and density to multi-family Areas 3 
and 4 to allow additional dwelling units in Area 3 and removing units in Area 4 
thereby decreasing the overall units currently allowed in total located on the east 
side of Houk Road on approximately 38 acres on property zoned R-6 multi-family 
with a PUD overlay (PC Case 2018-0026). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Council of the City of Delaware overturns the 
recommendation of denial by the Planning Commission and that the  Zoning Text 
Amendment to the existing Willowbrook Farm Tract PUD Overlay Zoning Text 
(Planned Unit Development) to allow a modification to the maximum dwelling 
units and density to multi-family Areas 3 and 4 to allow additional dwelling units 
in Area 3 and removing units in Area 4 thereby decreasing the overall units 
currently allowed in total located on the east side of Houk Road on approximately 
38 acres on property zoned R-6 multi-family with a PUD overlay, is hereby 
confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 
 

1. The maximum amount of dwelling units permitted in Multi-Family Area 
3 shall not exceed 180 dwelling units with a corresponding Multi-Family 
Area 3 density of 10.44 dwelling units per gross acre per the PUD text 
existing gross acreage of Multi-Family Area 3 of 17.24 acres. 



2. The maximum amount of dwelling units permitted in Multi-Family Area 
4 shall not exceed 90 dwelling units with a corresponding Multi-Family 
Area 4 density of 4.20 dwelling units per gross acre per the PUD text 
existing gross acreage of Multi-Family Area 4 of 21.45. 

3. The remainder of the requirements of Ordinances 99-74 and 99-76 shall 
remain in full effect. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



















INFORMATION 
SUBMITTED BY 

THE APPLICANT: 
MAY 2, 2018 
PLANNING 

COMMISSION 
MEETING 































































































































































PUBLIC 
COMMENTS 

 & 
PETITION 

PRESENTED: 
MAY 2, 2018 
PLANNING 

COMMISSION 
MEETING 



102 Diverston Way 
Delaware, OH 43015 

April 30, 2018 
 

Planning Commission 
City of Delaware 
1 South Sandusky Street  
Delaware, OH 43015 
 
Regretfully, I am unable to attend the May 2nd meeting. I have lived at 102 Diversion Way since 
2012. I understand that change is an important part of every community. Delaware is a great 
community and I respect the rights of every property owner within the City.  
 
Prior to purchasing my property within the Adalee Park neighborhood, I did due diligence and 
contacted the City of Delaware. I was informed that the density to the south of Adalee Park was 
anticipated to be similar to the comprehensive plan at the time and a transition to the YMCA to the 
South. Like other residents in Adalee Park, I bought my property with the understanding that 140 
units would be on the property known as Area 3. While the proposed development is a transition 
between the YMCA to the South, a high-density 180 unit apartment complex on a small space is 
not appropriate. It is not in keeping with the community of Delaware and it is not what the 
residents of Adalee Park were told would be in Area 3 prior to purchasing our properties.  
 
Should this development proceed with your approval, I respectfully request that the developer of 
this property, the same developer as the one who proposed our development, be required, as 
initially proposed, to provide the plant material that was initially planned for our neighborhood 
along the proposed collector, also known as Boulder, between Harmony Drive and South Houk 
Road. 
 
Under Article 12 of my deed restrictions, Medrock has a 25’ deep landscaping easement across the 
entire back of my property (lot 8649). This landscape buffer is “hereby reserved to the 
Developer…” With the landscaping restrictions, proximity and height of the proposed buildings, I 
feel that the developer’s restrictions will negatively impact and impede any possibility of privacy 
for my property. 
 
The property owners along South Houk Road were afforded a landscape buffer to mitigate the 
effect of new redevelopment. I request that a condition be included as part of this approval to 
provide a similar landscape buffer on each of the properties on the north side of Boulder. 
Specifically, I respectfully request that each of the property owners directly to the north have 
installed one (1) 7-8' height evergreen tree per 15', one (1) (2-3" cal.) shade tree (maple or oak) per 
50', and two (2) ornamental flowering trees (10-12' tall) per 100' of adjacent property line along the 
southern line of this property. 
 
Once again, thank you for the time and consideration as we continue work together to make 
Delaware a wonderful community where people want to live.      
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
Debra Kay Logan 





























































 
PREVIOUS CASE 
SUBMISSION OF 

2018-0026  
AND  

2018-0027 

















































































































































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  21    DATE: 05/14/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-22 (REVISED)  RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FOURTH    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK, LLC FOR APPROVAL OF A (REVISED) 
COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN TO MULTI-
FAMILY AREA 3 (FLATS ON HOUK) OF THE EXISTING WILLOWBROOK FARM 
TRACT FOR A 180 UNIT APARTMENT COMPLEX ON APPROXIMATELY 15.506 
ACRES LOCATED ON THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF HOUK ROAD AND 
DIGENOVA WAY ON PROPERTY ZONED R-6 PUD (MULTI-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
As a result of the Planning Commission vote to recommend denial, the Charter 
(Section 104) requires that five affirmative votes of City Council are required to 
overturn the Planning Commission’s recommendation. 
 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission failed to approve this case 1-6 on May 2, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 



N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-22 (REVISED) 
 

AN ORDINANCE FOR MEDROCK, LLC FOR APPROVAL 
OF A (REVISED) COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN TO MULTI-FAMILY AREA 3 
(FLATS ON HOUK) OF THE EXISTING WILLOWBROOK 
FARM TRACT FOR A 180 UNIT APARTMENT COMPLEX 
ON APPROXIMATELY 15.506 ACRES LOCATED ON 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF HOUK ROAD AND 
DIGENOVA WAY ON PROPERTY ZONED R-6 PUD 
(MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OVERLAY). 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on May 2, 2018 failed 
to recommend approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for multi-family Area 3 of the Willowbrook Farm Tract for a 180 unit apartment 
complex on approximately 15.506 acres located on the northeast corner of Houk 
Road and DiGenova Way on property zoned R-6 PUD (Multi-Family Residential 
District with a Planned Unit Development) (PC Case 2018-0027). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Council of the City of Delaware overturns the 
recommendation of denial by the Planning Commission and that the Combined 
Preliminary and Final Development Plan for multi-family Area 3 of the 
Willowbrook Farm Tract for a 180 unit apartment complex on approximately 
15.506 acres located on the northeast corner of Houk Road and DiGenova Way on 
property zoned R-6 PUD (Multi-Family Residential District with a Planned Unit 
Development), is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The Applicant shall construct the piece of Boulder Dr. from Houk Rd. 
east to the existing short Boulder Dr. piece that was constructed at the 
end of Harmony Dr. by the Applicant with the initial phases of the 
Adalee Park Subdivision. This construction should take place concurrent 



with any site development should the Willowbrook Apartment 
applications be approved and the project advance to construction.  The 
next phase of Boulder Drive to the east of this point would then be 
considered as part of the appropriate future phase of the Adalee Park 
development.  However, should the Willowbrook Apartments in question 
not advance to approval and construction then the entire length of 
Boulder Dr. beginning at Houk Rd. and continuing eastward might need 
to be constructed with the appropriate future phase of Adalee Park to 
provide access for that development to Houk Road to be determined if 
and when that future case(s) may come forward. 

3. The proposed apartment buildings shall achieve compliance with the 
design standards of the approved development text and the submitted 
Final Development Plan. Any limestone on the buildings shall be 
constructed of Delaware blue vein limestone or equivalent as approved 
by staff. 

4. The dumpster enclosures shall be constructed as proposed on the Sheet 
entitled “Trash Enclosure Plan” as submitted by the Applicant on 
3/2/18.  The wood enclosures and doors shall be painted or stained in a 
neutral color to compliment the adjacent buildings. 

5. A proposed mound at the same height and undulation with the same 
tree mix of deciduous and evergreen trees and shall be installed along 
Houk Road to be consistent with the existing mounding north of this site 
to achieve compliance with the approved mounding and landscape plan 
of the entire Houk Road corridor of the Willowbrook Farms development 
and to ensure adequate site distance is achieved. 

6. A 2 to 3 foot high undulating mound shall be installed along DiGenova 
Way to supplement the proposed street and front yard trees on the 
landscape plan. 

7. A continuous minimum 5 to 6 foot high mound with minimum 6 foot 
high evergreen trees, planted in a staggered row configuration, at 
installation shall be installed along the northern property line to provide 
a continuous screen adjacent to the single family subdivision (Adalee 
Park) All landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade 
Tree Commission. 

8. Any ground signage shall achieve compliance with the minimum zoning 
code requirements and adopted Gateways and Corridor Plan.  

9. The private street names shall be submitted and approved by the City 
and other appropriate agencies.  

10. The entire development shall achieve compliance with the Fire 
Department and Public Works development final requirements after the 
final review is complete. 



11. The exterior building elevations along Boulder Road and Houk Road 
shall be four sided architecture with the identical amount of brick façade 
on both the front and rear elevations as approved by staff. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



City Manager Report 20180514 

 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: May 10, 2018 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 See Attached 
 
3. Bi-Weekly Meetings 
  

April 19 
 * MORPC Award for Collaboration on the YMCA 
 April 20 
 * Employee Recognition Breakfast 
 April 23 
 * Rotary 
 * City Council Meeting 
 April 25 
 * Finance Committee Meeting 
 April 26 
 * Meeting with Indus Representatives 
 April 30 
 * Rotary 
 May 1 
 * Boardman Arts Park May Day Event 
 May 4 
 * COMMA Meeting 
 May 7 
 * Rotary  
 May 8  
 * Entrepreneur Center Advisory Board Meeting 
 * Olentangy Berlin High School Tour 
  



May 
 

 

2018 
Meeting Schedule Council, Boards, Commissions, & Committees 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
  1 2 3 4 5 

  Public Wks/ Public 
Utilities 7pm 

Civil Service 3 pm 
Planning 7pm 

   

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
   BZA-Cancelled    

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 
 Council Parks & Rec 7 pm     

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 
 Special Council Meeting, 

7 p.m.  
 

Shade Tree Commission HPC 7pm    

27 28 29 30 31   
 Memorial Day 

City Offices Closed 
Council -canceled 

     

       
       

 



CONTRACT APPROVAL – May 14, 2018 
 

VENDOR 
 

EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT 
2018 

AMOUNT 
 

DEPARTMENT 
JHR 2018 Code Enforcement Mowing 1-4,000sqft 

$40.00 
Planning  

Watson’s Lawn Care 2018 Code Enforcement Mowing $56.50/hr Planning 
OE Meyer Co. Purchase of medical oxygen and 

lease of cylinders 
Per use fee Fire 

Aviation Management 
Consulting Group 

Airport Rent Study Summary $5,500.00 Public Works 

Verity Enterprises, LTD Fuel service for city equipment Varies/ 
$325,000 
budgeted 
amount 

Public Works 

HDR Citywide Signal System Upgrade 
Phase 1, Part 1 (planning through 
preliminary engineering) 

$159,587 Public Works 

The Robert Weiler Company Appraisal for 20 E. William St.  $3,500 CMO 
Burgess & Niple Curve Road Landfill Leachate 

Collection System Plan & 
Operations Update 

$14,130 Public Works 

 


	01 20180514 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 DRAFT Resolution for City Council - Feb 8, 2018
	02 Final power point city council may 2 2018
	Thank you for welcoming us!
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	About Us
	Slide Number 5
	The Earth is warming because of carbon emissions 
	Climate scientist agree
	United States Risks
	State impacts
	Slide Number 10
	What is CCL’s solution?
	Carbon Fee and Dividend
	What will Carbon Fee and Dividend do?
	Carbon Fee and Dividend
	Emissions reductions
	Jobs created
	GDP Growth
	Lives Saved
	Household Dividend
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22

	03 20180423 council minutes
	04 20170720 airport meeting
	05 20180227 Shade Tree Minutes
	06 20180228 Finance minutes
	07 20180404 civil service minutes
	08 20180404 planning minutes
	09 fact sheet res 18-25,  committee appointments
	10 res 18-25, committee appoints
	11 fact sheet res 18-26 , CDBG
	12 res 18-26 , CDBG Allocation Application
	13 CDBG Program - Pumphrey, English, Birch Location Map
	14 CDBG Program - Wade Street Location Map
	15 fact sheet res 18-27,  appoint del county land reutilization corp board
	16 res 18-27, appoint del county land reutilization corp board
	17 OWU Liquor Permit
	18 fact sheet ord 18-37,  accept annex wilgus
	19 ord 18-37,  accept annex wilgus
	20 Wilgus annexation petition
	21 map of territory-wilgus
	22 Petition for Annexation
	23 Wilgus Annexation Granting of prayer
	24 res 18-08, res of services wilgus annex
	25 fact sheet res 18-28  res of services josh morgan annexation
	26 res 18-28, res of services josh morgan annexation 2.091 acres
	27 Josh Morgan Annexation Filed Petition
	28 Josh Morgan Annexation Aerial Map
	29 fact sheet res 18-29, JEDD Berkshire
	30 res 18-29, JEDD Berkshire
	31 JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONTRACT - Final
	ARTICLE I
	DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to “Contract”, “City”, “State” and “Township” defined above, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings:
	“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the JEDD established in accordance with the JEDD Statutes and this Contract.
	“County” means the County of Delaware, Ohio.
	“Effective Date” means the date immediately succeeding the occurrence of all of the following:  (i) the City’s and Township’s execution of this Contract, (ii) the thirty-second day after the adoption of the Township’s resolution authorizing this Contr...
	“Gross Revenues” means the proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax, less refunds.
	“Net Revenues” means Gross Revenues less (a) to the extent the funds available to the Board are insufficient for such purposes, any amount required to pay costs of any audits of the JEDD mandated by the State or any liability imposed on the JEDD or th...
	“JEDD” means the Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2 created pursuant to the JEDD Statutes and this Contract and includes the real property described and depicted in Exhibit A to this Contract.
	“JEDD Income” means (i) the income earned by persons working  or residing in the JEDD and (ii) the net profits of businesses located in the JEDD.
	“JEDD Income Tax” means the tax on JEDD Income levied by the Board in accordance with the provisions of this Contract.
	“JEDD Income Tax Agreement” means that agreement to be entered into by and between the Board and the City providing for the City to (i) administer, collect and distribute the JEDD Income Tax in accordance with the Contract and (ii) act as the fiscal a...
	“JEDD Statutes” means Ohio Revised Code Section 715.72.
	Section 1.2 Interpretations.  Any reference herein to the County, the City, the Township or the Board or to any officer or employee of the County, the City, the Township or the Board, includes the entities, officers or employees succeeding to their re...
	ARTICLE VI

	32  Delaware JEDD Map 2
	33 fact sheet ord 18-38,  GUILD PBIG_
	34 ord No 18-38, GUILD PBEIG
	ABSTAIN ____

	35 PBEIG_Agreement_Guild_2018deanedit
	36 Guild Associates incentive application
	37 Guildassociatesprojectexhibit
	38 fact sheet ord 18-39 , GUILD_Grant Supplemental
	39 ord 18-39 , GUILD grant supplemental_
	40 fact sheet ord 18-40 , AEP_CRA
	41 Ord No 18-40, AEP_CRA2018
	ABSTAIN ____

	42 AEP_School Notification Letter2018expansion
	3735.671 Written agreement where commercial or industrial property is to be exempted.

	43 Draft 01242018 DELSC Incentives Application 12012017_ABT (002)
	44 AEP_School Comp2018servicestation 4_13_18 Ballard edit
	45 AEP_CRA Agreement2018servicecenter 4-13-18 ballard edits
	46 projectmap
	47 fact sheet ord 18-41, EMS CRA
	48 Ord No 18-41, EMS CRA
	ABSTAIN ____

	49 EMS_CRA Notification Letter2018expansion
	3735.671 Written agreement where commercial or industrial property is to be exempted.

	50 Tax abatement application 3-2-18 City of Delaware
	51 EMS_CRA Agreement2018expansion 4-9-18
	52 EMS School Comp2018expansion 4_10_18
	53 EMSexpansionProjectSiteExhibit
	54 fact sheet ord 18-42, Supplemental Fact Sheet Mission Court
	55 ord 18-42, supplemental Mission Court
	56 Admin Order-Mission Court
	57 fact sheet ord 18-43, 2018-0642 AEP CUP
	AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REQUEST FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 50 ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK ROAD AND JUST WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 (AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT).

	58 ord 18-43 , 2018-0642 AEP CUP
	AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REQUEST FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 50 ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK ROAD AND JUST WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 (AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT).

	59 2018-0642-0643 AEP CUP CPFDP Report
	60 fact sheet ord 18-44, 2018-0643 AEP CPFDP
	AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 50 ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK ROAD AND JUST WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 (AGRI...

	61 ord 18-44 , 2018-0643 AEP CPFDP
	AN ORDINANCE FOR AEP FOR APPROVAL OF A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR A NEW SERVICE CENTER BUILDING ON APPROXIMATELY 50 ACRES LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF SLACK ROAD AND JUST WEST OF THE RAILROAD TRACKS ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 (AGRI...

	62 factsheet ord 18-21 , REVISED 2018-0026 Willowbrook Farm Apts  REZ
	63 ord 18-21 , REVISED 2018-0026 Willowbrook Farm Apartments REZ
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-21 (REVISED)

	64 REVISED MEDROCK ORIGINAL 2018-0026-0027
	65 fact sheet ord 18-22 , REVISED 2018-0027 Willowbrook Farm Apts  CPFDP
	66 ord 18-22 , REVISED 2018-0027 Willowbrook Farm Apartments CPFDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-22 (REVISED)

	67 city managers report 20180514
	68 May Calendar 2018
	69 20180514Contract approval
	CONTRACT APPROVAL – May 14, 2018
	2018
	DEPARTMENT
	AMOUNT
	VENDOR
	EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT

	Planning 
	1-4,000sqft $40.00
	JHR
	2018 Code Enforcement Mowing

	Planning
	$56.50/hr
	Watson’s Lawn Care
	2018 Code Enforcement Mowing

	Fire
	Per use fee
	OE Meyer Co.
	Purchase of medical oxygen and lease of cylinders

	Public Works
	$5,500.00
	Aviation Management Consulting Group
	Airport Rent Study Summary

	Public Works
	Varies/
	Verity Enterprises, LTD
	Fuel service for city equipment

	Public Works
	$159,587
	HDR
	Citywide Signal System Upgrade Phase 1, Part 1 (planning through preliminary engineering)

	CMO
	$3,500
	The Robert Weiler Company
	Appraisal for 20 E. William St. 

	Public Works
	$14,130
	Burgess & Niple
	Curve Road Landfill Leachate Collection System Plan & Operations Update





